The Development and Use of Interpersonal Competencies by Evaluators

## A Dissertation SUMBITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA BY

Stacy M. Johnson

## IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Jean A. King Adviser

January, 2018

#### Acknowledgments

The completion of my graduate education and dissertation was only possible through the support and encouragement of my colleagues, family, and friends. It has been a long journey and I would not have been able reach this point without all of my thought partners, feedback givers, and cheerleaders. First, I must thank my adviser, Dr. Jean King, who has been all three of these and more. Jean has kept me moving forward, infusing energy and enthusiasm into every step along the way. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. David Johnson, Dr, Dick Krueger, Dr, France Lawrenz, and Dr. John LaVelle. All have provided valuable insights and feedback that have helped to strengthen my research.

This study would not have been possible without the 12 evaluators that shared their time, experiences, and perspectives with me. I am grateful for their willingness to participate in this study and thank them for their openness.

I would also like to thank my colleagues and friends that introduced me to the field of evaluation and the degree program at the University of Minnesota. Not only did they help me see I could do evaluation for a living, they also continue inspire me and contribute to my passion for evaluation that deepens every day.

My family has also been instrumental in my journey. Without the love and support from my parents, Janet and Daryl, and my husband, Kevin, I do not think I would have arrived to where I am today.

#### Abstract

The field of program evaluation has deemed interpersonal competencies as important and has included them as an essential competency domain for program evaluators; however, little is known about how evaluators develop and use interpersonal competencies. The purpose of this study was to explore interpersonal competency development and use by evaluators. This was completed through a comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies, a review of competency structures from other professions, and interviews with experienced evaluators. First, the interpersonal competencies essential to evaluation practice were explored to further validate those included in the draft American Evaluation Association Evaluator Competencies (AEAEC). Results supported the inclusion of the current interpersonal competencies in the draft AEAEC and provided additional competencies that emerged through the comparative analysis. Second, this study attempted to better understand the ways in which interpersonal competencies are developed by experienced evaluators. As a result, experienced evaluators described developing interpersonal competencies in four ways, including through the practice of evaluation, formal education experiences, professional development opportunities, and life experiences. Third, this study attempted to illuminate some of the interpersonal competency development needs among new evaluators. Findings suggest that novice evaluators typically need further development in several interpersonal competencies and that these competencies are also assessed in the hiring process. Fourth, the potential ways to structure the AEAEC to promote use of the interpersonal competencies were explored.

Through the review of competency structures, four potential ways to structure them emerged, including by categorizing competencies, job function, level of expertise, and developmental level.

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgmentsi
Abstractii
List of Tablesvi
Chapter One: Problem Statement
Introduction
Research Questions
Significance of the Study
Definition of Key Terms9
Chapter Two: Literature Review
Evaluator Competencies
Evaluator Training
Chapter Three: Methodology
Research Design
Phase One: Comparative Analysis of Interpersonal Competencies for
Evaluators
Phase Two: Review of Competency Structures from Other Professions 49
Phase Three: Experienced Evaluator Interviews
Limitations
Trustworthiness
Institutional Review Board Approval
Positionality

Chapter Four: Comparative Analysis and Document Review Results	63
Results from the Comparative Analysis of Interpersonal Competencies for	
Evaluators	63
Results from the Review of Competency Structures from Other Professions	81
Chapter Five: Interview Results	00
Interpersonal Competencies Essential to Evaluation Practice	02
Development of the Interpersonal Competencies Used in Practice	120
Importance of Interpersonal Competencies in Hiring Decisions	128
Interpersonal Competency Development Needs for New Evaluators 1	132
Structuring the Interpersonal Competencies to Promote Use	138
Summary 1	145
Chapter Six: Discussion, Implications, and Conclusion	l <b>47</b>
Discussion and Implications of Findings	150
Implications for Future Research	l <b>6</b> 4
Concluding Thoughts	l <b>6</b> 7
References	170
Appendix A – Verbal Consent Form	187
Appendix B – Interview Protocol	189
Appendix C – IRB Determination Correspondence	194

# **List of Tables**

Table 1: Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators (ECPE)	19
Table 2: Interpersonal Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice	25
Table 3: Draft AEA Interpersonal Competencies	27
Table 4: Competency sets for evaluators included in the comparative analysis	65
Table 5: Similarities and differences to the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies	67
Table 6: Competencies coded as "interact ethically"	68
Table 7: Competencies coded as "build relationships"	69
Table 8: Competencies coded as "uses appropriate social skills"	70
Table 9: Competencies coded as "listen to understand and engage diverse perspective	
	71
Table 10: Competencies coded as "communicate effectively"	72
Table 11: Competencies coded as "facilitate constructive and culturally responsive	
interactions"	74
Table 12: Competencies coded as "collaborate with others"	75
Table 13: Competencies coded as "negotiate"	76
Table 14: Competencies coded as "resolve conflict"	77
Table 15: New category themes, competency set source, and interpersonal competency	y
item	<i>7</i> 8
Table 16: Summary of competency sets that included a competency item for each code	. 80
Table 17: Descriptions of competency set uses	82
Table 18: Descriptions of competency set structures	83
Table 19: Competency sets structured as "categorized competencies only"	85
Table 20: Competency sets structured as "job function" and intended use	90
Table 21: Competency sets structured as "levels of expertise" and intended use	96
Table 22: Competency sets structured as "developmental levels" and intended use	99
Table 23: Interview Participant Characteristics	101
Table 24: Essential and most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation	
practice identified by interviewees	104

Table 25: Ways in which experienced evaluators developed interpersonal competencies
Table 26: Summary of Findings by Research Question

#### **Chapter One: Problem Statement**

## Introduction

Program evaluation demands that practicing evaluators apply many skills. As the evaluation field continues to develop and grow, concern about the competencies evaluators should possess and how to train future evaluators properly are continually a topic of conversation (Canadian Evaluation Society [CES], 2010; Kirkhart, 1981; King, Stevahn, Ghere, & Minnema, 2001; Mertens, 1994; Patton, 1990; Perrin, 2005; Scriven, 1996, Stevahn King, Ghere, & Minnema, 2005a). Over time, scholars have proposed many frameworks to identify the tasks and skills necessary for evaluation practice (e.g., see Anderson & Ball, 1978; Covert, 1992; Kirkhart, 1981; Mertens, 1994; Patton, 1990; Sanders, 1979; Scriven, 1996; Worthen, 1999).

Based on the absence of established competencies for evaluators and the consequences associated with their absence, King et al. (2001) developed a taxonomy of essential evaluator competencies. Evaluator competencies include the knowledge, skills, and attitudes required of program evaluators (King et al., 2001). The rationale for establishing evaluator competencies was that the field would benefit through improved training, enhanced reflective practice, promotion of research on evaluation, and continued professionalization of the field (Stevahn et al., 2005a). As a result of this team's continued work, the *Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators* (ECPE) were developed, and the evaluation field was provided with a foundation to establish agreement on the competencies an evaluator should possess (Stevahn et al., 2005a). The Canadian Evaluation Society has used the ECPE as a foundation for their work

establishing the *Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice* (CCEP), which are used as a requirement to be designated a Credentialed Evaluator (CES, 2010). In 2015, the American Evaluation Association (AEA) created the AEA Competency Task Force to further refine the existing competencies, and as a result it has issued a draft of the *AEA Evaluator Competencies* (AEAEC) (American Evaluation Association [AEA], 2017). Although the work to formally identify the competencies needed for evaluation practice is in progress, the evaluation community in the United States has not yet officially adopted a set of evaluator competencies.

#### **Importance of Interpersonal Competencies**

The draft AEAEC is a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies categorized into five competency domains: professional, methodology, context, planning and management, and interpersonal (AEA, 2017). The interpersonal domain is the focus of this study. In the draft AEAEC, the interpersonal domain focuses on human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness for professional practice, which includes the following competencies for a competent evaluator: (a) interacts ethically in interpersonal relations at all times; (b) values and fosters constructive interpersonal relations foundational for professional practice and evaluation use; (c) uses appropriate social skills to build trust and enhance interaction for evaluation practice; (d) listens to understand, engage, and honor diverse perspectives; (e) addresses issues of privilege and power dynamics in interpersonal relations; (f) communicates in meaningful ways throughout the evaluation (written, verbal, visual, etc.); (g) facilitates constructive and culturally responsive interaction throughout the evaluation; (h) collaborates and engages

in teamwork; (i) negotiates decisions for evaluation practice; and (j) addresses conflicts constructively (AEA, 2017).

The interpersonal domain has been identified as one of the essential competency domains for program evaluators because much of the work surrounding an evaluation study involves interacting with others. Evaluators interact with clients, program participants, staff, board members, and other relevant stakeholders while designing and conducting evaluations. The applied nature of evaluation creates a need for evaluators to have the knowledge and skills necessary to respond to complex situations or issues as they arise. Because of this applied nature, several evaluation scholars have emphasized the importance of interpersonal competencies for evaluators (King & Stevahn, 2013; Kirkhart, 1981; Leviton, 2001; Mertens, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Patton & Patrizi, 2005; Perrin, 2005; Skolits, Morrow, & Burr, 2009; Zorzi, Perrin, McGuire, Long, & Lee, 2002). King and Stevahn (2013) assert that

[T]he ability to interact skillfully with individuals and groups is one of the fundamental competencies of an evaluator, because the process of program evaluation is, finally, a series of human interactions and relationships over time. (p. 10)

When evaluators cannot adequately navigate interpersonal issues as they arise, it can lead to problems throughout the evaluation process and can be detrimental to relationships with clients and stakeholders, create issues in collecting good data, or affect the validity and use of results. In addition, this may leave stakeholders with a negative evaluation experience that may contribute to future resistance to evaluation or trust in evaluation findings. Patton (2008) acknowledges this by stating, "[M]any of the problems encountered by evaluators, much of the resistance to evaluation, and many failures of use

occur because of misunderstandings and communication problems" (p. 53). In their study on the barriers program staff perceive in implementing evaluation, Taut and Alkin (2003) found that human factors most frequently explained barriers over context factors and concluded that training for evaluators should include skill building in the human factor areas such as communicating effectively with evaluation clients, addressing negative attitudes, and building trust.

Despite the importance of interpersonal competencies and the issues that arise when these interpersonal competencies are lacking, little attention has been paid to the "interpersonal factor" of evaluation in the literature (King & Stevahn, 2013, p. 6). King and Stevahn (2013) point out that the evaluation field has largely ignored the interpersonal factor despite its importance in evaluation practice. Largely, the field has focused on the technical skill and theoretical knowledge needed to practice evaluation, which is necessary, but not sufficient, if evaluation is to make a meaningful impact on programs and society (Dillman, 2013; King & Stevahn, 2013). Leviton (2001) argues that successful evaluations hinge on the ability to deal with non-technical issues, such as hidden agendas or attempts to undermine the evaluation, and reprimands the evaluation community for not taking this issue more seriously.

## **Preparing Evaluators for Practice**

Evaluation training programs strive to provide training opportunities to prepare students for competent evaluation practice by including theoretical, technical, and practical knowledge (Lee, Wallace, & Alkin, 2007; Mertens, 1994). To add complexity to teaching evaluation students, much of what occurs in an evaluation study requires

interaction between individuals since the evaluator interacts with clients, staff, and other stakeholders (King & Stevahn, 2013; Mertens, 1994; Zorzi et al., 2002). A competent evaluator must have the necessary interpersonal skills to navigate the complex interactions encountered throughout an evaluation. To accomplish this, assurances should be made that evaluation students develop the appropriate interpersonal competencies through evaluation training.

At this time, the field's understanding of how evaluation students are prepared for practice and acquire interpersonal competencies is limited. Dewey, Montrosse, Schroter, Sullins, and Mattox (2008) found that formal evaluation training programs often do not teach interpersonal skills, despite their being highly valued by employers, and these are the skills found to be lacking in new evaluators. In a later study, Kaesbauer (2012) had consistent findings, concluding that interpersonal competencies are often not taught in formal evaluation training programs. Although research on the topic is only emerging, these preliminary findings shed light on the gaps between the competencies taught and the competencies needed in practice.

#### **Approaches to the Development of Interpersonal Competencies**

Evaluation courses typically rely on traditional teaching approaches where students do not necessarily get a sense of how to apply what they have learned through lecture (Alkin & Christie, 2002; Patton & Patrizi, 2005). Due to the applied nature of evaluation, the literature on teaching program evaluation consistently recommends using practical and hands-on experiences (Altschuld, 1995; Christie, 2012; Dillman, 2013; Gredler & Johnson, 2001; Morris, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Preskill, 1992;

Trevisan, 2004; Wortman, Cordray, & Reis, 1980). Evaluation scholars also assert that approaches to teaching interpersonal competencies to evaluation students should incorporate real-world, hands-on experiences (Altschuld, 1995; Christie, 2012; Dillman, 2013; Gredler & Johnson, 2001; Morris, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Preskill, 1992; Trevisan, 2004; Wortman et al., 1980). The rationale for practical, hands-on experiences is that traditional teaching approaches, such as lecture and readings, alone do not sufficiently prepare students for evaluation practice (Christie, 2012; Stevahn et al., 2005b; Trevisan, 2002; Weeks, 1982). Students do not get a sense of what it would be like to practice in the real-world or how to apply what they learn in a lecture (Lee et al., 2007).

In the literature on evaluation, there is little research on how to provide practical, hands-on experiences to evaluation students. Over a decade ago, a review of the literature by Trevisan (2004) compiled existing articles on practical evaluation training approaches and categorized them into four categories: (a) simulation, (b) role-play, (c) single course projects, and (d) practicum experiences. Since the literature review by Trevisan (2004), problem-based learning (Lee et al., 2007) has also been identified as an approach to providing practical training in evaluation. The literature on practical evaluation training approaches consists of reflective narratives, where authors provide written descriptions of their instructional approach for teaching evaluation; none of the articles were research studies. Although many articles provided the perceived benefits, challenges, and student feedback, few provided course evaluations or measured outcomes. These reflective narratives are an important start to understanding how to implement practical evaluation

training approaches in an evaluation course, but they also highlight the need for more research to understand the impact of an evaluation training experience on student development of the interpersonal competencies needed for practice.

#### **Research Questions**

Several evaluation scholars have discussed the importance of interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice, and their importance has further been confirmed by their being identified as one of the essential competency domains for program evaluators. Despite this, little is known about how evaluators develop interpersonal competencies and what interpersonal competencies are still need of development when new evaluators begin their practice. As the AEA moves towards endorsing a set of evaluator competencies, it is important to gain a better understanding of how evaluators develop interpersonal competencies, as well as those still in need of development for new evaluators, as they will be an expectation for practice. In addition, the implied reason for having an established and endorsed set of evaluator competencies is so that they will be used. To ensure use, there is a need to explore the ways in which the evaluation field can promote the use of the interpersonal competencies. Accordingly, the research questions of this study were:

- 1. What interpersonal competencies are essential to the practice of evaluation?
- 2. In what ways have experienced evaluators developed the interpersonal competencies identified as essential to the practice of evaluation?
- 3. What interpersonal competency development needs exist for new evaluators?

4. What are the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use?

To answer the first three research questions, a comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies was conducted to identify the alignment with the AEAEC interpersonal competencies. The interpersonal competencies identified through the comparative analysis were further examined through interviews with experienced evaluators to better understand the interpersonal competencies essential to the practice of evaluation and how they were developed.

For the fourth research question, exploring the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use, a review of competency structures from other professions was completed. The review was completed to uncover different ways that AEA competency set could potentially be structured to encourage the use of the competencies by intended users. Potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies was further explored in interviews with experienced evaluators to gain their perspective as practitioners on what would promote the use of the interpersonal competencies by various user groups.

#### Significance of the Study

The results of this study are significant in several ways. First, this study contributes to the ongoing work to establish a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies for the field by providing another form of supporting evidence to ensure that the interpersonal domain is comprehensive. The results could be used to further

refine and validate the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain. Second, results of this study describe the ways in which experienced evaluators developed their interpersonal competencies and the interpersonal competencies they perceive as typically still in need of development by new evaluators. Since there is little previous research on these topics, further exploration through this study provides a better understanding of the potential ways new evaluators can develop their interpersonal competencies and the competencies that may need to be addressed. Third, results from this study provide initial direction on what structures could promote the use of the interpersonal competencies once the content has been finalized. Fourth, this study can also serve as a pilot for further research on evaluator competencies. The study's procedures can be repeated with other competency domains in future research.

## **Definition of Key Terms**

#### **Evaluator Competencies**

Evaluator competencies specify the knowledge, skills, and dispositions that distinguish professional evaluators and define competent evaluation practice (King et al., 200; Stevahn et al., 2005).

#### **Interpersonal Competencies**

In evaluation practice, interpersonal competencies focus on the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness for professional practice (AEA, 2017). Interpersonal competencies are identified as one competency domain needed to carry out sound program evaluations.

#### **Competency Item**

A competency item is a statement that specifies a specific knowledge, skills, or dispositions that an individual practitioner within a profession must possess for competent practice.

#### **Summary**

This thesis is organized into six chapters. Chapter One provided an introduction and described the purpose and significance of the study. Chapter Two presents a review of the pertinent literature related to development and current state of evaluator competencies and evaluator training, focusing on what is taught in evaluation training programs, the competencies students develop in these programs with specific attention to the interpersonal domain, and how to develop interpersonal competencies in students.

Chapter Three includes a description of the methodology, including design, procedures, data collection, and analysis. Chapter Four presents the results from a comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies and the review of competency structures from other professions. Chapter Five presents the results from interviews with experienced evaluators. Chapter Six will be a discussion on the findings, implications, and opportunities for future research.

#### **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

Literature reviewed for this study is presented in two parts. The first part explores evaluator competencies, including the benefits of establishing a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies and the development and current state of evaluator competencies in the field. The second part explores the literature on training evaluators, including what is known about what is taught in evaluation training programs, the competencies students develop in these programs with specific attention to the interpersonal domain, and how evaluation scholars assert students in evaluation training programs are supported to develop interpersonal competencies.

#### **Evaluator Competencies**

Since its inception, the field of evaluation has experienced significant growth and increased attention to professionalization (LaVelle & Donaldson, 2010; Stevahn et al., 2005a). With the growth of the field, concerns about what competent evaluation practice looks like, how to properly train new evaluators, and ensuring quality evaluation studies have led to increasing attention to the need and feasibility of having a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies (Altschuld, 1999a; Altschuld, 1999b; Jones & Worthen, 1999; King et al., 2001; LaVelle & Donaldson, 2010; Lee et al., 2007; Smith, 1999; Worthen, 1999). As a result, the evaluation field has envisioned its own set of competencies that evaluators, practicing in diverse settings and using diverse methods, agree are essential to their practice (King et al., 2001, p. 230). A set of competencies would include the knowledge, skills, and dispositions program evaluators need for successful professional practice (Stevahn et al., 2005a, p. 45).

#### Benefits of a Comprehensive Set of Evaluator Competencies

Establishing a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies is of interest to a variety of stakeholders affected by evaluation training and practice. McGuire and Zorzi (2005) point out that those who seek to ensure quality evaluation practice and protect the reputation of the field, such as evaluation associations, practitioners, educators, clients, and employers, would have an interest in evaluator competencies. Stakeholders could use evaluator competencies to ensure that evaluators have the necessary competencies for practice and are more likely to produce evaluations that are useful and of high quality (McGuire & Zorzi, 2005). Without a set of evaluator competencies to guide the field, several consequences may result. Stevahn et al. (2005a) provide five consequences that can occur from the absence of established evaluator competencies, including: (a) anyone can claim to be an evaluator, due to no standardized licensing or credentialing, which can result in incompetent practice; (b) those who would like to hire an evaluator have no easy way of identifying who may be qualified; (c) aspiring evaluators may find it difficult to determine what they need to learn and where to do so; (d) trainers of evaluation do not have a resource to support curricula choices; and (e) the field lacks research aimed at developing and validating theory-based descriptive models to guide effective practice (p. 44). Stevahn et al. (2005a) assert that if consensus could be reached on a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies, there would be multiple practical applications resulting in benefits to the field of evaluation and evaluation practice. A comprehensive set of evaluator competencies would address these consequences, and the field would benefit

through improved training, enhanced reflective practice, advanced research on evaluation, and continued professionalization of the field (Stevahn et al., 2005a).

Improve training. Patton (1990) asserts, "[E]valuation has become a demanding and challenging profession. Part of the responsibility of the profession is to assure that adequate training opportunities are available to produce skilled, competent evaluators" (p. 48). One application of a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies would be to address this issue. In formal university-based training programs, evaluator competencies could be used in the design of programs, required courses, curriculum, instruction, and assessment to ensure programs equip students for professional practice (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Using evaluator competencies as a framework, evaluation training programs could intentionally address needed competencies. Without this framework, important competencies may not be addressed and leave students with gaps in their evaluation knowledge and skills (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Evaluator competencies could also be used to assess levels of proficiency and areas where further training is needed (Ghere et al., 2006).

Since evaluators enter the field in many ways, a set of evaluator competencies could also be used to determine the professional development needs of evaluators once they are practicing. Ghere et al. (2006) point out that once inside the evaluation profession, evaluators have little direction about how to develop competencies. Evaluator competencies could be used to help identify competencies that need further development (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Developers and trainers of professional development could use

evaluator competencies to guide the type of development opportunities to offer and the content of those experiences (Stevahn et al., 2005a).

Enhance reflective practice. Another application of a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies would be to enhance reflective practice by using evaluator competencies as a framework for individuals to reflect and conduct a self-assessment of their own practice. Evaluators and those in training to become evaluators may have difficulty identifying what they need to learn and the competencies they need to develop (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Using framed reflection, the evaluator benefits by "being acutely aware of personal evaluation preferences, strengths, and limitations; self-monitoring the results of actions intended to facilitate effective evaluation studies; and planning how to enhance future endeavors" (Stevahn et al., 2005a, p. 46).

Advance research on evaluation. Until recently, research on evaluation has not been a focus within the field (Christie, 2003). In the past decade, the amount of research on evaluation theories, methods, and practices has increased substantially (Coryn et al., 2015). An established set of evaluator competencies would play a role in further advancing this research. Stevahn et al. (2005a) give three possible areas of research on evaluation related to evaluator competencies, including examining the role of competencies in effective evaluation practice, investigating the impact of training on skill acquisition and application, and determining variables that mediate successful evaluation practice (p. 46). Evaluator competencies could also be a catalyst for further research especially in areas where research is lacking such as validating theory-based descriptive models to guide effective practice (Stevahn et al., 2005a).

Advance the professionalization of the field of evaluation. A comprehensive set of competencies could also assist in professionalizing the field. Stevahn et al. (2005a) point out that even without agreement on the competencies, discussing what competencies evaluators need can advance the agenda on what is important for evaluation practice. A comprehensive set of evaluator competencies needs to be established to provide a foundation to pursue licensure or credentialing of evaluators (Altschuld, 1999b; Stevahn et al., 2005a). Stevhan et al. (2005a) also point out that a set of evaluator competencies may increase the potential for program accreditation, an important step toward professionalizing the field.

#### **Development of Evaluator Competencies**

Over time, several evaluation scholars have proposed frameworks that identify the tasks, skills, and dispositions necessary for evaluation practice. Kirkhart (1981) proposed eight major descriptive categories of evaluator skills, including methodological skills, knowledge areas providing substantive background, systems analysis skills, political savvy and understanding, professional ethics, management skills, communication skills, and interpersonal skills or character traits (p. 188). At a keynote address to the Australasian Evaluation Association on the challenges of program evaluation being a profession, Patton (1990) informally proposed that an "evaluator's swag" should go beyond methods and techniques and include multiple and diverse methods, communication skills, conceptualization and program logic capabilities, consulting skills, interpersonal competence, political sophistication, knowledge of how organizations work, creativity, and verbal and written presentation skills (p. 48).

Mertens (1994) compiled a list of knowledge areas and skills associated with evaluation through existing literature, presentations on training at the American Evaluation Association annual meetings, consulting with other evaluators, and reflecting on her own experience as an evaluator trainer (p. 21). The list of knowledge and skills that resulted is divided into three categories. The first category is the knowledge and skills associated with research methodology, including philosophical assumptions of alternative paradigms and perspectives, methodological implications of alternative assumptions, and planning and conducting research (Mertens, 1994). The second category is the knowledge and skills needed for evaluation, but borrowed from other areas, which included people skills, negotiation, oral and written communication (Mertens, 1994). The third category includes the knowledge and skills unique to specific disciplines of education, psychology, health, business, government, and public administration (Mertens, 1994). Scriven (1996) discusses his perspective that those doing "technically challenging" evaluations need to have "reasonable competence" in the areas of basic qualitative and quantitative methodologies, validity theory, generalizability theory, meta-analysis, legal constraints on data control and access, funds use, and personnel treatment, personnel evaluation, ethical analysis, needs assessment, cost analysis, internal synthesis models and skills, conceptual geography, and evaluation specific report design, construction, and presentation. (p. 159).

The development of these frameworks by evaluation scholars in the attempt to identify the evaluator knowledge, skills, and dispositions necessary for evaluation practice has generated conversations in the evaluation community on the value and

feasibility of developing a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies (Altschuld, 1999a; Altschuld, 1999b; Jones & Worthen, 1999; Smith, 1999; Worthen, 1999). With the diverse philosophical and practical approaches that exist within the field, there are questions on whether or not the evaluation community will be able to reach agreement on a set of evaluator competencies (King et al., 2001; Smith, 1999; Worthen, 1999).

The Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators. The frameworks presented to this point were not "derived from a systematic process or validated by empirical consensus building among diverse professionals in the field" (King et al., 2001, p. 230). Based on the lack of an established set of evaluator competencies and the associated consequences, a group of university researchers in the United States set out to develop a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Starting in 1997, King and her colleagues began their work developing a comprehensive set competencies for program evaluators to determine if evaluators representing diverse roles, backgrounds, and experiences could reach agreement on the perceived importance of having a comprehensive set of competencies and, from there, what competencies are needed for evaluation practice (King et al., 2001; Stevahn et al., 2005b).

They developed a taxonomy of essential evaluator competencies through a process of reviewing evaluation literature, developing a list of competencies, and conducting an initial validation study with 31 evaluators from the Twin Cities area in Minnesota using a Multi-Attribute Consensus Reaching procedure (King et al., 2001; Stevahn et al., 2005a). The taxonomy of essential evaluator competencies outlined the knowledge, skills, and dispositions program evaluators need to be effective as

professionals (Stevahn et al., 2005a). After the taxonomy was developed, the group of researchers continued their work and refined the evaluator competencies. The revision process included cross-referencing the evaluator competencies with the *Program Evaluation Standards* (Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation, 1994), the *Guiding Principles for Evaluators* (American Evaluation Association Task Force on Guiding Principles for Evaluators, 1995), and the *Essential Skills Series* (Canadian Evaluation Society [CES], 1999).

As a result of this work, the *Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators* (ECPE) were established (Stevhan et al., 2005a). The ECPE includes six domains of practice: professional practice, systematic inquiry, situational analysis, project management, reflective practice, and interpersonal competence (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Each domain focuses on an area necessary for competent practice of program evaluation: (a) professional practice: foundational norms and values; (b) systematic inquiry: technical aspects; (c) situational analysis: analyzing and attending to the unique interests, issues, and contextual circumstances; (d) project management: nuts and bolts of conducting program evaluations; (e) reflective practice: focus on one's awareness of evaluation expertise and needs for growth; (f) interpersonal competence: people skills used in conducting program evaluations (Stevahn et al., 2005a). Within these six domains, there are sixty-one competency items (see Table 1).

Table 1

Essential	Competencies	for Program	Evaluators	(ECPE)
Dobertitut	Competences	JOI I TOSTONIU	- Vallation 5	

Competency	Competency Items
Domain 10 Pm 6 1 1	
1.0 Professional	1.1 Applies professional evaluation standards
Practice	1.2 Acts ethically and strives for integrity and honesty in
	conducting evaluations
	1.3 Conveys personal evaluation approaches and skills to potential clients
	1.4 Respects clients, respondents, program participants, and other
	stakeholders
	1.5 Considers the general and public welfare in evaluation practice
	1.6 Contributes to the knowledge base of evaluation
2.0 Systematic	2.1 Understands the knowledge base of evaluation (terms,
Inquiry	concepts, theories, assumptions)
	2.2 Knowledgeable about quantitative methods
	2.3 Knowledgeable about qualitative methods
	2.4 Knowledgeable about mixed methods
	2.5 Conducts literature reviews
	2.6 Specifies program theory
	2.7 Frames evaluation questions
	2.8 Develops evaluation designs
	2.9 Identifies data sources
	2.10 Collects data
	2.11 Assesses validity of data
	2.12 Assesses reliability of data
	2.13 Analyzes data
	2.14 Interprets data
	2.15 Makes judgements
	2.16 Develops recommendations
	2.17 Provides rationales for decisions throughout the evaluation
	2.18 Reports evaluation procedures and results
	2.19 Notes strengths and limitations of the evaluation
	2.20 Conducts meta-evaluations
3.0 Situational	3.1 Describes the program
Analysis	3.2 Determines program evaluability
	3.3 Identifies the interests of relevant stakeholders
	3.4 Serves the information needs of intended users
	3.5 Addresses conflicts
	3.6 Examines the organizational context of the evaluation
	3.7 Analyzes the political considerations relevant to the evaluation
	10

Competency Domain	Competency Items
-	3.8 Attends to issues of evaluation use
	3.9 Attends to issues of organizational change
	3.10 Respects the uniqueness of the evaluation site and client
	3.11 Remains open to input from others
	3.12 Modifies the study as needed
4.0 Project	4.1 Responds to requests for proposals
Management	4.2 Negotiates with clients before the evaluation begins
	4.3 Writes formal agreements
	4.4 Communicates with clients throughout the evaluation process
	4.5 Budgets an evaluation
	<ul><li>4.6 Justifies cost given information needs</li><li>4.7 Identifies needed resources for evaluation, such as information,</li></ul>
	expertise, personnel, instruments
	4.8 Uses appropriate technology
	4.9 Supervises others involved in conducting the evaluation
	4.10 Trains others involved in conducting the evaluation
	4.11 Conducts the evaluation in a nondisruptive manner
	4.12 Presents work in a timely manner
5.0 Reflective	5.1 Aware of self as an evaluator (knowledge, skills, dispositions)
Practice	5.2 Reflects on personal evaluation practice (competencies and areas for growth)
	5.3 Pursues professional development in evaluation
	5.4 Pursues professional development in relevant content areas
	5.5 Builds professional relationships to enhance evaluation practice
	3.3 Bunds professional relationships to enhance evaluation practice
6.0 Interpersonal	6.1 Uses written communication skills
Competence	6.2 Uses verbal/listening communication skills
	6.3 Uses negotiation skills
	6.4 Uses conflict resolution skills
	6.5 Facilitates constructive interpersonal interaction (teamwork,
	group facilitation, processing)
	6.6 Demonstrates cross-cultural competence

Note. From "Establishing Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators," by L. Stevahn, J.A. King, G. Ghere, and J. Minnema, 2005, American Journal of Evaluation, vol. 26, p. 43–50.

A study conducted by Wilcox (2012) initially validated the ECPE using a unitary validity framework. Wilcox (2012) conducted the study using a web-based survey and a series of interviews. The survey focused on what respondents believe program evaluators need to be able to demonstrate the essential competencies for program evaluators. Findings indicated that a majority of the competencies (58 of the 61) were considered "strongly necessary" and the remaining three competencies were considered "moderately necessary" (Wilcox, 2012). Interviews were conducted with nine experienced evaluators (Wilcox, 2012). Findings from interviews included: all respondents considered professional practice and interpersonal competence critical competency areas; all respondents thought highly of reflective practice, but recognized that they could do better in this area; respondents were rarely proficient in all systematic inquiry competencies, but were most likely to work with others in these situations; the extent to which respondents conducted situational analysis and project management varied by fields or role; and almost all respondents reported they did not do meta-evaluation (Wilcox, 2012).

The development of the ECPE provided the field with a foundation to establish agreement on evaluator competencies, but it was not officially adopted or endorsed by the American Evaluation Association (Altschuld, 2005; King et al., 2001; Smith, 1999; Worthen, 1999; Ghere et al., 2006; Morris, 2011). Since evaluators come from a variety of backgrounds, experiences, and methodological approaches, it has been difficult to come to consensus on what competencies define a competent evaluator (McGuire & Zorzi, 2005). Altschuld (2005) asserts that, despite this lack of official adoption, there

seems to be general agreement in the evaluation community on the set of competencies developed.

In creating the ECPE, Stevahn et al. (2005b) hoped to establish a basis from which further work could be completed:

Ultimately, whether or not consensus is reached on every competency in a comprehensive taxonomy, striving to establish this taxonomy should spark meaningful discussion on the knowledge, skills, and dispositions people perceive to be essential for effective practice. Doing so invites critical analysis, reasoned judgement, and better articulation of who we are and what we do as evaluators. We believe that future clarification of various evaluator roles and the competencies needed to enact them will emerge through grounded dialogue. (p. 108)

#### Althschuld (2005) further points out:

The intent of their work was and continues to be to promote debate and discussion about what evaluators do, how they go about conducting evaluations, and ultimately what should be included in the training of evaluators. They also acknowledge that much still needs to be done in clarifying terms, getting the field to agree on the competencies, and generating concrete depictions of each competency. (p. 163)

The Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice. During the same time the ECPE was being developed, another project focused on developing a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies, sponsored by the Canadian Evaluation Society (CES), was completed by Zorzi, McGuire, and Perrin in 2002. The project came out of a strategic planning process undertaken by the CES to address priorities of professional development and advocacy on behalf of the evaluation function (Zorzi et al., 2002). To meet these priorities, the project was designed to identify the "benefits of evaluation, the outputs of evaluation that lead to those benefits, and the knowledge and skills that evaluators should possess to competently produce those outputs" (Zorzi et al., 2002, p.

144). The knowledge and skills component of the research was to create a Core Body of Knowledge (CBK) that would the basis for the CES's professional development program (Zorzi et al., 2002).

The CES (as cited in Zorzi et al., 2002) developed the following definition for the CBK:

The CBK comprises those theories, skills, and effective practices that people, working largely without supervision, must possess in order to plan, carry out, and report on valid and reliable evaluations of the programs of governments, other public sector agencies and organizations, not-for-profit organizations, and business. (p. 144)

To develop the CBK, Zorzi et al. (2002) conducted a literature review, two internet consultations with the evaluation community, two discussion sessions with delegates at the CES 2002 National Conference, and online discussions among the members of an international expert reference panel. The resulting CBK included 151 knowledge elements grouped into 23 general elements grouped into six categories. The categories included ethics, evaluation planning and design, data collection, data analysis and interpretation, communication and interpersonal skills, and project management (Zorzi et al., 2002).

In 2007, the CES announced that they would move forward with developing a professional designation for evaluators in Canada called the Professional Designation Project (PDP) (Buchanan, 2015). A foundational piece of this project was creating a set of competencies for Canadian evaluators (Maicher & Frank, 2015). The purpose of the set of competencies was to serve as one of three pillars, along with ethics and standards, for professional designation (Maicher & Frank, 2015). A Professional Designation Core

Committee (PDCC) was established to facilitate development and implementation of the professional designation (Maicher & Frank, 2015).

The development of the CES Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice (CCEP) built upon the *Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators* (ECPE) developed by Stevahn et al. (2005a). A comparative analysis was conducted using the ECPE (Stevahn et al., 2005a), the Essential Skills Series (Canadian Evaluation Society, 1999), the CES CBK study (Zorzi et al., 2002), the Treasury Board Secretariat Competencies for Evaluators in the Government of Canada, the *Program Evaluation* Standards (Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation, 1994), the Guiding Principles for Evaluators (American Evaluation Association Task Force on Guiding Principles for Evaluators, 1995), and the Core Competencies for Evaluators in the UN System (United Nations Evaluation Group, 2007). As a result of the comparative analysis, gaps and overlaps were identified among the documents to inform the development of a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies for the Canadian evaluation context (Buchanan & Kuji-Shikatani, 2014). From here, the PDCC drafted the CCEP, and, after member consultation and expert validation, the CES membership approved the CCEP in May 2009 (Buchanan & Kuji-Shikatani, 2014).

The CCEP include five competency domains: reflective practice, technical practice, situational practice, management practice, and interpersonal practice (CES, 2010). Each domain focuses on an essential component of overall evaluation practice: (a) reflective practice: fundamental norms and values and awareness of one's evaluation expertise and needs for growth; (b) technical practice: specialized aspects of evaluation;

(c) situational practice: application of evaluative thinking in analyzing and attending to the unique interests, issues, and contextual circumstances; (d) management practice: process of managing an evaluation; (e) interpersonal practice: people skills (CES, 2010). Within the interpersonal practice domain, there are 10 competencies (see Table 2).

Table 2

## Interpersonal Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice

## **Interpersonal Practice Competency Items**

- 5.1 Uses written communication skills and technologies
- 5.2 Uses verbal communication skills
- 5.3 Uses listening skills
- 5.4 Uses negotiation skills
- 5.5 Uses conflict resolution skills
- 5.6 Uses facilitation skills (group work)
- 5.7 Uses interpersonal skills (individual and teams)
- 5.8 Uses collaboration / partnering skills
- 5.9 Attends to issues of diversity and culture
- 5.10 Demonstrates professional credibility

Note. From "Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice" by The Canadian Evaluation Society (CES), 2010, Retrieved from:

http://www.evaluationcanada.ca/txt/2\_competencies\_cdn\_evaluation\_practice.pdf

In 2010, the CES established the Credentialed Evaluator designation. One of the three applicant requirements for the designation was to demonstrate how evaluators' education and experience align with the evaluator competencies (Buchanan, 2015). Specifically, CES states that successful applicants must demonstrate "education and/or experience related to 70% of the competencies in each of the five domains of Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice. Applicants will draw selectively from their education and/or experience and align this to 70% of the competencies in each of 5 competency domains" (CES, n.d.).

The American Evaluation Association Evaluator Competencies. In 2015, the American Evaluation Association undertook a renewed effort to refine the competencies needed for evaluation practice. The AEA formed a Competency Task Force to complete the work. Using the ECPE as a starting point, the task force set out to address issues raised in earlier reviews of the ECPE and conducted a listening session on the proposed evaluator competencies at the 2015 American Evaluation Association conference. From this work, a revised set of evaluator competencies titled "AEA Evaluator Competencies" was created, and a survey was administered to gather feedback from AEA members on the draft (AEA, 2017). Like the CCEP set, the draft AEAEC includes five competency domains: professional practice, methodology, context, planning and management, and interpersonal. Each domain focuses on a component of evaluation practice: (a) professional practice: what makes evaluators distinct as practicing professionals; (b) methodology: the technical aspects of data-based, systematic inquiry for valued purposes; (c) context: understanding the unique circumstances, multiple perspectives, and changing settings of evaluations and their users/stakeholders; (d) planning and management: determining and monitoring work plans, timelines, resources, and other components needed to complete and deliver an evaluation study; and (e) interpersonal: the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness for professional practice (AEA, 2017). Within the interpersonal domain, there are 10 proposed competencies (see Table 3).

#### Draft AEA Interpersonal Competencies

#### **Interpersonal Domain Competency Items**

- 5.1 Interacts ethically in interpersonal relations at all times.
- 5.2 Values and fosters constructive interpersonal relations foundational for professional practice and evaluation use.
- 5.3 Uses appropriate social skills to build trust and enhance interaction for evaluation practice.
- 5.4 Listens to understand, engage, and honor diverse perspectives.
- 5.5 Addresses issues of privilege and power dynamics in interpersonal relations.
- 5.6 Communicates in meaningful ways throughout the evaluation (written, verbal, visual, etc.).
- 5.7 Facilitates constructive and culturally responsive interaction throughout the evaluation.
- 5.8 Collaborates and engages in teamwork.
- 5.9 Negotiates decisions for evaluation practice.
- 5.10 Addresses conflicts constructively.

Note. From "AEA Evaluator Competencies," 2017.

### **Interpersonal Competencies**

Most of the early frameworks identifying the tasks, skills, and dispositions necessary for evaluation practice included interpersonal competencies (CES, 2010; Kirkhart, 1981; Mertens, 1994; Patton, 1990; Stevahn et al., 2005a). The most recent effort to refine evaluator competencies, the draft AEAEC, also includes an interpersonal domain defined as the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness for professional practice (AEA, 2017). The interpersonal domain continues to be identified as one the essential competency domains for program evaluators because much of the work surrounding an evaluation study involves interacting with others. Throughout the evaluation process, the evaluator interacts with clients, program participants, staff, board members, and other relevant stakeholders. Due to the applied nature of evaluation, several evaluation scholars have emphasized the importance of

interpersonal competencies for evaluators (King & Stevahn, 2013; Kirkhart, 1981; Leviton, 2001; Mertens, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Patton & Patrizi, 2005; Perrin, 2005; Skolits et al., 2009; Zorzi, Perrin et al., 2002). In their CES CBK study, Zorzi et al. (2002, p. 31) found that interpersonal competencies such as effective listening, questioning, and negotiation were important across all stages of the evaluation process.

In their study exploring program staff perspectives on barriers to evaluation implementation, Taut and Alkin (2003) found program staff emphasized human factors over evaluation or context factors in explaining barriers to evaluation implementation. From their recent experiences with program evaluation, program staff highlighted the importance of evaluators' social competence, particularly their ability to build relationships and trust (Taut & Alkin, 2003).

Taut and Alkin (2003) point out that most areas in which program staff perceived as barriers to effective implementation of evaluation were included in Patton's list of "threats to utility" (1997), which included

... failure to focus the evaluation on intended use by intended users; poor stakeholder understanding of evaluation generally and the findings specifically; low user belief and trust in the evaluation process and findings; low evaluator credibility; and failure to keep stakeholders adequately informed and involved along the way. (p. 263)

When evaluators cannot adequately navigate interpersonal issues as they arise, it can lead to problems throughout the evaluation process and can be detrimental to relationships with clients and stakeholders, create issues in collecting good data, or affect the validity and use of results. Due to the importance of interpersonal competencies, it is

important that evaluators develop competencies in this domain through evaluation training.

# **Evaluator Training**

The evaluation profession has experienced significant growth since its formal inception in the late 1960s (LaVelle & Donaldson, 2010). With growth comes the concern on how to train future evaluators properly (LaVelle & Donaldson, 2010; Lee et al., 2007). Evaluation scholars have called for training that prepares new evaluators for practice and have brought attention to the evaluation field's responsibility in ensuring that this happens (LaVelle & Donaldson, 2010; Patton, 1990; Stufflebeam, 2001).

LaVelle and Donaldson (2010) assert:

Evaluators are made, not born, and an extended period of training is necessary to master the evaluation-specific skills and knowledge necessary to provide quality service to clients, as well as be socialized into the professional frameworks, standards, and ethical guidelines. The importance of this preservice training cannot be overstated. (p. 10)

Stufflebeam (2001) states "the evaluation field's future success is dependent on sound evaluation [training] programs that provide a continuing flow of excellently qualified and motivated evaluators" (p. 445).

To properly train evaluators for practice, training programs need to address multiple knowledge and skill areas. Every evaluation activity places demands on evaluators, requiring them to draw upon and utilize a variety of skills. Depending on the activity, demands can be technical or non-technical in nature; therefore, evaluation training must balance the inclusion of methods, theory, and practice knowledge and skills (Lee et al., 2007; Skolits et al., 2009).

Lee et al. (2007) state:

As teachers of evaluation practice, how does one strike this delicate balance within a curriculum where the student does not leave with a distorted, unbalanced knowledge of evaluation practice? We do not want to train one-size-fits-all evaluators who blindly apply social science methods, nor do we want theoretically capable evaluators who know all the various approaches to evaluation, but rather who practice without a solid grounding in research design and data analysis. We also need to make certain that students have developed appropriate interpersonal skills that permit them to navigate the relationships and interactions that guide an evaluation process. (p. 537)

To adequately prepare students for practice, attention to balancing all of the knowledge and skills an evaluator needs is important. Despite this, little is known about how or where students of evaluation training programs acquire competencies needed for evaluation practice and what competencies practicing evaluators possess.

# **Research on Evaluation Training Programs**

In the United States, the preparation of evaluators for professional practice is uncontrolled when compared to other professions that require licensure, certification, or accreditation for entry into the profession (Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006). When requirements of licensure, certification, or accreditation are in place, training programs must align what is taught with the knowledge and competencies required for entry into professional practice (Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006). There are no such entry requirements for evaluation practice in the United States. For an individual, there are several ways to prepare for evaluation practice, including professional development workshops, certificate programs, and university degree programs (Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006).

Professional development opportunities have become increasingly popular with well-established offerings sponsored by the AEA and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the Evaluators' Institute, and Claremont Graduate University (Christie, Quinones, & Fierro, 2013; Dewey et al., 2008). Despite this, little is known about the use of professional development opportunities to acquire evaluation training (Christie et al., 2013). For certificate programs, most are housed within universities, and what is known about these opportunities is embedded within the research on university-based evaluation training (Dewey et al., 2008). For university-based training, several studies have been conducted to better understand what evaluation training programs exist in the United States (Altschuld, Engle, Cullen, Kim, & Macce, 1994; Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006; Lavelle & Donaldson, 2010; May, Fleischer, Scheirer, & Cox, 1986). These studies focus primarily on the university departments in which evaluation training programs exist and the titles of courses offered. This is a good starting point for learning where evaluators can be trained and what courses they may take. The most recent study conducted by Lavelle and Donaldson (2010) found evidence of 48 university-based evaluation training programs in the United States and another 13 programs that reported training evaluators, but did not provide curricular information.

### **Competencies Addressed in Evaluator Training Programs**

Based on their research of evaluation training, Lavelle and Donaldson (2010) posed a question for future research: "How can we best prepare the next generation [of evaluators] for the challenges they will face?" (p. 21). In moving the field towards answering this research question, a limited number of studies have been completed to

better understand what competencies evaluation training programs address, the competencies new evaluators possess, and the competencies identified as important by employers (Davies & MacKay, 2014; Dewey et al., 2008; Dillman, 2013; Kaesbauer, 2012). As part of their research, each study addressed interpersonal competencies to some degree.

Dewey et al. (2008) explored whether graduate programs with an emphasis in evaluation are adequately preparing the next generation of evaluators. To accomplish this, they set out to better understand the competencies students develop during graduate training and how these competencies align with those required by organizations that employ evaluators (Dewey et al., 2008). Data were collected through a survey to AEAaffiliated job seekers, a survey to AEA-affiliated employers of evaluators, and an analysis of the job postings on the AEA job bank (Dewey et al., 2008). When it came to employers' perceptions of candidate quality, Dewey et al. (2008) found that a majority of employers rated candidates as having minor (47%) or major (31%) shortcomings in the evaluation competencies needed by their organization. When asked to identify the gaps in evaluator competencies, employers most frequently cited relating to clients or other stakeholders (28%) (Dewey et al., 2008). Employers also indicated a need for interpersonal skills more than any other competencies, but found this skill set to be lacking in entry-level evaluation candidates (Dewey et al., 2008). An analysis of the AEA job bank also uncovered that employers frequently sought interpersonal skills, with 79% of postings including this as a needed competency area (Dewey et al., 2008). Only onefifth of evaluation job seekers reported being taught client or stakeholder relations in

graduate school. In addition, evaluation job seekers ranked interpersonal skills third from the bottom (of 19 skills) of skills acquired in graduate school (Dewey et al., 2008). Based on their findings, Dewey et al. (2008) concluded that employers highly value interpersonal competencies, but that these not given much attention in graduate programs.

A study by Kaesbauer (2012) exploring what evaluator competencies are taught in doctoral programs in evaluation resulted in similar findings to Dewey et al. (2008). Data were collected through interviews with program coordinators and faculty members of doctoral programs in evaluation, a survey sent to students in those programs, and a content analysis of program syllabi (Kaesbauer, 2012). Kaesbauer (2012) found that faculty reported teaching interpersonal competencies, yet students reported encountering this competency area less frequently. Findings suggest that faculty aim to address interpersonal competencies, but it may be difficult as these skills are primarily developed through field or practical experiences (Kaesbauer, 2012). Kaesbauer (2012) concluded that doctoral programs in evaluation may not sufficiently teach non-technical evaluation skills, such as communicating with stakeholders and resolving conflicts.

Dillman (2013) explored how different educational experiences contribute to the development of evaluator competencies using the ECPE as a guide. New evaluators identified through the American Evaluation Association Graduate Student and New Evaluators Topical Interest Group were surveyed to determine the educational experiences they participated in during evaluation training. Findings indicated that the perceived contribution of the different training experiences, such as coursework, mentorship, fieldwork, and participation in professional activities, changed depending on

the competency being developed (Dillman, 2013). Dillman (2013) found that the technical aspects of conducting an evaluation could mostly be acquired in the classroom, but that new evaluators did not rate the contributions of coursework very highly when it came to developing interpersonal competencies.

Another study completed by Davies and MacKay (2014) explored content being taught in current evaluation courses. To do so, they examined what topics were covered, how much time was spent on various topics, and how important instructors believed these topics were in preparing new evaluations to start practicing at a professional level (Davies & MacKay, 2014). Davies and MacKay (2014) gathered data through a survey administered to individuals affiliated with the AEA's Teaching of Evaluation Topical Interest Group who were teaching at a university program with at least one evaluation course. Using the ECPE as a guide, they created a list of potential topics evaluation training programs could cover (Davies & MacKay, 2014). Through their examination of university-based evaluation training courses, Davies and MacKay (2014) found considerable differences in topics covered and time spent on various topics. For introductory courses, content aligned with the practical considerations of conducting an evaluation, including evaluation approaches and evaluation planning (Davies & MacKay, 2014). For programs that offered advanced evaluation courses, topics covered varied widely among training programs (Davies & MacKay, 2014). Using the ECPE as a framework, Davies and MacKay (2014) found gaps in the training provided at many of the universities in relation to the importance of a topic and the amount of time spent on the topic. Additionally, actual evaluation experience was considered a very important part of new evaluator training by most faculty members, but many did not offer an opportunity to do so, or it was optional (Davies & MacKay, 2014). Davies and MacKay (2014) noted there was some evidence that specific interpersonal competencies may be addressed if faculty spent time addressing related topics such as cultural competence or evaluation ethics.

Although limited in number, these studies contribute to the knowledge on evaluator training, providing insight on what competencies university-based evaluation training programs address and where gaps remain. The findings illuminate gaps that exist among the interpersonal competencies needed and expected to conduct evaluations, what is taught in evaluation training programs, and the skills new evaluators possess. They also highlight the difficulty of teaching interpersonal competencies to new evaluators within traditional classroom settings.

One limitation common across the studies completed on the competencies addressed in university-based evaluation training programs is that they attempt to cover all competency domains, thus providing breadth, but not depth to the knowledge that is contributed to the field. Future studies focusing on *specific* competency domains would be beneficial in deepening the field's understanding of where and how competencies are developed and what competencies evaluators possess and use.

## **Developing Interpersonal Competencies in New Evaluators**

Evaluation scholars have advocated for intentionally teaching interpersonal competencies to evaluation students (Dewey et al., 2008; Christie, 2012; King & Stevahn, 2013; Leviton, 2001; Mertens, 1994; Taut & Alkin, 2003; Trevisan, 2002). To do so,

many have encouraged the use of practical experiences that are hands-on (Alkin & Christie, 2002; Altschuld, 1995; Dillman, 2013; Gredler & Johnson, 2001; Morris, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Preskill, 1992; Trevisan, 2004; Wortman et al., 1980). The rationale is that practical experiences should be incorporated into training for any practice-oriented field because they expose students to the complexities found in real-world settings and allow students to hone their interpersonal and technical skills (Trevisan, 2004; Altschuld, 1995; Fitzpatrick, 1994; Weeks, 1982). For evaluation students, practical experiences allow for the understanding and appreciation of the challenges of the non-technical issues that arise in evaluation work (Trevisan, 2002).

Several evaluation scholars assert that practical experiences are the most effective, if not the only way to develop interpersonal competencies (Garcia, 2016; Lewis & Williams, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Skolits, Woodward, Morrow, & Kaesbauer, 2012; Trevisan, 2004; Weeks, 1982). A recent study by Dillman (2013) supports these claims, finding that out of the different educational experiences a student can have, practical experiences are considered to contribute more to the development of evaluation competencies and are seen as the most important educational experiences for developing interpersonal competencies by evaluation students and new evaluators. As a result, Dillman (2013) stresses that evaluators need opportunities to take part in practical evaluation experiences to develop interpersonal competencies.

The logic behind providing practical experiences is that traditional teaching approaches, through lecture and readings, are insufficient when used alone to prepare students for the challenges they may encounter when practicing as an evaluator (Christie,

2012; Stevahn et al., 2005b; Trevisan, 2002; Weeks, 1982). Lee et al. (2007) point out that evaluation courses typically rely on traditional lecture approaches, and students do not get a sense of what it would be like to practice in the real-world or how to apply what they learn in a lecture. Instructors recognize that there is a need to go beyond traditional approaches to teaching and incorporate approaches that are more engaging and hands-on to help students understand the inherent interactive nature of program evaluation (Lee et al., 2007; Trevisan, 2004).

Despite the recommendations for including hands-on or practical training, evaluation scholars have offered few details on how to do so. Trevisan (2004) identified this gap in knowledge and reviewed existing literature on the use of practical training experiences in evaluation. From this review, he documented four approaches found in the literature on how to provide practical training in evaluation: (a) simulation, (b) role-play, (c) single course projects, and (d) practicum experiences. Since the literature review conducted by Trevisan (2004), problem-based learning (Lee et al., 2007) has also been identified as an approach to providing practical training in evaluation.

Simulation. When using simulation, students are provided with a real-world hypothetical case of an organization or agency with an evaluation need (Trevisan, 2002; Trevisan, 2004). Cases include all information needed for the simulation, highlight critical decisions points, and allow students to work through the challenging dilemmas and dynamics in the evaluation process, including setting goals, diagnosis, managing conflict, recognizing high-payoff information, managing change, and working collaboratively (Patton & Patrizi, 2005). Usually in groups, students work through the

case by exploring the problem and potential solutions in a risk free environment (Trevisan, 2004). Students answer questions and complete assignments on the case (Trevisan, 2004).

Benefits of the simulation approach are that it is inexpensive to implement and can allow for a variety of experiences within one simulation (Trevisan, (2004). Trevisan (2004) also asserts that simulations increase student motivation and interest due to the shared experience and opportunity to apply knowledge they have previously learned. Limitations include the difficulty in providing the full context within a case and that the simulation is not similar enough to a real-world evaluation experience, which can be unpredictable (Trevisan, 2004). In the review of literature on evaluation training, there are few articles on using simulation or case-based teaching approaches, which include Willer, Bartlett, and Northman (1978) and Patton and Patrizi (2005).

Role-play. In general, role-play is structured by having the student assume a "role" in a specific situation or scenario (Lee et al., 2007). Role-play is similar to simulation, as it requires context for discussion through a case or scenario, and students work in teams (Trevisan, 2004). Alkin and Christie (2002) describe the difference between role-play and simulation being that role-play is flexible and leaves more room for student variation, initiative, and imagination; therefore, role-play is less structured than a simulation (Alkin & Christie, 2002).

A benefit of role-play is that is a productive and cost-effective alternative to actual project experiences (Alkin & Christie, 2002). The approach promotes interaction between students and between the instructor and students (Alkin & Christie, 2002). Role-

play also provides a safe environment for students to learn as the instructor can correct when needed (Alkin & Christie, 2002). In the evaluation training literature, Alkin and Christie (2002) have documented the uses of role-play to teach courses on theories of evaluation and on evaluation procedures.

**Problem-based learning.** Problem-based learning, similar to simulations and role-play, situates learning in a meaningful task where students work in teams on a provided case (Hmelo-Silver, 2004). The difference is that the case provided is illstructured where students are not provided the information needed to come up with a solution beforehand (Hmelo-Silver, 2004). Instead, students must direct their own learning through seeking out new information to inform their decisions (Dolmans & Schmidt, 1996; Hmelo-Silver, 2004). The instructor's role also transitions to a facilitator in problem-based learning where he or she supports and scaffolds the development of problem-solving, self-directed learning, and collaboration skills (Barrows, 1992 [in Savery & Duffy, 2001]; Savery, 2006). In the evaluation training literature, Lee et al. (2007) have documented their use of problem-based learning in a graduate-level evaluation procedures course. Lee et al. (2007) assert that problem-based learning is an ideal approach to use in evaluation training because it gives students an opportunity to not only learn content knowledge, but also experience "thinking like an evaluator" (p. 539).

**Single course projects.** A single course project is a short-term experience that is part of an evaluation course (Trevisan, 2002). Students receive training in program evaluation and then apply knowledge through a short-term project (Trevisan, 2002). The

context and design of the evaluation course will help shape the single course project (Morris, 1994). In the evaluation training literature, a single course project was the most prevalent approach documented. Articles published on the use of a single course project include: Morris (1992), Preskill (1992), Kelley and Jones (1992), Eastmond, Saunders, and Merrell (1989), Leviton, Collin, Laird, and Kratt (1998), Patton (1987), Conner (1986), Levin-Rozalis and Rosenstein (2003), Peacock (2001), and Skolits et al. (2012).

Practicum. A practicum, or field experience, is an opportunity for students to work directly with an organization or agency on a real evaluation project (Trevisan, 2002; Trevisan, 2004). Faculty members arrange on-campus or off-campus experiences that can vary in length, amount of university support, and supervision (Trevisan, 2004). Challenges associated with practicum experiences include coordination between the faculty member and organization, obtaining commitment from practicum organization, decision making regarding whether and how much compensation students should receive, and the amount of responsibility given to students (Trevisan, 2004, p. 261). Articles published that describe practicum experiences in evaluation include: Gredler and Johnson (2001), Hurley, Renger, and Brunk (2005), McKillip (1986), Moxley and Visingardi (1989), Nadler and Cundiff (2009), and Weeks (1982).

Trevisan (2004) notes that in the literature, none of the articles on practical evaluation training approaches were from research studies. The literature on practical evaluation training approaches consists of reflective narratives, where faculty provide a written description of their instructional approach for teaching evaluation. Benefits of approaches were based on the experience of the authors and comments from students;

few articles provided evaluation data on the experience (Trevisan, 2004). These reflective narratives are an important start to understanding how to implement practical evaluation training approaches in an evaluation course and the perceived outcomes. More research needs to be completed to further the understanding of the impact of practical training approaches on student learning and to make specific generalizable recommendations to the field (Davies & MacKay, 2014).

#### **Summary**

This chapter presented the literature in two parts. The first part explored evaluator competencies, including the benefits of establishing a comprehensive set of evaluator competencies and the development and current state of evaluator competencies in the field. The benefits of having an established set of evaluator competencies included improved training, enhanced reflective practice, advanced research on evaluation, and continued professionalization of the field. Several frameworks have been proposed to identify the knowledge, skills, and dispositions that evaluators need for practice. A formal effort to develop evaluator competencies resulted in the ECPE, which provided the foundation for the development of the CCEP and has since been revised to establish the AEAEC.

The second part of this chapter explored the literature on training evaluators, including what is known about what is taught in evaluation training programs, the competencies students develop in these programs with specific attention to the interpersonal domain, and how evaluation scholars assert students in evaluation training programs are supported to develop interpersonal competencies. The literature shows the

research conducted on how or whether interpersonal competencies are being taught to students in evaluation training programs is limited. The research that does exist demonstrates a gap in the interpersonal competencies needed and expected to conduct evaluations, what is taught in graduate-level evaluation training programs, and the skills new evaluators possess. To develop interpersonal competencies in new evaluators, evaluation scholars advocate for intentionally teaching through hands-on, practical experiences. In the field of evaluation, research does not exist that can provide direction on the best way to teach interpersonal competencies. Instead, evaluation scholars have offered reflective narratives on approaches they deem promising, including simulation, role-play, problem-based learning, single course projects, and practicum experiences.

The following chapter describes the methodology adopted to explore the development and use of interpersonal competencies by program evaluators and the potential structures that could applied to the interpersonal competencies to promote their use.

# **Chapter Three: Methodology**

In this chapter, I discuss the methodology adopted to explore the study's research questions. As stated in Chapter One, the purpose of this study was to further explore the interpersonal competencies for competent evaluation practice, including what they are, how they are developed, what development needs exist for new evaluators, and ways to promote their use. Based on this purpose, this study explored the following research questions:

- 1. What interpersonal competencies are essential to the practice of evaluation?
- 2. In what ways have experienced evaluators developed the interpersonal competencies identified as essential to the practice of evaluation?
- 3. What interpersonal competency development needs exist for new evaluators?
- 4. What are the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use?

#### **Research Design**

Based on the purpose and research questions, the intent of this study was exploratory. Chapter 2 documented that very little is known about the interpersonal competencies evaluators possess and the ways in which they develop them. To add to the existing knowledge on this topic, this study used a qualitative research design that sought to understand how people interpret their experiences and the meaning they attribute to them (Merriam, 2009). A qualitative approach aligns well with the exploratory purpose of this study to explore the interpersonal competencies that are essential to the practice of evaluation and how they were developed. Through the qualitative approach, I sought to

understand the interpersonal competencies that evaluators, individually or collectively through associations, use and identify as important. I also aimed to understand how evaluators interpret their own interpersonal competency development and the interpersonal competencies evaluators new to the field typically need to develop when they begin to practice. In addition, I explored ways that the interpersonal competencies could be structured or presented to promote use among intended users.

The study was conducted in three phases. Phase One was a comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC with existing sets of evaluator competencies developed by associations throughout the world. The first phase explored the first research question. Document analysis was used to conduct the comparative analysis using electronic documents of the competencies developed by associations. Through the analysis of these documents, alignment of the individual interpersonal competency items to those included in the draft AEAEC was identified both to confirm included competencies and to identify potentially missing competencies.

Phase Two was a review of structures used in competency sets developed by other professions. This phase answered the fourth research question. Document analysis was used to conduct the review using electronic documents of the competencies developed and used by other professions. Analysis of these documents explored different ways the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies could be structured or presented to promote their use.

Phase Three consisted of semi-structured interviews with evaluation experts. The third phase explored all four research questions. Through interviews, the interpersonal

competencies that experienced evaluators identify as essential to evaluation practice were uncovered, along with how they developed these competencies and the interpersonal competencies that they believe are typically lacking in novice evaluators. Interviews also explored potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competences to promote use. Results from Phase One and Phase Two informed Phase Three.

# Phase One: Comparative Analysis of Interpersonal Competencies for Evaluators

To date, comparative analyses between the existing frameworks of evaluator competencies have been completed with the Program Evaluation Standards (Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation, 1994), the Guiding Principles for Evaluators (American Evaluation Association Task Force on Guiding Principles for Evaluators, 1995), the Essential Skills Series (CES, 1999), the CES CBK study (Zorzi et al., 2002), the Treasury Board Secretariat Competencies for Evaluators in the Government of Canada, and the Core Competencies for Evaluators in the UN System (United Nations Evaluation Group, 2007). This process has provided a comparison between identified evaluator competencies and standards and ethics within the field and has been an important process for developing and revising competencies over time. What has not been completed is a comparative analysis among all existing evaluator competency sets to identify the similarities or differences in content; therefore, to address the first research question, a comparative analysis was completed focusing on interpersonal competencies. Analyzing the content of existing competency sets identified themes or categories of interpersonal competencies across the sets (Bowen, 2009). This

identification uncovered the alignment of interpersonal competencies across sets with the draft AEAEC to confirm those already included and uncover gaps.

Document analysis was used to conduct the comparative analysis of interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies developed by professional associations with the draft AEAEC. The comparative analysis was confined to professional associations that had developed evaluator competencies and excluded evaluator competencies developed by other entities such as government agencies, educational institutions, and individual researchers. This criterion for inclusion allowed for a similar purpose and context in which the interpersonal competencies would be used as the AEAEC, which focuses on association members.

## **Search and Selection of Interpersonal Competencies**

The first step in conducting the comparative analysis was to identify existing sets of evaluator competencies to include in the comparative analysis. An internet search using the Google search engine was completed to find existing competency sets.

Professional associations often share information with members and stakeholders through a dedicated website; therefore, an internet search was an appropriate way to identify existing competency sets. The search was conducted using the terms "association evaluator competencies." This search term was used since the goal was to identify competency sets for evaluators that were developed and used by associations. The search identified 10 sets of evaluator competencies. To verify that there were no other evaluator competency sets to include, I cross checked this list with the evaluator competency literature, which often provides examples of existing evaluator competency sets and

concluded that there were no other evaluator competency sets to include in this comparative analysis (e.g., see Galport & Azzam, 2016; United Nations Evaluation Group, 2015; Wilcox & King, 2014).

Within each of the 10 sets of evaluator competencies, a subset of competencies related to interpersonal skills, knowledge, and dispositions was identified and included in the comparative analysis. Five sets of competencies included a domain specific to interpersonal competencies; the remaining five did not. For the five sets that included a domain focused on interpersonal competencies, all competency items within the domain were included in the comparative analysis. For the five sets of competencies that did not have an interpersonal specific domain, all competency items in the set were reviewed. The description of an interpersonal competency provided in the draft AEAEC, "interpersonal competencies focus on human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness," was used determine whether an individual competency item should be included in the comparative analysis (AEAEC, 2016, p. 2). Thus, competency items that included a form of human relations or social interaction were included.

## **Analysis**

To compare the interpersonal competencies in the draft AEAEC to those included in other sets of evaluator competencies to explore alignment, a qualitative content analysis was conducted using mixed procedures, deductive category assignment, and inductive category formation.

**Deductive category assignment.** The first step in the document analysis used a deductive approach for category assignment where predetermined category codes were

established before coding the competencies included in the comparative analysis (Elo & Kyngas, 2008; Mayring, 2014). Based on the first research question, there is a priori interest in identifying alignment with the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies; therefore, predetermined categories were created based on these competencies. These categories included: the evaluator is able to (a) interact ethically, (b) build relationships, (c) use appropriate social skills, (d) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives, (e) address issues of privilege and power dynamics (f) communicate effectively, (g) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions, (h) collaborate with others, (i) negotiate, and (j) resolve conflict.

To keep the coding process organized, I used an Excel spreadsheet to create a categorization matrix that tracked competency items corresponding to each predetermined category (Elo & Kyngas, 2008). Using the predetermined category codes, I reviewed each of the interpersonal competencies included in the 10 sets individually. After reading a competency item, I assigned the item to one or more predetermined codes or no code if it did not fit with a predetermined code.

Inductive category formation. After reviewing each interpersonal competency item, those that did not fit with an existing code were analyzed to understand what additional interpersonal competencies professional associations have identified as essential to evaluation practice that were not included in the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies. This second step in the document analysis used an inductive approach for creating categories where categories emerged from the remaining interpersonal competency items to reveal any gaps between existing interpersonal competencies and

the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies. Each competency was reviewed individually, and a category code was established based on the item's content. Depending on content, the review of an individual item could result in multiple category codes.

When reviewing an item, a check was made to determine if it fit within a category that had emerged from a previously reviewed item. This process was conducted one item at a time until all items were reviewed and coded.

#### Phase Two: Review of Competency Structures from Other Professions

The draft AEAEC competencies have been structured in a way that lists the individual competency items evaluators need for competent evaluation practice. Competency items were grouped into five domains based on similar topic areas. The topic domains used in the draft AEAEC include professional practice, methodology, context, planning and management, and interpersonal. Since evaluation is a broad field of practice, developers of the AEAEC sought to structure the competencies in a way that is inclusive to the multiple ways in which individuals can practice evaluation; therefore, the goal of the competency set is to be applicable across all evaluators (AEA, 2017). What has not been explored in the development of the AEAEC is how other professions structure their competency sets to better understand potential ways the AEAEC could be structured to better communicate the needed interpersonal competencies to those in the field and promote use. Phase Two explored this through document review to uncover ways that other professions structure their competency sets. The structure of a competency set consists of how the contents are organized, which can include arrangement or groupings of content, level of detail, and amount of detail. Analyzing the

structure of existing competency sets from other professions allowed for the identification of different ways competency sets can be structured.

## **Search and Selection of Competency Sets**

An internet search using the Google search engine was completed to identify existing professional competency sets. An internet search was an appropriate way to identify existing professional competency sets because it is a common place to disseminate this type of resource to those in a profession. The search was conducted using the terms "professional competencies" and "professional competencies associations." These two terms were used in the search because the goal was to identify competency sets developed and used by professional associations. In order for competency sets to be included in this first round of identification, they had to be (a) developed, or endorsed, and used by a professional membership association, (b) serving members in the United States, (c) for a profession that includes practice that requires interaction between the practitioner and stakeholders, (d) includes a form of individual practice, and (e) includes the possibility to work as a team with others in the profession. Since the draft AEA competencies were developed and will be used by the American Evaluation Association, the membership association for evaluators in the United States, the first two criteria were used to ensure that competencies would be used for a similar purpose and in a similar context. The last three criteria were also required for inclusion to ensure that practice within the profession was similar to the practice of evaluation where practitioners are practicing in a way that requires the use of interpersonal competencies. A practitioner within a profession would be required to use interpersonal competencies as they interact with stakeholders, work in a team with others in the profession, and practice as an individual.

As a result of the search, 25 sets of professional competencies were identified that met the criteria for inclusion (13 using the search terms "professional competencies" and 12 using the search terms "professional competencies associations"). With 25 sets of professional competencies identified using the two search terms, I stopped searching for additional competency sets and began reviewing the structure of each competency set identified in the search. Since the purpose of this study is exploratory, the next step was to see what structures emerged from the sets identified and determine if additional searching was necessary or if the competency sets identified were sufficient in providing insights into ways competency sets could be structured.

## Analysis

To identify the competency structures used by other professional associations, a qualitative content analysis was conducted using inductive category formation. The content analysis was completed at a high level where specific text was not examined, but rather the overall structural organization and components included in the document were examined.

Inductive category formation. To analyze the competency sets, an inductive approach was taken to form categories. First, each set was reviewed individually to understand how it was structured and to create or assign a category code. Reviewing the structure included examining what type of content was provided within the competency set and how that content was being organized. I documented how each competency set

was structured. If another competency set had a similar structure to one already reviewed, it was assigned the same category code. If the structure of the competency set was different from all of the previously reviewed competency sets, a new category code was created. Based on the exploratory purpose of this study and the identification of competency sets with differing structures, I did not search for additional competency sets to include in this review after the initial search. Since structure themes emerged and were repeated during my review, the competency sets included in this study provide informative examples of how other professions are structuring their competencies and could be used to explore further how the evaluation profession could structure the interpersonal competencies.

In addition to coding each competency set's structure, the content of the competency set document was reviewed for the stated uses of the competencies. It is important to understand the use of a competency set, as this should inform the structure. This information would be useful when interpreting how the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies could be structured to promote use. Early developers of competencies for program evaluators identified the challenges that can be addressed by having a set of professional competencies, including (a) incompetent practice due to no standardized licensing or credentialing, (b) difficulty in identifying qualified evaluators, (c) difficulty in identifying professional development needs and opportunities, (d) developing or selecting quality curriculum, and (e) the lack of research in the field (Stevahn et al., 2005a, p. 44). Based on these challenges, Stevahn et al. (2005a) provided four potential

uses of a set of competencies for evaluators: (1) improved training, (2) enhanced reflective practice, (3) advance research, and (4) professionalization of the field.

Coding the use of the professional competencies was also an inductive process.

Each document was reviewed to identify whether information on use was provided. If given, the content was assigned category codes. As use was being coded, if new uses emerged, new use category codes were developed. If a use was similar to a previously created use category code, it was assigned the existing code. The documentation provided by professions on how and why their competencies were developed varied from minimal to extensive. Most professions provided some information on use, which when coupled with their structure may shed light on why the structure they chose may have been a good fit.

# **Phase Three: Experienced Evaluator Interviews**

The third phase of the study addressed all research questions focusing on the interpersonal competencies experienced evaluators find essential to evaluation practice, ways they developed these interpersonal competencies, development needs that typically exist for new evaluators, and ways to promote use of the interpersonal competencies. A qualitative approach was used during this phase consisting of interviews with experienced evaluators. Merriam (2009) explains that "researchers conducting basic qualitative study would be interested in (a) how people interpret their experiences, (b) how they construct their worlds, and (c) what meaning they attribute to their experiences" (p. 23). From the interviewees' perspective, I wanted to understand their perspectives and experiences related to each research question (Fitzpatrick et al., 2004). Since realities can

be constructed and interpreted in multiple ways, interviews were used to understand those interpretations in a particular context at a given time (Merriam, 2009). With the exploratory intent of this study, I entered this inquiry with no assumptions that there would be one interpretation of the interpersonal competencies evaluators use, how they developed interpersonal competencies, or ways to promote use. Instead, I recognized that individual experiences may shape the perspectives of interviewees resulting in multiple interpretations.

# **Selection and Recruitment of Experienced Evaluators**

Since there is currently no regulation of evaluation practice in the United States, there was no systematic way to choose experienced evaluators at random from an existing list. Instead, a non-probability purposeful sample was selected to identify participants. Creswell (2007) defined purposeful sampling in qualitative research as when the researcher "selects individuals and sites for study because they can purposefully inform an understanding of the research problem and central phenomenon in the study" (p. 125). For this study, participants were purposefully sampled based on their ability to draw upon their own experiences as evaluators to answer the research questions.

To select a purposeful sample of experienced evaluators, selection criteria were set that listed the attributes essential to participate in the study. These criteria directly reflected the purpose of the study and guided the identification of participants that are information rich (Merriam, 2009). First, individuals identified for participation were currently practicing evaluation and identified evaluation as his or her primary occupation. The individual also needed to be practicing evaluation in the Twin Cities metro area of

Minnesota so all interviews could be conducted in-person. Also, since amount of evaluation experience would potentially influence an individual's ability to speak to the research questions, participants must have practiced evaluation for a minimum of 10 years; this will ensure that participants have practiced long enough to draw on multiple experiences of using interpersonal competencies in practice. Individuals selected to participate also needed to interact with evaluation stakeholders such as program managers and staff, decision makers, and participants as well as other evaluation team members through their practice of evaluation. In addition, they needed to have experience supervising evaluators new to practice and watching them develop competencies for evaluation practice.

To identify experienced evaluators who met the established criteria, recommendations were gathered from my doctoral committee who are all involved in the evaluation community in Minnesota and have relationships with experienced evaluators. As a group, my committee generated a list of experienced evaluators who met the criteria for participation in the study. From there, committee members reviewed the list individually to identify any additional experienced evaluators and reviewed the settings in which potential participants practiced evaluation in to ensure diversity among interviewees. Since the context in which evaluators practice can be diverse, when selecting participants from the list, I ensured there was diversity in the type of evaluator (i.e., internal or external) and setting in which they work (i.e., consulting firm, higher education, government agency, or school district) to make sure that I was including different perspectives and experiences. Potential participants were contacted through

email with an invitation to participate in this study. The email invitation included an introduction to myself, the purpose of the study, and rationale for their selection. For those who agreed to participate in an interview, an electronic verbal consent form (see Appendix A) and primary interview questions were sent by email for their review prior to the interview. In total, 12 experienced evaluators were interviewed. By interviewing 12 experienced evaluators, I was able to learn from a variety of perspectives and experiences; this helped ensure that the data collected did not too narrowly address the research questions, leaving out important experiences.

#### **Interview Process and Protocol**

The interview was semistructured, including a mix of more and less structured questions (Merriam, 2009). Overall, a set of questions guided the interview, but there was flexibility in wording and order to allow for the participant to present responses from their perspective and to address any new or emerging topics that surfaced (Merriam, 2009). The interview was guided by a set of primary questions, created to address the research questions, that were asked of all participants. Each primary question had prompt questions that were used depending on the participant responses to the primary question. The sequencing of the questions was used flexibly to accommodate the flow of the interview conversation. Questions asked in the interview focused on the following topics: experiences using and developing interpersonal competencies, the interpersonal competencies typically still in need of development by new evaluators, and ways to structure the interpersonal competencies to promote use. Prior to interviews, I piloted the interview protocol with two evaluation colleagues to ensure that the questions asked were

easily understood and would elicit responses that would help inform the study's research questions. Edits were made to the protocol based on feedback gathered during the pilot. (See Appendix B for the full interview protocol.)

All interviews were conducted in-person. The length of the interview was approximately 60 minutes. With permission from the participant, the interviews were audio recorded and transcribed for use in analysis. Field notes were also taken to document participant responses.

#### Analysis

To analyze the data collected through interviews, I followed the approach outlined by Merriam (2009) for analyzing qualitative data, which draws heavily on the constant comparative method first proposed by Glaser and Strauss (1967). The analysis process began as inductive and moved towards deductive as analysis progressed. The first step in analysis resulted in category construction. During this step, I read an interview transcript and recorded notes for sections of text that were relevant to the research questions; this process was inductive where open coding of the document occurred and allowed for themes to emerge from the data (Merriam, 2009).

After reading and open coding the transcript, I reviewed the codes created and began grouping codes that appeared to go together; this second step in analysis was deductive where analytical codes were developed through interpretation and reflection on meaning (Merriam, 2009). I created a list of these analytical codes to keep track of what emerged from the data. Then I repeated this first step with the next interview transcript keeping in mind the analytical codes already generated to see if they were also present in

the second transcript (Merriam, 2009). The list of analytical codes was updated as I continued this process for each interview transcript and served as the recurring themes, or categories, in my study (Merriam, 2009). Merriam (2009) defines these categories as the "conceptual elements that 'cover' or span many individual examples (or bits or units of the data you previously identified) of the category" (p. 181). I refined these categories as I moved through the data, refining and revising category names and creating subcategories as appropriate. The next step in analysis was to sort the categories and data. Using the categories developed, sections of text from interview transcripts were coded into the appropriate categories. Throughout analysis, Dedoose, a web-based platform for analyzing qualitative and mixed method research, was used to organize and manage the data analysis process.

#### Limitations

In each phase of the research, there were limitations that I, as the researcher, could not control. These limitations can influence the interpretations of this study's findings.

**Document review.** Documents used in Phase One and Phase Two of the study were not produced with the intention that they would be used in research. Competency sets were created to inform users of the competencies needed; therefore, the content included in each competency set document varied in the level of detail provided based on what the association or profession determined was appropriate during its development. In some cases, documents contained little detail, which can create room for interpretation when being analyzed. Despite this, competency set documents were the best source of

data to examine the research question as they included what the association had defined as essential competencies and provided examples of how competency sets are structured.

Interviews. In Phase Three of this study, the data collection method used was self-report through a semi-structured qualitative interview using open-ended questions. An advantage of using a self-report method is that the participants provide their own views directly. Participant views, the perceptions they have of themselves and their world, are unobtainable through other methods (Barker, Pistrang, & Robert, 2002). Self-reports can be easy to interpret, provide rich information, and can be practical to use (Paulhus & Vazire, 2009). Using open-ended questions, participants were able to share complex experiences, explain their answers, and express feelings (Barker et al., 2002).

There are also limitations to using self-reports. Self-reports can be inaccurate due errors in self-observation, issues with recall, and wanting to provide socially desirable responses (Paulhus & Vazire, 2009). In this study, it could have been difficult for participants to identify with accuracy what interpersonal competencies they use and to recall where they developed interpersonal competencies. Participants may have also felt compelled to provide responses that they thought were congruent with what they perceive the field values. Efforts were made to mitigate these issues by providing participants information about the study's purpose and questions to be explored in advance so they could begin to reflect in advance of the interview. I also conveyed that there were no right answers to the interview questions.

Due to the documents reviewed and interview questions asked in this study, another limitation was the inability to determine the importance of each interpersonal competency for practice. The occurrence of an interpersonal competency in a competency set or interview does not indicate the level of importance; therefore, caution must be paid when interpreting results so that no one attributes importance based on frequency of times a competency occurred in the data.

#### **Trustworthiness**

In qualitative research, the trustworthiness of a study is often described through meeting criteria of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). When conducting a qualitative study, trustworthiness is a concern for the researcher in every phase, from designing the study to the analysis and interpretation of results (Patton, 1990). Several steps were taken throughout this study to ensure trustworthiness. During design, I sought out feedback from colleagues to challenge my assumptions and provide an outsider perspective to the study design (Shenton, 2004). Feedback received assisted me in the refinement of study procedures and better articulation of my research design and rationale. Included in this process was the piloting of the interview protocol with two colleagues. During data collection, I worked to ensure honest responses from participants. To do so, interviewees were told the interview was voluntary, they could skip any question they did not want to answer, and they could end the interview or withdraw from the study at any time. I also worked to establish rapport with participants emphasizing they could speak openly when answering interview questions and reinforcing that there were no right answers to the questions I asked.

When analyzing and interpreting data, triangulation was used. Creswell and Miller (2000) defined triangulation as "a validity procedure where researchers search for

convergence among multiple and different sources of information to form themes or categories in a study" (p. 126). I analyzed the individual viewpoints and experiences of participants to identify commonalities among them (Shenton, 2004). Including participants who work in different evaluation settings ensured that participants would have experiences that differed based on factors such as the evaluation studies they have completed, stakeholders they have worked with, and organizational culture. Triangulating data across the different contexts in which participants practice evaluation increased confidence in the credibility and confirmability of findings (Shenton, 2004).

# **Institutional Review Board Approval**

This study was submitted to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Minnesota to determine whether the study qualified as human research and was required to go through the IRB review process. After reviewing the study interview protocol, verbal consent form, recruitment language, and required IRB form, the IRB determined the study did not involve human subjects and IRB review and approval was not required (see Appendix C for IRB determination correspondence).

## **Positionality**

As the researcher, my own position is important to present as it has implications for the research and can influence different aspects of the study such as the types of information collected or the way in which it is interpreted. As the designer of the study, I am invested in understanding how evaluators can develop their interpersonal competencies and how the field can promote use of the interpersonal competencies in an effort to improve the quality of evaluation studies. When I started practicing evaluation, I

quickly realized the importance and need for interpersonal competence. I was continuously drawing on my own interpersonal competencies in all phases of evaluation studies. Reflecting on my own experience as a graduate student, I realized that I had not been prepared through my coursework experience to address interpersonal issues as they came up. Instead, I relied on drawing from my previous professional experiences and soliciting advice from colleagues to address interpersonal issues. This piqued my interest in the interpersonal competencies other evaluators use in practice and how they developed these competencies. I was also interested in what the evaluation community thought about the best ways to promote the use of the interpersonal competencies necessary for practice.

As a white female working in evaluation, where a majority of those practicing are female and white, I expect that this will affect the way I approach the research process and interpret findings (AEA Member Survey Working Group, 2016). Also, as a practicing evaluator with experience navigating interpersonal issues that arise during evaluation studies, it is important to note that there is potential for me to relate other evaluators' experiences to my own and lead me to interpreting their responses based on my own perceptions, beliefs, and ideas. Throughout the study, I worked to separate my experiences from participant experiences by identifying my own biases that might have influenced design, data collection, and analysis. Throughout the study, I continually reflected on my biases and questioned the decisions and interpretations I made.

#### **Chapter Four: Comparative Analysis and Document Review Results**

Chapter Four presents the results from the comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies and the review of competency structures from other professions. As discussed in Chapter One, interpersonal competencies have been identified as important for the practice of evaluation. Because of this, there is a need for further exploration of the interpersonal competencies needed and how to structure them to promote use. The results from data collected and analyzed in this chapter will inform these areas.

First, the results of a comparative analysis of evaluator interpersonal competencies is presented, which explores the first research question: What interpersonal competencies are essential to the practice of evaluation? The comparative analysis was completed to better understand the interpersonal competencies needed for the practice of evaluation by identifying any potentially missing interpersonal competencies and to confirm those already included in the draft AEAEC. Second, a review of competency structures from other professions is presented exploring the second research question:

What are the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use? The review was completed to explore potential ways the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies could be structured to promote use among intended users.

# Results from the Comparative Analysis of Interpersonal Competencies for Evaluators

As described in Chapter Three, a comparative analysis of the interpersonal competencies included in existing sets of evaluator competencies was conducted to

inform the first research question. A total of ten sets of evaluator competencies developed by associations were identified and included in the comparative analysis. Table 4 shows the associations that had a set of evaluator competencies, the title of the competency set, the year the competencies were established or revised, and the domains within the competency sets that included interpersonal competencies (Table 4).

Table 4

Competency sets for evaluators included in the comparative analysis

Association and title of competency set	Year	Domains that included interpersonal
		competencies
(1) Aotearoa New Zealand Evaluation Association (anzea) <i>Evaluator Competencies</i> (Aotearoa New Zealand Evaluation Association [anzea], 2011)	2011	<ul> <li>Contextual Analysis and Engagement</li> <li>Evaluation Project Management and Professional Evaluation Practice</li> </ul>
(2) Australasian Evaluation Society (AES) Evaluators' Professional Learning Competency Framework (Australasian Evaluation Society [AES], 2013)	2013	• Interpersonal Skills
(3) Canadian Evaluation Society (CES)  Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice (CES, 2010)	2009	• Interpersonal Practice
(4) Deutsche Gesellschaft für Evaluation (DeGEval) Recommendations on Education and Training in Evaluation: Requirement Profiles for Evaluators (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Evaluation [DeGEval], 2015)	2013	Social and Personal Competencies
(5) European Evaluation Society (EES) <i>The EES Evaluation Capabilities Framework</i> (European Evaluation Society [EES], 2011)	2009	<ul><li> Evaluation Knowledge</li><li> Professional Practice</li></ul>
(6) International Development Evaluation Association (IDEAS) Competencies for Development Evaluation, Evaluators, Managers, and Commissioners (International Development Evaluation Association [IDEAS], 2012)	2012	<ul> <li>Communicating Evaluation Findings</li> <li>Managing the Evaluation</li> <li>Professional Foundations</li> <li>Promoting a Culture of Learning from Evaluation</li> </ul>
(7) Swiss Evaluation Society (SEVAL)  Evaluation Managers Competencies Framework (Swiss Evaluation Society [SEVAL], 2014)	2014	Communication, Social and Personal Competencies
(8) United Kingdom Evaluation Society (UKES) <i>UKES Evaluation Capabilities Framework</i> (United Kingdom Evaluation Society [UKES], 2012)	2012	Professional Practice
(9) United Nations Evaluation Group (UNEG)  Evaluation Competency Framework (United Nations Evaluation Group [UNEG], 2016)	2016	Interpersonal Skills
(10) Visitor Studies Association (VSA)  Evaluator Competencies for Professional  Development (Visitor Studies Association  [VSA], 2008)	2008	Business Practice, Project Planning, and Resource Management

Since the first step of analysis was deductive and used codes that corresponded to the themes of the ten draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies, results are presented first by these predetermined category codes to show where there are similarities to other sets of interpersonal competencies for evaluators. Category themes included that the evaluator is able to do the following: (a) interact ethically, (b) build relationships, (c) use appropriate social skills, (d) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives, (e) address issues of privilege and power dynamics, (f) communicate effectively, (g) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions, (h) collaborate with others, (i) negotiate, and (j) resolve conflict. Next, the competency items that did not fit within a predetermined code are presented along with the new themes that emerged. These new category themes included that the evaluator is able to do the following: (a) be an evaluation champion, (b) build evaluation capacity, (c) create a favorable working climate, (d) demonstrate professional credibility, and (e) demonstrate gender awareness. Most competency items were coded as one category theme, but two competency items from two different competency sets were coded as two category themes because the item content was applicable to more than one theme. Table 5 shows the draft AEAEC interpersonal competency items, the predetermined category code, and the number of competency sets that included an interpersonal competency within each category.

Similarities and differences to the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies

Code	N of sets with
The evaluator is able	similar content
to:	
Interact ethically	1
Build relationships	6
	4
skills	
Listen to understand	4
* *	
	0
·	
	9
effectively	
	6
•	
responsive interactions	
Collaborate with others	6
	6 7
	The evaluator is able to: Interact ethically Build relationships Use appropriate social skills

The evaluator is able to interact ethically. The first competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator interacts ethically in interpersonal relations at all times" (AEA, 2016, p. 2). "Interact ethically" was used to code competency items with this theme across the competency sets. One competency set included one competency item related to this theme (Table 6).

Competencies coded as "interact ethically"

Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
UKES Evaluation Capabilities	2.22 Shows ethical sensitivity in specific
Framework	socio/political contexts

The evaluator is able to build relationships. The second competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator values and fosters constructive interpersonal relations foundational for professional practice and evaluation use" (AEA, 2016, p. 2). "Build relationships" was used to code competency items with this theme across the competency sets. Six sets of competencies included one or more competency item related to this theme resulting in seven competency items with this code (Table 7).

Competencies coded as "build relationships" Competency Set **Interpersonal Competency Item** anzea Evaluator Competencies A demonstrated ability to develop collaborative, co-operative and respectful relationships with those involved in and affected by the evaluation (stakeholders) and evaluation team members. A demonstrated ability to provide, as an individual evaluator or to form an evaluation team that has, both credibility in that context and the range of relevant connections/ relationships, knowledge, skills and experience. AES Evaluators' Professional Evaluators have the capacity to build relationships with a range of people. Learning Competency Framework DeGeEval Recommendations on Development and arrangement of contacts Education and Training in Evaluation – Requirement Profiles for Evaluators EES Evaluation Capabilities 2.25 Nurtures professional relationships Framework IDEAS Competencies for 4.1 Builds and maintains constructive relationships with partners, evaluation Development Evaluation, Evaluators, Managers, and commissioners, and other stakeholders. **Commissioners UNEG** Evaluation Competency Is able to build networks and partnerships with Framework various stakeholders in order to leverage greater results and use of evaluations

The evaluator is able to use appropriate social skills. The third competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator uses appropriate social skills to build trust and enhance interaction for evaluation practice" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Use appropriate social skills" was used to code competency items with this theme across the competency sets. Four sets of competencies included a competency item related to this theme resulting in four competency items with this code (Table 8).

Competencies coded as	"uses appropriate social skills"
Compatanay Sat	Interpersonal Con

Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
anzea Evaluator Competencies	A demonstrated ability to engage in respectful
	and mana-enhancing relationships.
CES Competencies for Canadian	5.7 Uses interpersonal skills (individual and
Evaluation Practice	teams)
EES Evaluation Capabilities	2.2 Displays interpersonal skills
Framework	
UKES Evaluation Capabilities	2.2 Demonstrates interpersonal skills
Framework	

## The evaluator is able to listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives.

The fourth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator listens to understand, engage, and honor diverse perspectives" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Four sets of competencies included one or more competency related to this theme resulting in eight competency items with this code (Table 9).

Table 9

Competencies coded as "lister	n to understand and engage diverse perspectives"
Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
AES Evaluators'	Evaluators listen for and respects others' points of view
Professional Learning	•
Competency Framework	Evaluators display empathy
	Evaluators maintain an objective perspective
	Evaluators listen to build confidence and effective
	representation amongst evaluation participants
DeGeEval Recommendations	Adoption of perspectives and empathy
on Education and Training	
in Evaluation – Requirement	
Profiles for Evaluators	
IDEAS Competencies for	6.2 Provides opportunity for those evaluated to review
Development Evaluation,	and comment on the draft evaluation and its findings,
Evaluators, Managers, and	conclusions, and recommendations, and incorporates the
Commissioners	feedback as appropriate.
UNEG Evaluation	Has the ability to actively listen to others and
Competency Framework	encourages comprehensive responses from evaluation participants
	Is able to integrate diverse perspectives and deal with challenging dynamics

The evaluator is able to address issues of privilege and power dynamics. The fifth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator addresses issues of privilege and power dynamics in interpersonal relations" (AEA, 2016, p. 2). "Address issues of privilege and power dynamics" was used as a code when reviewing all competency sets. No other competency sets reviewed included a competency item related to this theme.

The evaluator is able to communicate effectively. The sixth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator communicates in meaningful ways throughout the evaluation (written, verbal, visual, etc.)" (AEA, 2106, p.

2). "Communicate effectively" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Nine sets of competencies included one or more competency related to this theme resulting in twenty competency items with this code (Table 10).

Table 10

**UKES** Evaluation

Capabilities Framework
UNEG Evaluation

Competencies coded as "communicate effectively" Competency Set Interpersonal Competency Item AES Evaluators' Evaluators use written communication skills and Professional Learning technologies in evaluation practice Competency Framework Evaluators use verbal communication skills to engage with all evaluation stakeholders Evaluators use non-verbal communication skills where relevant and appropriate CES Competencies for 5.1 Uses written communication skills and technologies Canadian Evaluation Practice 5.2 Uses verbal communication skills 5.3 Uses listening skills DeGeEval Communication theory Recommendations on Education and Training in Practice I: Listening and talking Evaluation – Requirement Profiles for Evaluators Practice II: Reading and writing Presenting and moderating EES Evaluation 2.21 Writes fluently and communicates clearly Capabilities Framework **IDEAS** Competencies for 6.1 Raises awareness and use of evaluations through Development Evaluation, effective communication in each stage of the evaluation, Evaluators, Managers, and promoting transparency of the evaluation methods, and to Commissioners the extent possible, publically disseminating the evaluation findings and developing targeted presentations, as set out in a dissemination plan. SEVAL Evaluation D2 Demonstrates social and interpersonal communication competencies Managers Competencies Framework

2.21 Writes fluently and communicates clearly

Is able to articulate clear results and play key roles in

Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
Competency Framework	brokering the acceptance and understanding of evaluation findings
	Writes clearly and concisely and can communicate complex technical evaluation concepts and results in ways that non- experts can easily understand
	Is able to adapt communication to different audiences
	Is able to communicate the needs of others, building strong cross-functional alliances
	Is able to develop a communication plan that shares the knowledge gained through the evaluation in order to ensure appropriate dissemination of evaluation findings to all relevant stakeholders
VSA Evaluator Competencies for	D.3 The learner can demonstrate professional administrative and business writing skills.
Professional Development	

# The evaluator is able to facilitate constructive and culturally responsive

interactions. The seventh competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator facilitates constructive and culturally responsive interaction throughout the evaluation" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Six sets of competencies included a competency item related to this theme resulting in nine competency items with this code (Table 11).

Competencies coded as "facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions"

Competencies coded as facilitate co	Intermedial Commutative House	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Interpersonal Competency Item	
AES Evaluators' Professional	Evaluators attend to issues of diversity and	
Learning Competency Framework	culture throughout all communication planning	
	and processes	
	Evaluators use facilitation skills (group work),	
	interpersonal skills (individual and teams) and	
	conflict resolution skills to elicit robust	
	qualitative input to evaluation data	
CES Competencies for Canadian	5.9 Attends to issues of diversity and culture	
Evaluation Practice		
	5.6 Uses facilitation skills (group work)	
EES Evaluation Capabilities	2.24 Demonstrates gender awareness and cultural	
Framework	sensitivity	
	Knows how to engage constructively with all	
	stakeholders	
IDEAS Competencies for	1.5 Displays appropriate cross-cultural	
Development Evaluation,	competence and cultural sensitivity.	
Evaluators, Managers, and	•	
Commissioners		
UKES Evaluation Capabilities	2.24 Demonstrates cultural and gender awareness	
Framework	č	
UNEG Evaluation Competency	Has the ability to employ mechanisms to engage	
Framework	users and beneficiaries in evaluation processes	
	using techniques that support open and honest	
	dialogue	

The evaluator is able to collaborate with others. The eighth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator collaborates and engages in teamwork" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Collaborate with others" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Six sets of competencies included a competency item related to this theme resulting in six competency items with this code (Table 12).

Table 12

Competencies coded as "collaborate with others"

Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
AES Evaluators' Professional	Evaluators collaborate and partner with
Learning Competency Framework	stakeholders to engage them in evaluation
	processes
CES Competencies for Canadian	5.8 Uses collaboration/partnering skills
Evaluation Practice	
DeGeEval Recommendations on	Cooperation and group working
Education and Training in	
Evaluation – Requirement Profiles	
for Evaluators	
EES Evaluation Capabilities	2.22 Values team work and leads by example
Framework	
IDEAS Competencies for	4.1 Participates in the evaluation as a team
Development Evaluation,	member, demonstrating strong leadership and
Evaluators, Managers, and	team skills.
Commissioners	
VSA Evaluator Competencies for	D.2 Has the learner participated as part of a team
Professional Development	(lead or sole PI as well as team member
	acceptable) on a visitor studies project?
	The state of the s

The evaluator is able to negotiate. The ninth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator negotiates decisions for evaluation practice" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Negotiate" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Seven sets of competencies included one or more competency related to this theme resulting in eight competency items with this code (Table 13).

Table 13

Competencies coded as "negotiate"

Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item
AES Evaluators' Professional Learning Competency Framework	Evaluators negotiate to balance stakeholder views and acceptance of evaluation findings
CES Competencies for Canadian Evaluation Practice	5.4 Uses negotiation skills
DeGeEval Recommendations on Education and Training in Evaluation – Requirement Profiles for Evaluators	Negotiating
EES Evaluation Capabilities Framework	2.23 Uses sound negotiating conflict resolution skills
SEVAL Evaluation Managers Competencies Framework	D3 Competent in negotiating and mediating with a wide range of stakeholders
UKES Evaluation Capabilities Framework	2.23 Uses sound negotiating skills
UNEG Evaluation Competency Framework	Is able to assist evaluation commissioners and users in setting evaluation priorities and methods that are consistent with the purposes of the evaluation and the resources available
	Is able to negotiate conditions and circumstances that are conducive to effective and high-quality evaluation processes without compromising ethical conduct

The evaluator is able to resolve conflict effectively. The tenth competency in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain is "the competent evaluator addresses conflicts constructively" (AEA, 2106, p. 2). "Resolve conflict" was used to code competency items related to this theme across the competency sets. Six sets of competencies included a competency item related to this theme resulting in six competency items with this code (Table 14).

Competencies coded as "resolve conflict"

Competencies coded as Tesotive conflict		
Competency Set	Interpersonal Competency Item	
AES Evaluators' Professional	Evaluators use facilitation skills (group work),	
Learning Competency Framework	interpersonal skills (individual and teams) and	
	conflict resolution skills to elicit robust qualitative	
	input to evaluation data	
CES Competencies for Canadian	5.5 Uses conflict resolution skills	
Evaluation Practice		
DeGeEval Recommendations on	Feedback and conflict management ability	
Education and Training in		
Evaluation – Requirement Profiles		
for Evaluators		
EES Evaluation Capabilities	2.23 Uses sound negotiating conflict resolution	
Framework	skills	
SEVAL Evaluation Managers	D4 Demonstrates ability to manage conflict	
Competencies Framework		
UKES Evaluation Capabilities	2.26 Manages conflicts of interests and values	
Framework	fairly	

### **Emerging Themes**

After reviewing the interpersonal competencies from each competency set and coding competency items that had the same theme as one of the ten interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC, five competency items from five different competency sets were not assigned a code because they did not fit in one of the preexisting themes. Five new themes resulted from these competency items (Table 15). The themes that emerged from this comparative analysis were only represented in one competency set with the exception of "demonstrate gender awareness," which was included in two sets. As noted above, one competency item from the IDEAS \*Competencies for Development Evaluation, Evaluators, Managers, and Commissioners received two codes since the content included two different themes.

Table 15

New category themes, competency set source, and interpersonal competency item		
Code	Competency Set Source	Interpersonal Competency
The evaluator is able		Item
to:		
Be an evaluation	IDEAS Competencies for	7.3 Champions evaluation and
champion	Development Evaluation,	seeks to build the evaluation
_	Evaluators, Managers, and	capacity of others.
Build evaluation	Commissioners	-
capacity		
Create a favorable	SEVAL Evaluation	D1 Capable of creating a
working climate	Managers Competencies	favourable (sic) working
	Framework	climate based on confidence,
		trust and impartiality
Demonstrate	CES Competencies for	5.10 Demonstrates
professional credibility	Canadian Evaluation	professional credibility
•	Practice	
Demonstrate gender	EES Evaluation Capabilities	2.24 Demonstrates gender
awareness	Framework	awareness and cultural
		sensitivity
	UKES Evaluation	2.24 Demonstrates cultural
	Capabilities Framework	and gender awareness

To summarize the results of the comparative analysis, nine of the ten interpersonal competency themes included in the draft AEAEC were also included in other sets of evaluator competencies. For individual draft AEAEC interpersonal competency items, the number of other competency sets that included a similar interpersonal competency ranged from zero to nine. The competency items that appeared in other competency sets most frequently were "communicate effectively," "negotiate," and "build relationships." Five additional interpersonal competency themes emerged from the comparative analysis that were not included in the draft AEAEC interpersonal domain. Table 16 shows all category codes and the competency sets that included a

competency item for each code. [The competency set number used in Table 16 corresponds to its number listed in Table 4.]

Table 16
Summary of competency sets that included a competency item for each code

Competency set											
Draft AEAEC Interpersonal Competency	Code	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
• •	The evaluator is able to:										
Communicates in meaningful ways throughout the	Communicate effectively		X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
evaluation (written, verbal, visual, etc.).	•										1
Negotiates decisions for evaluation practice.	Negotiate		X	X	X	X		X	X	X	
Values and fosters constructive interpersonal relations Build relationships		X	X		X	X	X			X	
foundational for professional practice and evaluation											1
use.											<u> </u>
Facilitates constructive and culturally responsive	Facilitate constructive and culturally		X	X		X	X		X	X	
interaction throughout the evaluation.	responsive interactions										<u> </u>
Collaborates and engages in teamwork.  Collaborate with others			X	X	X	X	X				X
Addresses conflicts constructively. Resolve conflict			X	X	X	X		X	X		
Uses appropriate social skills to build trust and	Use appropriate social skills	X		X		X			X		
enhance interaction for evaluation practice.											<u>L</u>
Listens to understand, engage, and honor diverse	Listen to understand and engage		X		X		X			X	
perspectives.	diverse perspectives										<u> </u>
	Demonstrate gender awareness					X			X		<u>L</u>
Interacts ethically in interpersonal relations at all	Interact ethically								X		
times.											<u> </u>
	Be an evaluation champion						X				
	Build evaluation capacity						X				
	Create a favorable working climate							X			
	Demonstrate professional credibility			X							
Addresses issues of privilege and power dynamics in	Address issues of privilege and										
interpersonal relations.	power dynamics										ĺ

*Note*. Competency set number corresponds to number listed in Table 4.

#### Results from the Review of Competency Structures from Other Professions

As described in Chapter Three, a review of how other professions structure competencies was conducted to inform the fourth research question, focusing on the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use. Reviewing the ways in which other professions structure their competency sets can inform the potential ways the draft AEAEC could be structured to better communicate competencies needed for evaluation practice, and in particular interpersonal competencies, for the purposes of this study. A total of 25 sets of professional competencies were identified that met the criteria for inclusion and were included in the review.

#### **Competency Uses**

In exploring how other professions structure their competencies, it is important to understand the use or purpose of the competency set, as use often drives content and structure. Through this review, the intended use of each profession's competency set was coded, if given, and included within each of the competency structure results. The documentation provided by professions on how and why their competencies were developed varied from minimal to extensive. Of the 25 competency sets reviewed, only 3 professions did not provide a stated use for their competencies. The review detailed seven different uses by the professional associations included in this study, which included the following: (a) curriculum development (n=15), (b) professional development (n=14), (c) graduate expectations (n=8), (d) supervision and assessment of employees (n=8), (e) self-assessment (n=5), (f) recruitment and hiring (n=5), and (g) promoting and advocating for

the profession (n=4). The following table (Table 17) provides a description of each type of use.

Table 17

Descriptions of competency set uses

Descriptions of competency se Competency Set Uses	Description of Use
(a) Curriculum development	To provide a framework for developing, aligning, and evaluating curriculum to what students will need to learn in order to practice.
(b) Professional development	For individual practitioners to identify and select learning opportunities that align with areas they desire growth. Employers can use competencies as a framework for developing professional development plans, identifying learning opportunities for employees, and guide career development. Professional associations can use competencies to determine professional development offerings that would benefit the field.
(c) Graduate expectations	To set graduate expectations around the knowledge, skills, and dispositions students should have developed and possess by the time they graduate from an educational program in their profession.
(d) Supervision and assessment of employees	To serve as a framework for managers to evaluate and manage performance.
(e) Self-assessment	To enhance the reflective practice of practitioners by being a guide to assess their current level of proficiency in the competencies in order to identify areas where there is opportunity for growth, to set goals, and to track progress.
(f) Recruitment and hiring	For managers to guide the creation of job descriptions and postings and to establish the criteria for evaluating and selecting qualified candidates.
(g) Promoting and advocating for the profession	To demonstrate the importance of the profession's work, communicate the value practitioners have for organizational performance, educate the public on the purpose and function of the profession, and attract future practitioners.

#### **Competency Structures**

Four structures emerged from the review of all competency sets that met the inclusion criteria. These structures were labeled as follows: (a) categorized competencies only, (b) job function, (c) levels of expertise, and (d) developmental level. The following table (Table 18) provides a description of each competency structure. Each of these structures is further described in the following sections along with the competency sets that were identified to have the corresponding structure.

Table 18

Descriptions of competency set structures

Competency Structure	Description of Structure
Categorized competencies only	Competency items are grouped into topical competency domains with no additional organizing within the competency set; this is how the draft AEAEC is structured.
Job function	Competency items are organized by the different job functions a professional might have, such as the roles, duties, or responsibilities that an individual could have within the profession. For example, a college or university career services professional could have a role in functional areas such as career coaching, advising, outreach, and/or training.
Levels of expertise	Competency items are organized around the progressive levels of knowledge, skills, abilities, or dispositions an individual needs to be successful in their role within a profession.
Developmental level	Competency items are organized by the specific stages individuals are in during their training or education in a profession, for example, readiness for a practicum, internship, or entry into practice.

Categorized competencies only. Of the 25 competency sets identified and reviewed, 16 (64%) were structured like the draft AEAEC (Table 19). Like the AEAEC, the competencies given the structure label "categorized competencies only" grouped competency items into similar topics or themes, often referred to as domains. Domains

were labeled to indicate the common theme across the competency items within the domain. In addition to the domain label, seven competency sets also included a description of the domain. These descriptions provided additional information for the reader to understand the grouping of the competencies by stating what is included in the domain. Four competency sets further grouped competencies within a domain to create subdomains. Competency sets that included domain descriptions or subdomains are identified in Table 19. [For the remaining tables in this chapter, the use of competencies letter used in the table corresponds to letter listed in Table 17.]

Table 19

Competency sets structured as "categorized competencies only"

				Use	of c	comp	eten	cies	
Association and title of competency set	Include a domain description	Include sub- domains	a	b	c	d	e	f	g
American Camp Association (ACA) ACA Core Competencies (American Camp Association [ACA], n.d.)	No	No	X	X		X			
American Dental Education Association (ADEA) Competencies for the New General Dentist (American Dental Education Association [ADEA], 2008)	No	No	X			X			
American Library Association (ALA) ALA's Core Competences of Librarianship (American Library Association [ALA], 2009)	No	No			X				
American Music Therapy Association (AMTA) <i>American Music Therapy Association Professional Competencies</i> (American Music Therapy Association [AMTA], 2013).	No	Yes	X						
American School Counselor Association (ASCA) ASCA School Counselor Competencies (American School Counselor Association [ASCA], n.d.)	Yes	Yes		X	X	X	X	X	
Association for Child and Youth Care Practice (ACYCP)  Competencies for Professional Child & Youth Work Practitioners  (Association for Child and Youth Care Practice [ACYCP], 2010)	Yes	Yes	X		X				
Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges (AANMC) AANMC Professional Competencies of the Graduating Naturopathic Physicians (Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges [AANMC], 2014)	Yes	No	X		X				X
Association of Fraternity and Sorority Advisors <i>Core Competencies</i> (Association of Fraternity/Sorority Advisors, n.d.)	No	No		X					X
Medical Library Association (MLA) MLA's Competencies for Lifelong Learning and Professional Success (Medical Library	No	No		X					

				Use	of c	comp	eten	cies	
Association and title of competency set	Include a domain description	Include sub- domains	a	b	С	d	e	f	g
Association [MLA], n.d.)									
National Alliance for Direct Support Professionals (NADSP)	Yes	No		X			X		
NADSP Competency Areas (National Alliance for Direct Support									
Professionals [NADSP], n.d.)									
National Association of Chronic Disease Directors (NACDD)	Yes	No							
Competencies for Chronic Disease Practice (National									
Association of Chronic Disease Directors [NACDD], n.d.)									
National Coalition for Health Professional Education in Genetics	No	No	X	X					
(NCHPEG) Core Competencies in Genetics for Health									
Professionals (National Coalition for Health Professional									
Education in Genetics [NCHPEG], 2007)									
Physician Assistant Education Association (PAEA) Competencies	No	No		X					
for the Physician Assistant Profession (Physician Assistant									
Education Association [PAEA], 2012)									
Qualitative Research Consultants Association (QRCA)	No	No	X	X		X	X	X	
Professional Competencies for Qualitative Research									
Professionals (Qualitative Research Consultants Association									
[QRCA], 2003)									
Reference and User Services Association (RUSA) Professional	Yes	Yes							
Competencies for Reference and User Services Librarians									
(Reference and User Services Association [RUSA], 2003)									
Special Libraries Association (SLA) Competencies for	Yes	No	X	X		X		X	X
Information Professionals (Special Libraries Association [SLA],									
2016)									

*Note.* "Use of competencies" letter corresponds to the letter listed in Table 17.

Job function. Four competency sets structured competency items by job function (Table 20). The job functions, which include the roles, duties, or responsibilities an individual can have within the profession, are identified and the competencies required of that job function are listed. Within the job function structure, topical domains are used to provide further structure. Each of the competency sets that was coded with the job function label is organized in a different way, described next.

The American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers (AACRAO) AACRAO Core Professional Competencies are structured by job function and level of expertise (American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers [AACRAO], 2015). Level of expertise will be described further in the next section. At the highest level, competency items are divided by the core professional competencies needed by all practicing within the professional and three job function-specific competency areas: admissions, enrollment management, and registrar. Within the job function categories, competency items are grouped into topical domains and are presented by level of expertise: entry level, intermediate level, and expert level. Also, within each domain, a functional description of the domain is given along with content knowledge requirements, skill requirements, and ethical requirements. No information is provided on the intended use of the AACRAO Core Professional Competencies.

The American Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges (AANMC) *Professional Competency Profile* is organized by the five "key roles" that are required for a naturopathic doctor, which include naturopathic: medical expert, manager, professional, health scholar, and health advocate (Association of Accredited Naturopathic

Medical Colleges [AANMC], 2007). Each role is briefly described and followed by a list of competencies for the specific role. AANMC views the roles of those practicing naturopathic medicine as not being "mutually exclusive; rather, they influence and overlap one another" (AANMC, 2007, p. 4). An individual practicing as a naturopathic doctor would take on all five roles and thus need to have the competencies specified for each role. The intended use of the competency set is to inform the development of curriculum by providing the common competency-based curriculum elements (AANMC, 2007).

The National Association for College Admission Counseling (NACAC) Counselor Competencies are organized by the two roles its members can practice within the profession: school counselors, and college admissions counselors (National Association for College Admission Counseling [NACAC], 2000). Each role is described and followed by competencies grouped into topical domains. Across the two roles the domains are the same with individual competencies tailored to the role. Depending on their counseling role, individuals should possess all of the competencies in their role "if they are to assist students effectively in realizing their full personal and educational potential" (NACAC, 2000, p. 2). The intended use of the competency set is for curriculum development and promoting continued competency development through formal degree programs and professional development opportunities (NACAC, 2000).

The National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) NACE's

Professional Competencies for College and University Career Services Practitioners are
organized by job function and level of expertise (National Association of Colleges and

Employers [NACE], 2013). Level of expertise will be described further in the next section. The job function is called the "functional area," which includes career coaching, advising, and counseling; brokering, connecting, and linking; information management; marketing, promoting, and performing outreach; program and event administration; research, assessment, and evaluation; teaching, training, and educating; and management and administration. Each functional area has a short definition, and competency items that correspond to the job function are grouped into topical domains. Individual career services practitioners may not be working in all of the functional areas, but rather a subset of functional areas; therefore, individuals only need to have the competencies required for the functional area in which they practice (NACE, 2013). The competency set is intended to be used for individual practitioners to develop professional development goals to support career advancement in the field and for supervisors to understand what is required for the different functional levels and professional development opportunities (NACE, 2013).

Table 20

Competency sets structured as "job function" and intended use

Competency sets structi	ompetency sets structured as "job function" and intended use  Use of competer						cies	
Association and title of competency set	Job function label	a	b	c	d	e	f	g
American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers (AACRAO) AACRAO Core Professional Competencies (AACRAO, 2015)	<ul> <li>Core Professional Competencies Admissions</li> <li>Enrollment Management</li> <li>Registrar</li> </ul>							
Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges (AANMC) Professional Competency Profile (AANMC, 2007)	<ul> <li>Naturopathic Medical Expert</li> <li>Naturopathic Manager</li> <li>Naturopathic Professional</li> <li>Naturopathic Health Scholar</li> <li>Naturopathic Health Advocate</li> </ul>	X						
National Association for College Admission Counseling (NACAC) Counselor Competencies (NACAC, 2000)	<ul><li>School Counselor</li><li>College Admissions Counselor</li></ul>	X	X					
National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) NACE's Professional Competencies for College and University Career Services Practitioners (NACE, 2013)	<ul> <li>Career Coaching,         Advising, and Counseling</li> <li>Brokering, Connecting,         and Linking</li> <li>Information Management         Marketing, Promoting,         and Performing Outreach</li> <li>Program and Event         Administration; Research,         Assessment, and         Evaluation Teaching,         Training</li> <li>Educating Management         and Administration</li> </ul>		X		X			

Note. "Use of competencies" letter corresponds to letter listed in Table 17.

Levels of expertise. Five sets of competencies were structured by levels of expertise (Table 21). Levels of expertise are the progressive levels of knowledge, skills, and abilities that are required to practice competently within professional roles with increasing responsibility. Across competency sets using the level of expertise structure, competency items are grouped into topical domains, but how the domains are presented by level of expertise can differ. Competency sets using this structure are each described next.

The ACPA-College Student Educators International and NASPA-Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education Professional Competency Areas for Student Affairs Educators are, at the highest level, organized by topical domains (ACPA-College Student Educators International and NASPA-Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education [ACPA NASPA], 2015). Each domain includes a description of the domain and then presents competencies grouped by foundational, intermediate, and advanced levels. Competency items at the foundational level are a necessary foundation upon which intermediate and advanced level competences can be built (ACPA NASPA, 2015). If individuals possess the competency items within a domain, they can be reasonably confident that they are proficient for that domain within the given level (ACPA NASPA, 2015). An individual also may be in multiple levels at one time. For example, an individual may have not mastered all of the foundational competencies, but has mastered other competencies at the intermediate or advanced level (ACPA NASPA, 2015). Due to this, developers of the competencies point out that because an individual has met some intermediate or advanced level domains, this should not be confused with intermediate or

advanced level capability (ACPA NASPA, 2015). Also, the advancement from one level to another should not be equated with years of experience or job title as these do not guarantee increased proficiency in competencies (ACPA NASPA, 2015). Developers of competencies included several potential uses that would assist student affairs educators to succeed academically and professionally, including to develop learning outcomes, set expectations for graduates, self-assessment of proficiency levels, guide professional development selections, develop position descriptions, conduct performance evaluations, and advocate for the profession (ACPA NASPA, 2015).

As described in the previous section, the American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers (AACRAO) AACRAO Core Professional Competencies are structured by level of expertise and job function (AACRAO, 2015). Competency items are divided by the core professional competencies needed by all practicing within the professional, and three job function specific competency areas and are then grouped into topical domains. Within each of these topical domains, competency items are presented by level of expertise, which include entry level, intermediate level, and expert level. No information is provided on the intended use of the AACRAO Core Professional Competencies.

The National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC)

NAEYC Standards for Initial and Advanced Early Childhood Professional Preparation

Programs are at the highest level structured by two levels of expertise titled the Initial

Standards and Advanced Standards (National Association for the Education of Young

Children [NAEYC], 2015). The Initial Standards are the expectations for first time early

childhood licensure and positions in early learning settings that do not require licensure (NAEYC, 2015). The Advanced Standards are the expectations for advanced roles in the early childhood profession, including accomplished or mentor teachers, program administrators, teacher educators, researchers, and policy makers (NAEYC, 2015, p. 9). For each level of expertise there are topical domains called standards. The standards are the same across both levels. Each standard includes a short description of the standard of what a well prepared practitioner should know and be able to do (NAEYC, 2015). Within each standard is a list of competency items, called key elements, that break out the components of each standard and focus on what practitioners should know, understand, and be able to do (NAEYC, 2015). Supporting explanation is also included, which gives a rationale of why the standard is important for teacher education programs and early childhood professional preparation. Although NAEYC uses the terminology of standards and key elements, throughout the Standards for Initial and Advanced Early Childhood Professional Preparation Programs the term competencies is used to define what the standards are and thus have been included in this review (NAEYC, 2015). One intended use of the competency set is curriculum and training development for higher education accreditation systems and professional development programs. The competencies also set the expectations for those preparing to enter the early childhood profession and support professional credentialing structures (NAEYC, 2015).

The National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) *NACE's Professional Competencies for College and University Career Services Practitioners* are organized by level of expertise and job function (NACE, 2013). At the highest level, the

competency set is structured by functional areas, as described in the previous section. Within each functional area, the competency items are presented by level of expertise and grouped into topical domains. The levels of expertise include basic, intermediate, and advanced. NACE describes the levels of expertise as the progressive levels of knowledge, skills, and abilities required to be successfully in roles of increasing responsibility within the profession (NACE, 2013). Individuals in mid- or upper-level management positions would be expected to operate at the intermediate or advanced levels, and new or entry positions would function at the basic level (NACE, 2013). NACE points out that individuals functioning at a specific level of expertise should also be able to demonstrate the competency items in the levels below where they are currently functioning (NACE, 2013).

NIRSA: Leaders in Collegiate Recreation *Professional Competencies for Leaders in Collegiate Recreation* are structured, at the highest level, by topical domains that include a rationale for inclusion of the domain (NIRSA: Leaders in Collegiate Recreation [NIRSA], 2009). Within each domain are several topical subdomains. Competency items within each subdomain are presented by level of expertise that includes basic, intermediate, and advanced. NIRSA points out that levels of expertise are not tied to position titles and that individuals may find themselves at the different levels depending on their area of responsibility (NIRSA, 2009). Although practitioners in the profession should be able to achieve the basic level, NIRSA does not expect that individuals will work towards being at the advanced level for all competencies (NIRSA, 2009). Instead, an individual's work experience, education, development opportunities, and interests will

contribute to placement and growth within the competency set (NIRSA, 2009). The intended use of the competencies is to provide a framework for ongoing competency-based professional development and to inspire the purposeful acquisition of new skills (NIRSA, 2009). This includes the guidance on the development of training and identifying professional development needs. In addition, the competencies can be used to recruit and select candidates and assess and manage employee performance (NIRSA, 2009).

Table 21

Competency sets structured as "levels of expertise" and intended use

Competency sets structured as	levels of expertise	ana i		ed use					
			1	Use of competencies					
Association and title of	Levels of	a	b	c	d	e	f	g	
competency set	expertise labels								
ACPA-College Student	<ul> <li>Foundational</li> </ul>	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
Educators International and	<ul> <li>Intermediate</li> </ul>								
NASPA-Student Affairs	<ul> <li>Advanced</li> </ul>								
Administrators in Higher									
Education Professional									
Competency Areas for									
Student Affairs Educators									
(ACPA NASPA, 2015)									
American Association of	Entry level								
Collegiate Registrars and	<ul> <li>Intermediate</li> </ul>								
Admissions Officers	level								
(AACRAO) AACRAO Core	<ul> <li>Expert level</li> </ul>								
Professional Competencies	r								
(AACRAO, 2015)									
National Association for the	• Initial	X	X	X					
Education of Young	standards								
Children	<ul> <li>Advanced</li> </ul>								
(NAEYC) NAEYC Standards	standards								
for Initial and Advanced									
Early Childhood									
Professional Preparation									
Programs (NAEYC, 2015)									
National Association of	• Basic		X		X				
Colleges and Employers	<ul> <li>Intermediate</li> </ul>								
(NACE) NACE's	<ul> <li>Advanced</li> </ul>								
Professional Competencies	11a vanova								
for College and University									
Career Services									
Practitioners (NACE, 2013)									
NIRSA: Leaders in	• Basic	X	X		X	X	X		
Collegiate Recreation	<ul> <li>Intermediate</li> </ul>								
Professional Competencies	<ul> <li>Advanced</li> </ul>								
for Leaders in Collegiate	1 Id , unicou								
Recreation (NIRSA, 2009)									
		•				•			

*Note.* "Use of competencies" letter corresponds to the letter listed in Table 17.

**Developmental levels.** Two sets of competencies were structured by developmental levels (Table 22). Developmental levels are the stage that individuals are in during their training or education in a profession. For both competency sets with this label, the American Psychological Association (APA) Competency Benchmarks for Professional Psychology and the Council of Counseling Psychology Training Programs (CCPTP) Counseling Psychology Core Competencies, developmental levels included readiness for practicum, readiness for internship, and readiness for entry into practice (American Psychological Association [APA], 2011; Council of Counseling Psychology Training Programs [CCPTP], 2013). At the highest level, competency items are grouped into topical domains. Competency items are listed within each domain and behavioral anchors are provided by developmental level. The behavioral anchors are what would demonstrate attainment of a competency at a given developmental level and are the minimum skills necessary to proceed to the next developmental level (APA, 2011; CCPTP, 2013). For example, in the domain "Relationships," one competency is "Affective Skills," students who are in the practicum level would demonstrate they are ready for internship if they exhibit behaviors related to "displays affective skills" (APA, 2011, p. 5). Students in the internship level would demonstrate they are ready for entry to practice if they exhibit behaviors related to "negotiates differences and handles conflict satisfactorily; provides effective feedback to others and receives feedback nondefensively" (APA, 2011, p. 5). Students preparing for entry into practice would demonstrate they are ready for practice if they exhibit behaviors related to "manages difficult communication; possesses advanced interpersonal skills" (APA, 2011).

The overall structure of both competency sets is similar since the *CCPTP* Counseling Psychology Core Competencies were adapted from the APA Competency Benchmarks for Professional Psychology. Since the APA Competency Benchmarks for Professional Psychology were intended to serve as a modifiable template for training programs to identify the competencies needed for specific psychology specialties, they were adapted to include additional areas specific to counseling psychology in the development of the CCPTP Counseling Psychology Core Competencies (CCPTP, 2013). One difference between the competency sets is that the CCPTP Counseling Psychology Core Competencies groups competency items into topical domains, and within the topical domains competency items are further grouped into foundational, functional, or organizational competency categories. The intend use of these competency sets is to be a resource for education and training programs in professional psychology to set expectations for graduates, develop curriculum, and assess student learning outcomes; therefore, structuring competencies around developmental levels is appropriate so that curriculum and assessment are aligned and there is a standard way to identify when students are ready for advancement (APA, 2011).

Table 22

Competency sets structured as "developmental levels" and intended use

Competency sets structi	irea as acveropmentat	icreis	cirici	iiiiCiia	ica as			
		Use of competencies						
Association and title	Job function label	a	b	c	d	e	f	g
of competency set								
American	<ul> <li>Readiness for</li> </ul>	X		X				
Psychological	practicum							
Association	<ul> <li>Readiness for</li> </ul>							
Competency	internship							
Benchmarks in	<ul> <li>Readiness for</li> </ul>							
Professional Psychology (APA,	entry to practice							
2011)								
2011)								
Council of Counseling	Readiness for	X		X				
Psychology Training	practicum							
Programs (CCPTP)	<ul> <li>Readiness for</li> </ul>							
Counseling	internship							
Psychology Core	<ul> <li>Readiness for</li> </ul>							
Competencies	entry to practice							
(CCPTP, 2013)	<b>v</b> 1							

*Note.* "Use of competencies" letter corresponds to the letter listed in Table 17.

To summarize this section, as a result of the review of competency structures from other professions, four primary ways to structure competency sets were discovered, which included: (a) categorized competencies only, (b) job function, (c) levels of expertise, and (d) developmental level. A majority of the competency sets included in the review (16 of 25) were structured similarly to the draft AEAEC by categorizing competencies into topical domains. Two competency sets were structured by job function, three competency sets were structured by level of expertise, and two competency sets were structured by both job function and level of expertise. The remaining two competency sets were structured by developmental level.

### **Chapter Five: Interview Results**

Chapter Five presents the themes and relevant quotations for the 12 interviews conducted with experienced evaluators. (See Chapter Three for a description of participant selection.) As discussed in Chapter One, interpersonal competencies have been identified as important for the practice of evaluation, yet there is a lack of knowledge on how evaluators develop these competencies, what competencies new evaluators lack, and how use of the essential interpersonal competencies identified as important for evaluators can be promoted among intended users.

Building on what was discovered through the comparative analysis of interpersonal competencies for evaluators and the review of competency structures from other professions (presented in Chapter Four), interviews were conducted with experienced evaluators to better understand these areas in need of further exploration. Results from interviews explored the following research questions: What interpersonal competencies do experienced evaluators use in practice? In what ways have experienced evaluators developed the interpersonal competencies they report using in practice? What interpersonal competency development needs exist for new evaluators? What are potential ways to structure the interpersonal competencies to promote use?

### **Interview Background**

All 12 interviews were conducted in person. The interviews ranged from 46 to 81 minutes, with an average length of 58 minutes. Interviews were conducted between July 5, 2017 and August 11, 2017. Of the 12 interviewees, 2 had been an evaluator for 10 to 15 years, 5 had been an evaluator for 16 to 20 years, 2 had been and evaluator for 21 to

25 years, and 3 had been an evaluator for over 31 years. Interviewees were evenly split between conducting internal and external evaluations with five conducting internal evaluations, five conducting external evaluations, and two conducting both. Interviewees also practiced in a variety of professional settings, including consulting firms (n=4), government agencies (n=4), institutes of higher education (n=2), and school districts (n=2). Eight of the interviewees were female and four were male. Table 23 shows the characteristics of each interview participant, including the range of years they have been an evaluator, whether they conduct internal or external evaluations, their current professional setting, and gender.

Interview Participant Characteristics

Table 23

Interview Participant Characteristics								
Participant	Years as	Internal or	Current professional	Gender				
	evaluator	external	setting					
		evaluator						
Participant 1	31+	External	Consulting Firm	Male				
Participant 2	16-20	Both	Higher Education	Female				
Participant 3	16-20	External	Consulting Firm	Female				
Participant 4	16-20	Internal	Government	Female				
Participant 5	16-20	Internal	Government	Female				
Participant 6	31+	External	Consulting Firm	Male				
Participant 7	16-20	Internal	School District	Female				
Participant 8	21-25	Both	Higher Education	Male				
Participant 9	21-25	Internal	School District	Female				
Participant 10	31+	External	Government	Male				
Participant 11	10-15	External	Consulting Firm	Female				
Participant 12	10-15	Internal	Government	Female				

### **Background Questions**

At the start of the interview, interviewees were asked questions about their professional evaluation experience to understand their practice of evaluation and how

they interact with evaluation stakeholders. Although responses were specific to the individual and cannot be shared in detail to protect confidentiality, they were helpful in providing information that assisted with the use of appropriate prompts. These initial questions also served to get interviewees thinking about their evaluation practice in general before being asked about the interpersonal competencies they use. Through these initial questions, interviewees identified a variety of methods and approaches used within their recent evaluation studies such as multi-method, quantitative, qualitative, utilization-focused, evaluation capacity building, developmental evaluation, process evaluation, and outcome evaluation.

All interviewees discussed interacting with a variety of stakeholders throughout the evaluation process, including the client, program staff, content staff, program recipients, community stakeholders, advisory groups, and board members. Interviewees were also asked how they define interpersonal competencies to ensure that their definition was aligned with how the American Evaluation Association Evaluator Competencies define interpersonal competencies. After the interviewee provided a definition, the draft AEAEC definition, that interpersonal competencies are the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness, was provided to the interviewee, and it was explained that this would be the definition of interpersonal competencies used for the interviewe.

#### **Interpersonal Competencies Essential to Evaluation Practice**

Interviewees were asked to identify the interpersonal competencies essential to their practice of evaluation and explain why they were essential. Then, they were shown a

list of interpersonal competencies identified by professional associations as essential to the practice of evaluation. From this list and any additional competencies they identified, interviewees chose the three most important competencies and explained what makes each one important for practice. During this discussion, interviewees also explained whether they felt any competencies on the list should not be included as an interpersonal competency for evaluators.

Overall, interviewees identified 10 interpersonal competencies as essential or most important to their practice of evaluation. All 10 interpersonal competencies identified were included in the comparative analysis of interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations (presented in Chapter Four), shown in Table 24. The interviewee responses for each of these competencies are further described in this section.

Essential and most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice

Table 24

Create a favorable working climate

identified by interviewees Competencies from comparative Essential interpersonal competencies identified analysis in interviews Interact ethically Interacting ethically Build relationships Build trusting relationships Build mutual respect Build rapport Use appropriate social skills Be flexible Be respectful Humility **Empathy** Dependability Use humor Ethic of care Sincere interest Listen to understand and engage Accept and acknowledge the value of all diverse perspectives stakeholders • Come with an open mind Listening Address issues of privilege and power Deal with power issues dynamics Name the dynamics that are occurring Read the political climate Acknowledge your position of power Communicate effectively Verbal communication Nonverbal communication Clarity Avoid jargon Use plain language Facilitate constructive and culturally Intercultural skills responsive interactions Be culturally fluid Facilitation Collaborate with others Not identified in interviews Negotiate Not identified in interviews Resolve conflict Address conflict Be an evaluation champion Not identified in interviews Build evaluation capacity Building evaluation capacity

Not identified in interviews

Competencies from comparative	Essential interpersonal competencies identified			
analysis	in interviews			
Demonstrate professional credibility	Present self in a professional manner			
	Convey your expertise			
Demonstrate gender awareness	Not identified in interviews			

### **Interact Ethically**

A couple of interviewees indicated that "interact ethically" was in their top three interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. One interviewee spoke about the importance of interacting ethically because of the impact evaluation results can have on people and programs:

Interacting ethically is really critical because evaluation has embedded in it a lot of risks. Risks that we may make people feel uncomfortable or share information that's really sensitive. There are risks around interpreting information incorrectly and giving people wrong answers to their questions. Some of the programs and systems we evaluate may be at risk, if we don't find them to be worthy, of losing their funding or losing their support. So we need to make sure that everything we are doing in an evaluation uses really high standards, high attention to ethics, so that we're addressing those risks and handling them with open eyes and thoughtfulness. (Participant 3)

#### **Build Relationships**

Most interviewees identified "build relationships" as an interpersonal competency that was essential to their evaluation practice, and over half indicated it was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Building relationships with evaluation stakeholders was viewed as important because of where evaluation work occurs and the reasons an evaluation is being conducted. One interviewee commented that most of the evaluation projects they work on are not only about judging the merit or worth of a program, but also helping people learn and make changes, and, to do so, a trusting relationship needs to be established. Another

interviewee noted that establishing a relationship of trust between the evaluator and an evaluation client begins with the first interactions where you show respect, listen carefully, and demonstrate that you understand their needs. Another interviewee spoke about the importance of entering every encounter with sincere interest and mutual respect to establish and build relationships with evaluation stakeholders. In addition to establishing the relationship with evaluation stakeholders at the beginning of an evaluation, one interviewee mentioned the importance of continuing to build that relationship throughout the evaluation process and stated, "I think the relationship piece is about asking better questions, conducting an evaluation that really will be useful, and helping to facilitate the use of that information because it doesn't happen automatically" (Participant 11).

Several interviewees chose "build relationships" as one of the most important interpersonal competencies because they view the competency as subsuming other interpersonal competencies, including communicating effectively, using appropriate social skills, collaborating with others, negotiating, interacting ethically, listening to understand and engage diverse perspectives, facilitating constructive and culturally responsive interactions, and demonstrating professional credibility. The rationale for this competency subsuming other competencies was that in order to build relationships, evaluators need to use all of these other interpersonal competencies. One interviewee explained how the competency of "build relationships" includes the use of other interpersonal competencies:

Through building those relationships you're learning people's perspectives, you're building that credibility, you're building the trust, you're coming to a deeper

understanding of the context and the power differentials that potentially exist. I think that by building those relationships you're more readily able to either negate or negotiate the conflict or resolve it, if and when it does occur. (Participant 7)

A couple of interviewees addressed the implications when the relationship piece is missing from an evaluation, which included the evaluation process will be difficult and the evaluation results will not be used. One interviewee stated:

If you don't have that relationship, you're just not going to go forward with your evaluation. They're [the evaluation client] not going to respect you. They're not going to help you. They're not going to help pave the way for you to be successful. They're not going to reduce roadblocks for you or barriers. It may be harder to get data and information. They just don't care about you. If they don't care about you, they're not going to care about the evaluation. So that's why build a relationship is important. (Participant 5)

Another interviewee spoke about the impact of not building relationships on future evaluation work:

From my experience, if you don't develop that good relationship [with the client] you are out of luck. One mistake and it can take you forever to do anything about it and chances are you won't. . . . they will not work with you. So, it's like you screw up once and you lose trust. (Participant 9)

#### **Use Appropriate Social Skills**

All interviewees identified the use of one or more social skill as essential to their evaluation practice, but no interviewees put the "use of appropriate social skills" in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. When describing the interpersonal competencies essential to their evaluation practice, interviewees mentioned specific social skills such as humility, empathy, respect, and humor.

Several interviewees identified humility as a social skill that is important for their practice of evaluation. One interviewee spoke about how humility plays in an important role in gaining the trust from evaluation stakeholders:

And among those skills that I think are the most important is humility because people, when they come in contact with researchers, might feel intimidated. They might not trust you. They might think you're trying to take something from them. So, you have to create a rapport and a trust. And, so, I do think that a certain amount of humility is key. (Participant 8)

A couple of interviewees discussed the importance of humility in evaluation practice so that the evaluator is able to identify limitations and when to ask for help and is open to what evaluation stakeholders are sharing. One interviewee spoke about how humility comes into play during data collection:

We have to come there with a degree of humility. Even though we spent a little bit of time getting up to speed, the person we're interviewing knows more than we do, and we are there to obtain their insights and knowledge. (Participant 10)

Empathy was also identified as a social skill that is essential by several interviewees. Interviewees commented that it was important to be empathetic in their evaluation practice to understand what evaluation stakeholders may be feeling or experiencing in relation to the evaluation. For example, one interviewee explained:

I think the one that I try and use the most is empathy. I'm putting myself in the shoes of the other person. And, in particular, empathy about what pressures or challenges they're facing that might affect our work together. So, thinking about are they being asked for information from an outside party, are there lines of command that cause them stress, is the work itself really high profile and stressful. So empathy is probably the first thing I use. (Participant 3)

A few interviewees indicated that respect was a social skill essential to their evaluation practice. Interviewees mentioned that in evaluation interactions showing respect to evaluation stakeholders was key. One interviewee provided an example:

We need to be respectful. Absolutely respectful of the situation that the person we're interviewing is in in terms of their workload, their responsibilities, the challenges they face. And we need to be conveying that we value the interchange that we're having. That it is an important part if our evaluation. That it is a meaningful experience. It's not just an exercise that we're going through. And that has to be conveyed in a very real way. (Participant 10)

Another spoke about what happens when respect is missing stating, "[I]f you're not really fully respecting the client, their interests, and what they're doing then it's going to be very difficult for you to have a good interpersonal relationship with the person" (Participant 1).

A couple of interviewees indicated that humor was essential to their practice of evaluation, and one of these interviewees included the interpersonal competency in the top three most important interpersonal competencies. One interview provided an example of how this social skill can help in the practice of evaluation and build relationships with stakeholders:

I found that humor is a really good way of connecting with people. And laughing. It's just a way to build the connection and relationship. . . . It's a tool that I use all the time. And, so, it's not like jokes, but it's just finding common things to laugh about and nothing is off the table in terms of humor. You know these white farmers in greater Minnesota liked to tell jokes, at the time, about Hillary Clinton. I could have gotten offended by that, but it was pretty funny and genuine. When they knew that I was sort of open to them being themselves, they opened up a lot and then there was respect, there was a sense of mutual respect. . . . It's a really nice way of getting to know people at a level that's not just about the task at hand, it's about who they are and what they enjoy. . . . So, you get to see people at a different level and connect with them almost immediately and at place that has nothing to do with what we're here for because that will come. This other stuff can get you immediately connected with people at a different level. (Participant 2)

# **Listen to Understand and Engage Diverse Perspectives**

Most interviewees identified "listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives" as an interpersonal competency that is essential to their evaluation practice,

and over half indicated it was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Most interviewees who spoke about this competency stressed the importance of being able to listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives in order to understand the needs of evaluation stakeholders and have the evaluation result in accurate findings or, as one interviewee put it, the "true story." Another interviewee pointed out that, during the course of an evaluation, needs can change, and so the evaluator needs to be able to listen for this and adapt the plan to work toward what is needed. In explaining why this interpersonal competency was important to practice, one interviewee stated:

In evaluation, you're dealing with understanding what people's questions are and what information they need, gathering or interpreting that information, and then packaging that information so that you've answered the questions. Without the ability to listen and engage diverse perspectives you can't do any of those steps in evaluation. You can't carefully suss out what the questions are and you are not going to be very effective in gathering the information you need or interpreting and using it. So I think that's critical for all of the stages of an evaluation. (Participant 3)

A couple of interviewees spoke about how this interpersonal competency is important specifically to data collection. If evaluators are not listening or open to diverse perspectives, they may miss important and crucial details or nuances that indicate they should ask follow up questions or dig deeper. One interviewee provided the example:

Be active in listening and be active in understanding the nuances that are being conveyed, the perspectives, and even active listening to hear what the person may be reluctant to say or be struggling. . . . Try to help them, not force them, if there's something you can tell they would like to say. (Participant 10)

The other interviewee explained the importance of "listening to understand and engage diverse perspectives":

If you really want quality information from people, you have to make yourself a tool for it. You have to make yourself an instrument through which information can flow without hitting a lot of walls. So you have to open a channel to that person that you're trying to relate to. I guess I keep going towards the participants, but there are other stakeholders as well. So you have to open up as clear of a channel for sending and receiving information without having blockages. And these things [interpersonal competencies] are big potential sources of blockage. I mean if you can't listen you're not receiving the information. (Participant 8)

One interviewee also identified "listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives" as important because the evaluator is accepting and acknowledging the value of all stakeholders in the evaluation process. This interviewee noted that by doing so you are able to make the evaluation, and the interactions involved, better by navigating, embracing, and utilizing the diverse perspectives. For another interviewee, this interpersonal competency was also viewed as important for the functioning of their internal evaluation team. The interviewee recognized that team members have different perspectives and have had different experiences so there is value in creating a situation where everyone can express their views when working on evaluations together.

#### **Address Issues of Privilege and Power Dynamics**

A few interviewees identified "address issues of privilege and power dynamics" as an interpersonal competency that is essential to their evaluation practice, and several indicated it was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. A few interviewees spoke about the importance of evaluators acknowledging their own privilege and power as individuals and as the evaluator and how that interacts with the evaluation. One interviewee discussed how this can be difficult for evaluators:

It's very difficult, just from a sociological perspective, it's very difficult to see yourself as exactly who you are. I think the experience of working with many different kinds of people is the best antidote to that. If you want to hammer down on your white privilege and try not to let that white privilege get in a way of the work that you're doing, you have to be open to conversations that are uncomfortable, to hearing people say things and inviting their criticism of your approach. And quite honestly, it's like about the hardest thing for humans to do. It's not natural to invite people to criticize what you're doing. (Participant 1)

A few interviewees spoke about the importance of addressing issues of power dynamics that come up during the course of an evaluation. One interviewee commented:

Another interpersonal skill is if you can name dynamics that are going on that no one wants to acknowledge. And that takes some courage and a lot of risk because you can offend or overstep your role. Times when I had not asked about a dynamic that is clearly going on, I regretted it. The dynamic continued, and it [the situation] just went sideways. (Participant 4)

Two other interviewees specifically mentioned that evaluators need to be able to read the political climate and be able to interact within the politics of any organization in reference to addressing power dynamics. Another interviewee spoke about the importance of this competency and that the purpose of evaluation is to create a better society and that, to do so, attention needs to be paid to issues of privilege and power dynamics in evaluation:

This idea of resolving conflict and looking at our privilege and power dynamics is really critical because it's an understanding of how evaluation is also a player in terms of shaping our society. We often talk about one of the roles of evaluation is the betterment of society. But the betterment for who [sic]? And I think we have to really start and here, in Minnesota, and of course across the nation, but I'm just more paying more particular attention to the conversation here in Minnesota, in terms of issues of diversity, issues of inequity, and how are we going to move into a more just society, and the importance that evaluation plays in that. The evaluation field can simply provide support for the current status quo or it can be actually an avenue of change. (Participant 11)

One interviewee also pointed out that "address issues of privilege and power dynamics" encompasses other interpersonal competencies such as culture and gender. This interviewee noted that the differences and dynamics due to culture and gender identities are often about power and privilege so this interpersonal competency is important for evaluators to be able to navigate those other competencies.

# **Communicate Effectively**

Most interviewees identified one or more forms of communication as essential to their evaluation practice, and some interviewees indicated that effective communication was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Communication modes mentioned by interviewees included verbal, nonverbal, and written. "Communicate effectively" was identified as essential by interviewees because an evaluator needs to clearly communicate who they are, what evaluation is, what they are doing, the different methods or approaches being used, and the results of the evaluation. One interviewee explained:

I think communicating effectively is really critical because many of the people that we're interacting with that are users of evaluation don't necessarily understand evaluation or they may not buy into its value. . . and so communicating effectively helps you clarify what evaluation is all about and its purpose. It also helps you deliver messages that may be difficult, but really important for different evaluation audiences to hear. (Participant 3)

An implication of not being competent in communication was on the use of the evaluation findings. One interviewee simply noted that if you are unable to communicate findings well, they will not be used. Another interviewee explained the implications of not being able to communicate well, specifically written communication, and how that can impact the interpretation and use of results in a negative way:

Communication is key, and it stems to written communication as well, because if you can't write effectively and thoroughly so that people understand what it is that you're telling them or what the findings are. . . . If you don't do that effectively, then there's potential for huge misinterpretation. People may be making erroneous decisions based purely on how you have or have not communicated, so it is very important. (Participant 7)

In addition to effective communication being essential for working with those who commissioned or will be using the evaluation findings, one interviewee pointed out how effective communication is also important for the internal evaluation team and explained that the team can fall apart and not work well when there is not clear communication among team members.

A couple of interviewees spoke about how communicating effectively is important for evaluation practice based on how it could impact other interpersonal competencies, including building relationships, resolving conflict, and addressing issues of privilege and power dynamics in interpersonal relations. One interviewee explained that if you have effective communication skills, it can help with avoiding other interpersonal issues from arising, and when these communication skills are lacking, the evaluator can create situations where there may be more conflict and more dissonance and distrust.

### **Facilitate Constructive and Culturally Responsive Interactions**

Several interviewees identified the competency of "facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions" as essential to their evaluation practice, and half indicated it was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. This competency was identified as important because interacting with others is integral to the practice of evaluation, which leads to the need to facilitate

interactions with a variety of stakeholders throughout the process. One interviewee stated:

There are no evaluations that I work on that I am just working on with one person... You have to facilitate group conversations, you have to facilitate your client, work with their staff or the community. So facilitation skills are key. (Participant 11)

Interviewees commented that being able to interact with others in a constructive and culturally responsive way leads to better data and meaning making, through the evaluator being able to identify and acknowledge their own cultural background, seeing culture as an asset, and being able to navigate a space where many cultures are in play. One interviewee explained what possessing this competency looks like:

Intercultural skills, so really being able to navigate where you are clear that you are perhaps from a very different cultural background based on ethnicity, gender, race, income or social class, educational level, all those kinds and awareness of how to navigate in that space and ability to build trust, transparency, clarity of making sure people understand what it is you're doing and why. (Participant 8)

Another interviewee described this competency as being culturally fluid and defined it as "the comfort of being with people in places that are unfamiliar, being able to navigate, comfort with being uncomfortable" (Participant 2). The interviewee continued to explain the benefits of being culturally fluid where culture is not discounted, but instead seen as an asset where people bring their values and experiences to the evaluation:

You're going to need this in order to have good meaningful results. . . . So I think interacting with those [stakeholders] in a culturally competent or fluid way helps you to get to the essence of what we need - really good information, good data that not just helps us to understand effects, but also helps to improve practice. And it has everything to do with data quality. (Participant 2)

Two other interviewees spoke about how facilitating constructive and culturally responsive interactions requires the use of other interpersonal competencies such as effective communication, building relationships, and using appropriate social skills.

#### **Resolve Conflict**

A few interviewees identified "resolve conflict" as an interpersonal competency that is essential to their evaluation practice, and a couple indicated it was in their top three most important interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Interviewees commented on how the competency of resolving conflict is more than just coming to a resolution; it is also about being open to conflict, the ability to identify when conflict is occurring, and the ability to manage or negotiate the conflict. A couple of interviewees spoke about when an evaluator can do these things, conflict can actually be a good thing and lead to better outcomes. As an example, one interviewee spoke about how they had dealt with conflict in the past and the importance of being open to conflict:

There are conflicts and . . . up to a certain point in my life, I tried to avoid conflict. I definitely wanted to avoid it. Now, I see the importance of one not avoiding it when it starts to come up. It's better to just have that direct conversation and to really trust that the conflict can lead to a better understanding. Just allow it to happen, but allow it to be a force for coming to a better understanding. (Participant 11)

Interviewees noted that from conflict can come opportunities to learn, gain a better understanding, and arrive at a better solution or strategy. Another benefit of an evaluator having competency in resolving conflict was that it can also assist in addressing issues of privilege and power dynamics. One interviewee noted that conflict often arises when minority voices are not being represented or heard, and evaluators must be cautious to

ensure that in resolving the conflict that it does not come at the expense of those who are marginalized.

### **Build Evaluation Capacity**

One interviewee indicated that "build evaluation capacity" was in their top three interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. The interviewee spoke about evaluation capacity building in terms of co-learning where the evaluator helps build the evaluation capacity of stakeholders, but stakeholders also impart knowledge to the evaluator:

I learn every day of my evaluation life, and in that learning and that learning environment you're teaching others about what you know and then they teach you about what they know and then you're constantly evolving as a professional and how you engage with people. (Participant 2)

## **Demonstrate Professional Credibility**

For "demonstrate professional credibility," a couple of interviewees mentioned that this competency was essential to their practice of evaluation, and one interviewee indicated it was in their top three interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. These interviewees explained that evaluators need to be able to demonstrate professional credibility to evaluation stakeholders so they can have confidence in the evaluation process and findings. One interviewee spoke about how evaluators need to balance demonstrating their professional credibility with the inherent power evaluators have in the process:

You also need to be able to convey your expertise in a way that's not over powerful. That you have an idea and perspective of how this [evaluation] could go and that you know your craft. So, how do you convey that without using your education and your position as power? My personal style is try to find ways to

convey that I know what I am doing without beating people over the head with it. (Participant 4)

Another interviewee spoke about the importance of an evaluator knowing and demonstrating the practice of evaluation and the implications when this competency is lacking:

Your professional credibility is where things rest on. It's what sets a true evaluator apart from someone just playing a role on TV or something. And, then again, that leads to if you don't have the professional credibility, you could be leading people through an erroneous, sometimes harmful, process that can be based on a lot of other things besides a true evaluation. The first thing we learn is that everybody evaluates all the time and we're all evaluators, but I think that there still is importance in terms of knowing the underlying foundations of the evaluation work and evaluation profession as opposed to my opinion and what I think about things. (Participant 7)

# **Applying the Appropriate Interpersonal Competencies**

When asked about what interpersonal competencies are essential to their evaluation practice, a few interviewees discussed the need for evaluators to be able to "read the situation." Although this was not identified as an interpersonal competency, situational analysis was viewed as an essential skill for evaluators to be able to apply the appropriate interpersonal competencies in each situation they encounter. Interviewees spoke about how evaluators need to be continually analyzing the situation throughout the course of an evaluation to determine what specific interpersonal competencies they need to draw on and apply in a particular situation. Interviewees who talked about this did so from a utilization-focused approach to evaluation and viewed it as critical if the evaluation findings are to be useful to intended users. One interviewee described this analysis of the situation as:

The whole idea of being able to read the context, being able to sense and interpret what people are feeling, having the ability to bring that out and accurately identify or help people accurately identify and come to what they're feeling and what's important, and being able to help interpret and summarize or frame that so that people can react to it and either affirm it or shape it. (Participant 7)

### **Interpersonal Competencies that Reportedly Should Not be Included**

Interviewees noted that some of the interpersonal competencies for evaluators that were identified by professional associations as essential to evaluation practice are not needed in every situation or even in every evaluation. This is because a situation may not come up where a specific interpersonal competency is needed or the role of the evaluator may not include using a specific interpersonal competency. Overall, most interviewees responded that the interpersonal competencies identified by professional associations were essential to practice. An interpersonal competency that a few interviewees questioned on whether it should be included was the competency on creating a favorable work environment. The reason given by these interviewees was that creating a favorable work environment is not always in the evaluator's control. One interviewee commented:

I think it's a collective thing. So creating a favorable working climate makes it seem like you have control of the situation and rarely do you have control of the situation, right? It is collective effort. I think something like creating a favorable working climate puts evaluators at - it's almost like give them power that they don't have. It just might be one of those things where if you're humble, if you have humor, and you have these other kinds of things [interpersonal competencies] other people will create those climates and environments for you. (Participant 2)

Another interviewee noted that creating a favorable work environment is not always part of the role for an external evaluator stating:

It's just not your job unless that's what you're being hired to do. You might have to get people to work together who hate each other, but it's on somebody else to resolve any of that. (Participant 5)

Another interpersonal competency that a couple of interviewees felt should not be included in the interpersonal domain, but should be captured somewhere in the evaluator competencies, was "demonstrate professional credibility."

# **Development of the Interpersonal Competencies Used in Practice**

Interviewees were asked to discuss some of the ways they developed each of the interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Interviewees identified four primary ways they developed interpersonal competencies, including through the practice of evaluation, formal education experiences, professional development opportunities, and life experiences. In discussing this topic, most interviewees acknowledged that the development of many of the interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice is accomplished through a combination of ways.

#### **Evaluation Practice**

All interviewees spoke about having developed interpersonal competencies through their practice of evaluation. In general, interviewees discussed the need to practice interpersonal competencies in a real-world evaluation setting and how these competencies can be hard to develop outside of these real experiences. Several interviews provided examples of how they developed specific interpersonal competencies through their evaluation practice. As an example, one interviewee spoke about a way in which they developed interpersonal competencies through practice:

I learned that, I would say, in the school of hard knocks in terms of trusting people a bit too much and then sort of not seeing the train coming. And, so, some of those lessons I think are the result of humbling experiences where you've essentially made a mistake, you've misjudged something. So some of those core competencies I think are really hard to develop outside of practice. (Participant 1)

Another interviewee provided an example of developing their negotiation and resolving conflict competencies through practice:

In that client project that I mentioned before, I really had not had opportunities or the need to negotiate so much as I did in that project. Even in that case, I didn't really recognize that negotiation was a critical part of that relationship until maybe a year in and then I realized I'm always doing things that don't make sense and they need to be negotiated. So, in that case, I really deliberately practiced more negotiation, tried to identify when I was entering a situation that required negotiation, and go into the situation with some more strategies and thinking already in place. I would say resolving conflict was kind of part of that. Oftentimes the negotiation was around an area where there was embedded conflict and I had to be thinking about that. (Participant 3)

Another interviewee provided an example of developing the competency of building relationships through experience and learning from their failures in practice:

I think failure is great training, too, when you actually fail and you have to go back and apologize. When I first started twenty years ago, my boss was the director, and I would say, "My boss is the director, he wants me to do this, so you have to give me what I want." And that's not building relationships. So experience helps. . . . It is just having as many experiences in these [interpersonal competencies] as you can. (Participant 5)

When speaking about the interpersonal competencies they developed through evaluation practice, many interviewees noted that, to some degree, all of the interpersonal competencies needed further development through practice. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 12 were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they primarily developed in practice, including:

(a) interact ethically; (b) build relationships; (c) use appropriate social skills; (d) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (e) address issues of privilege and power dynamics; (f) communicate effectively; (g) facilitate constructive and culturally

responsive interactions; (g) collaborate with others; (i) negotiate; (j) resolve conflict; (k) create a favorable working climate; and (l) demonstrate gender awareness.

To develop interpersonal competencies through evaluation practice, most of the interviewees noted the importance of getting feedback from others. Interviewees mentioned getting feedback from a variety of sources, including supervisors, colleagues, and evaluation stakeholders. For interviewees, seeking feedback was an intentional act. A few interviewees spoke directly about needing to acknowledge their own limitations in the interpersonal competencies, seeking out opportunities to practice, and asking for feedback so that they can continue to work on a specific competency. Some interviewees pointed to supervisors and colleagues as good sources of feedback to help them think of ways to improve their interpersonal competencies. One interviewee gave an example of how they practice and seek out feedback on communicating effectively, as it is a competency they find more difficult:

This [effective communication] is one of my tougher ones, and I have to practice. I have to practice speaking. I write scripts and then I change them so that it's not so formal. You don't want to script out conversations, but try to make sure you hit the highlights. If it's something complex, like a data table or an equation, you practice ways of just making it short and sweet. . . . I take opportunities to practice with people, bounce things off of others who can then critique my performance and learn from that. I'm an introvert at heart, and sometimes I'd rather be in a corner with Excel spreadsheets and formulas so it's something that I struggle with and [have] just got to practice. . . . I usually just throw it out there and say this is my, this is one of my limitations, but I'm willing to take the criticism. (Participant 5)

Some interviewees also mentioned that having a mentor has helped them develop interpersonal competencies in practice. For interviewees, a mentor, whether formal or informal, has been someone to observe in practice and learn from as well as being a

thought partner to work through interpersonal challenges. One interviewee spoke specifically about how discussions with mentors have helped to ensure they are interacting ethically in their evaluation practice when ethically challenging situations arise.

To develop their interpersonal competencies, a couple of interviewees also mentioned the importance of reflecting on their practice. The reflection process was described by these interviewees as reflecting on and learning from interactions and applying those learnings to future interactions. One interviewee explained how they reflect on their practice to help develop their interpersonal competencies:

I spend time after interactions looking at what went well, what didn't, how things went, doing follow up to clarify things. You learn by being an evaluator of your interpersonal skills, making that part of the learning agenda, engaging in reflective practice. (Participant 6)

A couple of interviewees mentioned that other professions they have worked in have required similar interpersonal competencies. These interviewees indicated they were able to develop interpersonal competencies in other professional settings, and when they started their evaluation practice they found them to be relevant and applicable to the evaluation context.

## **Formal education**

Formal education was another way in which interviewees indicated they developed interpersonal competencies. Most interviewees cited learning and developing a few specific interpersonal competencies through their higher education experiences, both as an undergraduate and graduate student. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for

evaluators identified by professional associations, 9 were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they developed through a formal education experience.

Several interviewees indicated that they developed their competency in effective communication through formal education opportunities. Some pointed out that their undergraduate and graduate school programs included working on teams and writing and presenting in a way that explains and demonstrates understanding, which helped them to become effective communicators. One interviewee provided an example of how they developed their written communication competency in reaction to what was expected in graduate school:

I found grad school to be a little bit of a trial by fire. I had never been expected to write so much at such a pace that I was expected to in grad school. I quickly realized I needed a strategy because writing didn't really come naturally to me. And so I developed strategy, which is to sketch out my ideas about what I was trying to say, outline my content, and then match my information to my outline. Because I'm not a natural writer, I had to come up with a strategy for writing. (Participant 3)

A couple of interviewees took courses in their undergraduate programs that were specifically focused on communication and felt these educational experiences helped develop their competence in communication.

With the exception of effective communication, one or two interviewees mentioned developing the following interpersonal competencies through formal education experiences, including (a) interact ethically; (b) build relationships; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) address issues of privilege and power dynamics; (e) communicate effectively; (f) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (g) build evaluation capacity; (h) demonstrate professional

credibility; and (i) demonstrate gender awareness. A couple of interviewees indicated that they developed the competency of "interact ethically" in graduate school. Both of these interviewees attended graduate programs in evaluation and noted that in their coursework there were opportunities to learn about the American Evaluation Association's *Guiding Principles for Evaluators* (American Evaluation Association Task Force on Guiding Principles for Evaluators, 1995) and the *Program Evaluation Standards* (Yarbrough et al., 2010) and work through cases involving ethical dilemmas that could be encountered in practice. Interviewees who attended undergraduate and graduate programs in other fields of study provided examples of competencies they developed through those programs and were able to apply to their evaluation practice.

A few interviewees noted that since they were not formally trained as evaluators, they have taken the competencies they developed through other higher education programs and applied them to their evaluation practice. For some interviewees, this meant further refining their interpersonal competencies in practice. One interviewee explained:

Some of my education was in social work, and so I think some of these skills were taught to me with that practice in mind. I've learned them in one way, but then had to kind of take it and translate it a little bit differently for evaluation practice. (Participant 12)

A couple of interviewees also pointed out that in their experience most interpersonal competencies are not intentionally taught or developed in formal education programs. For an interviewee who graduated from an evaluation program, developing interpersonal competencies was not explicit:

Except for the "interact ethically," it's not explicit at all. You get it [development of interpersonal competencies] in an indirect way through your coursework, through dealing with professors or advisor committees, everything else, teamwork, and all the working with people you do in groups and teams. It's just really an indirect way of teaching. (Participant 5)

Another interviewee commented on their experience and the experience of their evaluation colleagues not receiving training on interpersonal competencies through formal education experiences:

It's just that from my experience, both with my own experience and with others here, they really haven't had a lot of training on the interpersonal competencies, as important as they are, unfortunately. A lot of the people that we hire were not explicitly trained to be evaluators. We have an interdisciplinary group. Some people are trained as political scientists, demographers, accountants, attorneys, public policy graduates. And, you know, they had 25 different possibilities for careers, and they came here and became evaluators. And so the kinds of interpersonal competencies that you're dealing with may not have been necessary something they did. . . . But, clearly, I really believe that these are important competencies. (Participant 10)

# **Professional development**

Over half of the interviewees indicated that they developed interpersonal competencies through professional development. Professional development opportunities mentioned were trainings and self-study. Interviewees who indicated that trainings were a way in which they developed specific competencies all stated that the training opportunities were not specifically for the practice of evaluation, but could be applied to their evaluation practice. Interviewees who identified self-study as a way in which they developed specific interpersonal competencies indicated that self-study was primarily done through reading books or articles on the competency topics. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 5 were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they developed through professional

development opportunities. Most of these competencies were mentioned by one interviewee and included: (a) build relationships; (b) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (c) communicate effectively; (d) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; and (e) demonstrate gender awareness.

### Life experiences

A couple of interviewees mentioned life experiences that allowed them to develop their interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. One interviewee developed competencies around communicating effectively, building relationships, using appropriate social skills, and negotiating through their family interactions. Another interviewee spoke about their experiences in the Peace Corps and how they developed their ability interact with others in a culturally competent way. These interviewees acknowledged that general interpersonal competencies can be developed through other life experiences that can then be applied to evaluation practice.

Across interviewees, most interpersonal competencies were identified as being developed in more than one way. Only one interpersonal competency's development, "be an evaluation champion," was not identified by any interviewees. The following table shows the interpersonal competencies and the way it was reportedly developed by one or more interviewee.

Table 25

Ways in which experienced evaluators developed interpersonal competencies

Ways in which experienced evaluators developed interpersonal competencies  Ways interpersonal competencies were developed						
Interpersonal competency	Evaluation	Formal	Professional	Life		
	practice	education	development	experiences		
Interact ethically	X	X	1	1		
Build relationships	X	X	X	X		
Use appropriate social skills	X			X		
Listen to understand and	X	X	X			
engage diverse perspectives						
Address issues of privilege	X	X				
and power dynamics						
Communicate effectively	X	X	X	X		
Facilitate constructive and	X	X	X	X		
culturally responsive						
interactions						
Collaborate with others	X					
Negotiate	X			X		
Resolve conflict	X					
Be an evaluation champion						
Build evaluation capacity		X				
Create a favorable working	X					
climate						
Demonstrate professional		X				
credibility						
Demonstrate gender	X	X	X			
awareness						

# **Importance of Interpersonal Competencies in Hiring Decisions**

Interviewees were asked about whether they consider interpersonal competencies when they hire an evaluator. All of them responded that interpersonal competencies are an important factor in their decision to hire an evaluator. A few interviewees gave examples about how a candidate's interpersonal competencies have been a factor in hiring decisions. For example, one interviewee shared:

If they were great on everything else and didn't have that [interpersonal competencies], we wouldn't hire them. It would be the yes/no decision. And

again, that goes back to our context, because all of our evaluations are so relationship-based and working very directly with communities, very collaboratively. So it is just a requirement. (Participant 11)

# Another interviewee shared the example:

I really strongly consider their interpersonal competencies when hiring, and, in fact, we recently interviewed someone who had very, very strong technical skills, but their interpersonal skills in the interview were weak. We talked about whether that was just the nerves of the interview or were they already coming with a low level of interpersonal competency and we would have to train and develop that. And then, if we had to train and develop, what would our strategy be? So it actually came into a hiring decision recently. (Participant 3)

As this interviewee noted, if a candidate does not have the interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice, they will need support in developing their interpersonal competencies. Several other interviewees also spoke about this and how it can be easier to teach other evaluation-related skills such as data collection or analysis methods, but interpersonal competencies can be more difficult; therefore, when hiring, a candidate's interpersonal competencies can trump other needed skills. One interviewee explained:

It [interpersonal competencies] would be huge. In fact, I would put more emphasis on that than their methods because I can train in the methods. There's a limit to how much you can actually bring people along in this set of skills. You can get people better at it who have some foundation, but folks who are basically clueless, it's not something you can bring everybody along in. There are some natural affinities. By the time people are young adults, the amount of malleability is not very great, and, so, I'm looking for people who like people, who value interactions, who get off on diverse perspectives and challenges. I actually would put that, and I do, ahead of any kind of methodological competence because that's easier to get. This stuff is the hardest stuff to get, so a big part of it is selection and then building on that. (Participant 6)

Another interviewee spoke about how interpersonal competencies are the "sparkle factor" that they look for in candidates and how these competencies are harder to teach:

They [the team] always laughs at me because they're like, "Yeah, she's looking for the sparkle factor". . . I can teach evaluation methods. I can teach theory. I can teach them. I can't sometimes teach some of those [interpersonal competencies]. Over time, yes, but if they come to us with some of these skills already, the sparkle factor, those are the more interpersonal stuff. We'll be much further along . . . There's a lot of learning curve here, and so however we can move along faster, the better. (Participant 2)

### Assessing a candidate's interpersonal competencies

All interviewees assess the interpersonal competencies of candidates throughout the hiring process. A couple of interviewees noted that they look at whether a candidate has the needed interpersonal competencies when they apply through their cover letter.

One interviewee explained that they look at whether the candidate connects why they want the job with interpersonal competencies rather than just focusing on their technical skills.

Almost all interviewees assess interpersonal competencies of a candidate through interviews. During interviews with candidates, interviewees noted that they ask questions specifically aimed at uncovering the candidate's interpersonal competencies. Most of them noted that these interview questions were scenario-based. They described that the benefit of scenario-based questions was to get candidates to articulate how they would deal with or respond to the situation at hand, which includes the interpersonal competencies an evaluator would need to use. One interviewee described what they learn through candidates' responses to scenario-based questions and the interview overall:

I'm learning their personality, learning their communication abilities, learning their social skills and their social interactions, how they can navigate a stressful situation such as an interview. Those are not easy. How they build relationships with the team because I always interview in a team setting. All of those things. We ask questions about collaboration and give a lot of scenario-based interview questions so that they can describe their interactions and those sort of

things. We build in questions about cultural competencies and diversity and other things as well so it gives us a good picture from their verbal communications, their descriptions of what they would do and how they interact, as well as their presentation style and written and verbal standpoints through those interviews. (Participant 7)

Another noted that not all candidates have the lived experiences that would demonstrate these interpersonal competencies, and, in those cases, they want an individual who is committed and excited to learn and develop in these specific areas.

Some interviewees also noted that they learn about a candidate's interpersonal competencies through their references. One interviewee commented that references can provide a better understanding of a person's abilities or lack of abilities in a particular interpersonal competency area. Another interviewee explained that the process of following up with references can be helpful in understanding where a candidate's interpersonal competencies had been fine or if there were a pattern of challenges that they should be prepared to address if they were to hire the individual.

Through the hiring process, interviewees mentioned they are looking for specific interpersonal skills that indicate the candidate is a good fit for an evaluator position.

When asked what specific interpersonal competencies they were looking for, interviewees named 7 of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, including: (a) build relationships; (b) use appropriate social skills; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) communicate effectively; (e) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (f) collaborate with others; and (g) resolve conflict.

### **Interpersonal Competency Development Needs for New Evaluators**

Based on their experiences working with new evaluators, interviewees were asked what interpersonal competencies development needs typically still exist for new evaluators when they start practicing evaluation. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 8 were identified by at least one interviewee as still in need of development for new evaluators, including: (a) build relationships; (b) use appropriate social skills; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) communicate effectively; (e) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (f) negotiate; (g) address issues of privilege and power dynamics; and (h) demonstrate professional credibility.

A couple of interviewees discussed that it takes time and intentionality for new evaluators to develop interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. One interviewee commented that no one is ready to integrate all of the interpersonal competencies into their evaluation practice immediately. Instead, new evaluators need to practice and hone their interpersonal competencies over time.

### **Challenges in Situation Analysis and Applying Interpersonal Competencies**

In addition to speaking about the specific interpersonal competencies that novice evaluators typically still need to develop, half of the interviewees spoke about how reading a situation and applying appropriate interpersonal competencies can be a challenge for those new to practice. Most of these interviewees discussed that, for new evaluators, this is the result of the tension between using rigorous research methods when coming out of an academic setting and attending to the interpersonal competencies

needed for evaluation practice. One interviewee mentioned that the focus on systematic inquiry in the education of evaluators leads to neglecting the interpersonal competencies needed:

I think that the big mistake that novices make, and it's a function of the way the field operates and where they get trained, is that they're so focused on methods and tools. And they define evaluation as applying methods and tools [so] that they don't appreciate the interpersonal dimension of evaluation in general. (Participant 6)

Similarly, another interviewee spoke about the focus on methods by new evaluators at the expense of interpersonal competencies:

When we're just coming out of the academic world, we're so focused on it has to be a certain way that we lose sight of the situation and context and what is it that the stakeholders need, what's going to be most beneficial for them. And I feel like that one of the things that new evaluators probably have to keep in mind the most is being able to be flexible within that context while still maintaining the integrity of the process. . . . Having that flexibility and being able to read the situation in the sense of meeting the needs of your primary intended users and your stakeholders while still bringing to it all that you know as the evaluation expert. (Participant 7)

### The Effect of a Lack of Interpersonal Competencies on Evaluation Practice

Interviewees provided their insights and experiences on what happens when an evaluator does not have the interpersonal competencies essential for evaluation practice. Most interviewees explained that a lack of competence in the interpersonal competencies can lead to the evaluator being unable to establish stakeholder buy-in and trust, which can lead to the collection of bad data. As a result, findings may not be a true reflection what is being evaluated and can result either in evaluation findings that are not used or, worse yet, bad findings that are used.

Some interviewees discussed how not having the essential interpersonal competencies can lead to collecting bad data because the evaluator is unable to connect with evaluation stakeholders. If an evaluator does not have the interpersonal competencies needed for the situation, it can be hard to get stakeholders to buy in and care about the evaluation. One interviewee spoke about how evaluation does not happen in a vacuum, that it needs to be a collective effort if it is to be successful, and commented that they do not know how you get there without getting stakeholders to buy in and care:

It feels like when you're doing evaluation without the interpersonal stuff, you get the data, right? You do your thing, you collect information, and you get that. But the spirit behind it, the meaning making below the surface stuff, that all requires more depth of understanding, communication, connecting to people's realities. It can't happen without some of the interpersonal things that you have to do to get there. (Participant 2)

Another interviewee explained what happens when an evaluator does not have the interpersonal competencies needed to connect with evaluation participants:

You get crappy data. You know you get superficial, short responses to questions. You're not engaging people to think, to reflect more deeply on their experience. So you might as well not even bother. The findings, if all your interviews go that way, are going to be shallow and really not reflect the true sort of thinking that people might have. (Participant 8)

Some interviewees stated that if the evaluator is not using the appropriate interpersonal competencies for the situation at hand, evaluation stakeholders will pick up on this and start to lose confidence and trust in the evaluator and the evaluation process.

One interviewee explained how this can look in practice:

You get these discordant notes where the client and you are missing each other, and it creates stress, it creates mistrust. And that can be very subtle like running a meeting too formally, and it is a turn off. But once you've lost the confidence of your client, it's very hard to gain that back. (Participant 4)

Another interviewee also provided an example of how an evaluator's inability to apply the appropriate interpersonal competencies in a given evaluation situation can lead to distrust among stakeholders:

Evaluation is a charged situation that comes with lots baggage so, whether it's an interview or design session, folks are attuned or picking up signals or carefully reading how the evaluator is coming across, what the evaluator's agenda is, how they're presenting themselves, making decisions about how much to trust them, and figuring out what the game is. So to the extent that they pick up signals that the evaluator is working on an agenda that is not one that they buy into, or that they're suspicious of, or isn't sensitive to them, anything that's off putting will create distrust and interfere with the authenticity of the evaluator. It's up to the evaluator to set the stage for that because that's the active part of being active, interactive, and adaptive. The evaluator, both from a power position and from a knowledge position and expectations position, usually is the first one to have to act and to set the stage. So how and what gets communicated will affect the tone and the trust and the agenda. (Participant 6)

As a result of not getting stakeholder buy-in and trust, some interviewees noted that the evaluation results can go unused. Intended users are no longer interested in the evaluation findings, and there can be a disconnect between the data and what is being evaluated, as one interviewee explained:

I think the biggest danger is the separation and the gap between results and program. They'll [stakeholders] give you the data, but the data is [sic] independent of the program because they're done. . . and the evaluation becomes a task rather than an opportunity to grow, change, innovate. I think those are the sad moments for me. Well, the data is [sic] dead, right? It should be living. It should be something that challenges a system or disrupts something or helps them [stakeholders] be different. And it should be living, but it isn't. And why go through the motions, why waste people's time, why waste your own time, why do this if it's going to be dead data? (Participant 2)

Another interviewee shared an experience where not utilizing the interpersonal competencies needed in the evaluation process led to the evaluation findings being not useful in all the ways the organization would have liked to use them:

I need to understand what problems people are trying to solve through evaluation so that I'm addressing those problems. So sometimes that can be very hidden for people. I still remember a time when we were working with [an organization] and from the beginning, I thought the evaluation was all about them responding to their federal grant and being able to meet the requirements of their federal grant as well as doing some learning from this pilot initiative that they were doing. I failed to understand that an important audience for them was their board, which is appointed by the governor, and so I didn't prepare information in a way that they could effectively answer questions for their board. I think that put them in a really difficult situation. And while they were satisfied with the learning they got from the evaluation and their ability to report to their federal funder, it caused them stress and anxiety in their workplace. (Participant 3)

If the evaluation findings go unused, the evaluation has failed. As one interviewee explained:

The biggest thing is the evaluation will fail if they don't trust, they don't respect you, you're not listening, you're not hearing them, they're frustrated, then it's done. I mean there's nothing more you can do. (Participant 5)

## **Ability to Develop and Apply Interpersonal Competencies**

Interviewees were asked to talk about whether they felt an individual can purposefully develop the interpersonal competencies essential to evaluation practice. Most interviewees responded that people can develop all the necessary interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice. Some interviewees acknowledged that it can be more of a challenge for some people because it may not come naturally to them. A couple of these interviewees noted that, to do so, the individual needs to be open to learning the needed interpersonal competencies. As one interviewee commented:

Anything can be developed. You just have to be open to it. And sometimes I think you almost have to go against your nature. And those are the hardest to learn, but it can be done. I believe that anybody can learn. (Participant 2)

A couple of interviewees also noted that individuals who need to develop their interpersonal competencies might need different strategies for learning these competencies. One interviewee explained:

Maybe it means that people don't have naturally strong social skills, but even people that [sic] don't, I think they can learn it over time. And they might need a different strategy, like they might need a coach or a mentor. It might not be something they can learn from reading or classes and workshops, but they still can learn it. (Participant 3)

Another interviewee commented that individuals may need support in developing their interpersonal competencies for practice:

It's going to be a steeper learning curve, a more challenging situation for some. . . It's all learnable stuff. The key thing is you have to be in a situation where you receive feedback on the skills that you're good at and the skills that you're not so good at, and that is almost always lacking. (Participant 8)

A few interviewees also spoke about how it may never be comfortable for some individuals to apply specific interpersonal competencies. For some interviewees, they thought that these individuals could still learn how to apply them in practice. On the other hand, some interviewees commented that there may be factors an individual cannot overcome that would prevent them from being able to apply the interpersonal competency needed in a given situation. One interviewee explained their perspective of how an individual could learn to apply interpersonal competencies:

I think if you really want to try to develop any of these things, I think a person could. It might not ever be your comfort zone and it might be a struggle for you, but you could still try to work on it. If it really is an area that you really felt like you wanted to grow more, you could. . . . To say I'm not so good at negotiation, and I really need to figure out how to do a better job of that, and I am purposely going to go try and figure out a way to do it. So I feel like if someone has that within themselves, and they're willing to take that leap, they can try to. They could work on anyone one of these [interpersonal competencies]. (Participant 12)

For interviewees who thought that there could be cases where an individual would be unable to apply the needed interpersonal competencies, personality traits were cited as the barrier. This was more of an exception where some individuals may have personality traits that make it so uncomfortable to apply a particular interpersonal competency that they would be unable to do so. As an example of this, one interviewee commented:

Some people are so shy that it just is going to be hard for them to create a comfortable, interactive situation. I mean their shyness can become too much of a factor in an interpersonal interaction. I recognize that some aspects of interpersonal competencies are a factor of personality that are deeply embedded. (Participant 10)

#### **Structuring the Interpersonal Competencies to Promote Use**

To inform how the evaluation field could promote the use of interpersonal competencies identified as essential for the practice of evaluation by intended users, interviewees were asked about their ideas for structuring or presenting the interpersonal competencies. Interviewees suggested a few changes to the structure or presentation of the interpersonal competencies to increase or encourage use, including grouping individual competency items together within the domain, adding more description, and creating a graphic of the interpersonal competencies.

Some interviewees commented that they liked the brevity of the interpersonal competency items and saw an opportunity to further organize the list by grouping similar or related competency items together. This suggestion is similar to how other professions further grouped competencies into subdomains. A couple of interviewees suggested that there could be some natural groupings of competencies that would create a few subcategories under interpersonal competencies. An example provided was that one

potential category could be called "core relationships" under which the competency items of "build relationships" and "use appropriate social skills" could be listed. The reason behind the categorization was to reduce and organize the information presented in a way that is easy for an individual to process and see connections.

While some interviewees appreciated the brevity of the interpersonal competencies, others suggested that providing more description alongside the interpersonal competency items would improve use. A couple of interviewees suggested that the interpersonal competency items include information on the importance of the competency such as how each interpersonal competency enhances the quality of evaluation practice and the implications when these competencies are lacking. One interviewee commented:

I think it would be helpful to present it in a way that shows how this is going to make you do your job better, how this is going to make you better as an evaluator, how this might play out in practice if you don't have these competencies. As real as you can make it, as concrete as it can be made, I think that's helpful because these all are really important things that people really need to be thinking about and, if you can make that "what's in it for me," make that real for people, and make them see that, this really would affect their ability to be an effective evaluator. (Participant 12)

Another interviewee had a similar suggestion and noted that not only would further information improve the quality of evaluations, but also the utility:

I don't know if this is borne out by data, but my observation is that many practitioners are practicing utilization-focused evaluation and would be motivated to care about interpersonal competencies if they saw that they would enhance the quality of their evaluation work or, for those that [sic] are using utilization-focused approaches, that it would enhance the utility of their work. I think in many sectors, not just in evaluation, in many fields interpersonal competencies can kind of be looked at as an afterthought, like the sixth competency area and instead of the first. I worry that without really tying it to the quality of their

evaluation work and the depth of utilization they can get from it, people won't attend to the interpersonal competencies. (Participant 3)

Creating a graphic that visually displays the interpersonal competencies was also suggested as a way to promote use by a couple of interviewees. Interviewees provided general ideas on how the visual representation could be structured, which included showing how the interpersonal competencies relate to each other or how they relate to other evaluator competencies to create a whole evaluator. Another interviewee provided a similar example of a visual that shows the interpersonal role of an evaluator and elaborated:

I think it's got to be more than a list. . . . We've got to disseminate the stuff [interpersonal competencies] in ways so you can print it off. It's got nice colors. It talks about these things. Evaluators can put them up in their offices. I think it's a way to disseminate it. (Participant 9)

## **Developing Supplemental Resources**

Most interviewees suggested developing supplemental resources and tools that would help evaluators, educators, and employers in understanding, developing, and using the interpersonal competencies. Some interviewees suggested developing scenarios that allow individuals or groups to work through an interpersonal situation an evaluator may encounter in the process of conducting an evaluation. When presented with the scenario, an individual would need to identify and apply the appropriate interpersonal competencies for the given situation. Interviewees suggested that this could be done through discussion or acting out their response to the situation. In discussing the benefits of scenarios, one interviewee explained that being competent in the interpersonal

competencies is about situation recognition and applying the competencies to the appropriate situation, noting that this is a continuous cycle of observing and adapting:

People who get recognized as great experts have a capacity to figure out what's going on and adapt what they're doing, and the answers emerge from the situation. Great experts don't go in with a package, they don't have off-the-shelf stuff, they don't have a routine set of things that they do. What they have is some heuristic for understanding the situation. They have some way of making sense of it. (Participant 6)

Due to this, the interviewee pointed out that scenarios are beneficial because you can develop and learn to apply interpersonal competencies by practicing:

There may be situations for particular organizations you know people are going to go into, where you can do some rehearsing of interpersonal skills . . . so if you're evaluating a hugely controversial issue - abortion, immigration, segregation - where you know that these are lightning rod issues, they are going to be politically charged, there are going to be angry people, then there are ways to prepare. You don't want to go into those situations unprepared. . . . There are some ways that folks can figure out how that fits them that they can deal with that. It's not like there's not stuff that you can rehearse and get trained, but on that they're there quite situation-specific. (Participant 6)

Another interviewee also noted the importance of reflection in the process of developing interpersonal competencies and commented that there is value for an individual to reflect on how they addressed the interpersonal scenario and critique their own response or get feedback from others.

Some interviewees built upon the idea of developing scenarios to creating a guide that would assist in the development of interpersonal competencies. Individual learners or educators charged with developing curriculum could use a guidebook. One interviewee pointed out that a guidebook would be useful for cross-referencing training content with the interpersonal competencies and providing information on how to address some of these competencies in a training. Another interviewee suggested creating a guidebook

similar to the *Program Evaluation Standards* developed by The Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (Yarbrough et al., 2010). This book provides an overview, guidelines, common errors, and illustrative examples of each standard. This interviewee went on to suggest that there may be an opportunity to build on the existing book's content to incorporate interpersonal competencies:

The standards book takes each one of the standards and does case examples of the standards in practice and has the different kinds of cases that the standards would apply to, what would you do, how would the standards apply in these different scenarios. I haven't looked at that for years, but it might actually be an interesting cross-fertilization to look at the standards scenarios and see if you could infer particular interpersonal competencies out of the scenarios. . . Look at which ones especially highlight particular kinds of interpersonal competencies and build on that. But that helps keep the interpersonal competencies connected to context, to situations, and to keep them from just being generic. I don't think of myself as generically competent in these things or think of them as generic competencies. I really do think that they're very much situational and contextual, and understanding that and knowing how to figure that out is the entry point into which ones to emphasize and build on. (Participant 6)

Another interviewee noted that a resource similar to the AEA Guiding Principles

Training Package, which consists of a facilitator's guide, PowerPoint presentation, and
case studies, would be helpful to teach or develop interpersonal competencies:

Several years ago, the AEA came out with the *Guiding Principles for Evaluators*, and they had a slide deck and activities that went with it. That was more of a self-study to give an overview to the guiding principles. I think that could be an effective tool kit for students to get an overview during their more academic preparation. So something that's structured kind of like that so they can understand [, for example,] why their professor is asking about a legislative conflict as they are designing an evaluation strategy. So to have something that's an overview that will help provide some context. (Participant 3)

In addition to tools and resources for evaluators and educators, interviewees suggested tools and resources that would help employers make use of the interpersonal competencies when hiring, reviewing performance, and setting professional development

strategies. For the process of hiring an evaluator, a couple of interviewees recommended developing resources employers could use in the process of interviewing candidates for evaluation positions. One idea was to have a list of potential interview questions that would help an employer understand whether the candidate has the interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. Another idea was to develop mock situations that present a problem to the candidate that involves the use interpersonal competencies to solve. The candidate would need to address how they would approach the problem to demonstrate whether they are aware of and can apply the interpersonal competencies needed. A couple of interviewees suggested creating a resource that includes a checklist or tips for hiring an evaluator that could be disseminated to employers of evaluators. One interviewee who suggested this type of resource noted that employers are busy so the resource would need to be short, focusing on the key things they should look for in a potential hire's interpersonal competencies.

To assist employers of evaluators in the supervision and further development of interpersonal competencies, some interviewees also suggested developing resources that would help in reviewing the performance of and providing feedback to evaluation employees and to set professional development goals and strategies. One interviewee commented that these resources would be helpful because sometimes the person supervising an evaluator has no evaluation knowledge and would need support in how to use the interpersonal competencies as a tool to support their supervision and development of the evaluator they supervise.

#### **Awareness of the Interpersonal Competencies**

Although the discussion was focused on how to structure or present the interpersonal competencies, about half of the interviewees also mentioned the need to generate awareness of the interpersonal competencies. It was important to have the competencies structured or presented in ways that would promote use, but interviewees also expressed a need to let potential users know about the interpersonal competencies. Interviewees spoke about different audiences that needed to be aware of the interpersonal competencies required for evaluation practice, including students of evaluation, current evaluators, employers, clients, and other evaluation stakeholders. Across these audiences, interviewees spoke about the need for them to know that there are interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice and that they are an integral part of the practice.

One interviewee commented about how awareness is the first step toward use:

The awareness is a huge, huge aspect. I mean people just being aware that interpersonal competencies are a large part of the work that we do, I think, is a really good first step. And what those things [interpersonal competencies] are from a general standpoint. (Participant 7)

Another interviewee expressed the need to make evaluators care about the interpersonal competencies and a way to do that is through increasing awareness:

Here I am a program evaluator and I don't know about it. I mean it's not that I don't know, I probably don't care. You have to make people care and I think the only way you can make people care is to make sure that it gets into evaluation training programs. (Participant 9).

Some interviewees spoke about how increasing awareness also conveys what is expected of evaluators. As an example, one interviewee commented:

I think this is obvious, I guess, but it [interpersonal competencies] has to be talked about as an important skill and a part of doing evaluation work. Evaluation work

is interpersonal. We [evaluators] do a lot of number crunching, but over half, 60, 70 percent of our work is interpersonal in all kinds of ways... So you have to tell anybody that [sic] wants to be an evaluator that this is going to be a part of your life, and, in the end, you need to be able to deal with a lot of different kinds of people, you need to be a good listener, you need to be a clear communicator, you need to be able to control your emotions in difficult situations. (Participant 10)

### Summary

This chapter presented the results from interviews with experienced evaluators. To summarize, the interpersonal competencies interviewees identified as essential to their evaluation practice included the evaluator is able to: (a) interact ethically, (b) build relationships, (c) use appropriate social skills, (d) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives, (e) address issues of privilege and power dynamics, (f) communicate effectively, (g) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions, (h) resolve conflict, (i) build evaluation capacity, and (j) demonstrate professional credibility. The ways in which experienced evaluators identified developing these competencies were through the practice of evaluation, formal education experiences, professional development opportunities, and life experiences.

When hiring an evaluator, all interviewees stated that interpersonal competencies are an important factor in their decision to hire. The specific competencies they assessed included: (a) build relationships; (b) use appropriate social skills; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) communicate effectively; (e) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (f) collaborate with others; and (g) resolve conflict. Interviewees also identified the interpersonal competencies typically still in need of development for new evaluators, including: (a) build relationships; (b) use appropriate social skills; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) communicate

effectively; (e) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (f) negotiate; (g) address issues of privilege and power dynamics; and (h) demonstrate professional credibility.

To promote use, interviewees provided suggestions on how to the structure of the interpersonal competencies. These included grouping individual competency items together within the domain, adding more description, and creating a graphic of the interpersonal competencies. Interviewees also suggested supplemental resources that would help evaluators, educators, and employers in understanding, developing, and using the interpersonal competencies.

In the next chapter, a discussion of the results from Chapter Four and Chapter Five is presented. In addition, the implication of the findings on the field of evaluation and direction for further research are discussed.

# Chapter Six: Discussion, Implications, and Conclusion

Chapter Six discusses the findings of the study. First, Table 26 presents a brief summary of the findings. The next section discusses the findings from the comparative analysis of interpersonal competencies for evaluators, review of competency structures from other professions, and interviews with experienced evaluators. This section also discusses how the findings contribute to the literature and implications for the evaluation field. The final sections discuss the implications of findings on future research and closes with concluding thoughts.

Table 26

C	C Cin line	1 D	
Summary	of Findings	by Research Ouestion	

Research	Summary of Findings
Question	Summary of I manigs
What interpersonal competencies are essential to the practice of evaluation?	<ul> <li>Fifteen interpersonal competencies were identified, including the evaluator's ability to: (a) interact ethically, (b) build relationships, (c) use appropriate social skills, (d) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives, (e) address issues of privilege and power dynamics, (f) communicate effectively, (g) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions, (h) collaborate with others, (i) negotiate, (j) resolve conflict, (k) be an evaluation champion, (l) build evaluation capacity, (m) create a favorable working climate, (n) demonstrate professional credibility, and (o) demonstrate gender awareness.</li> <li>All interpersonal competency items included in the draft AEAEC were included in competency sets from other professional associations or were identified as being essential interpersonal competencies by interviewees.</li> <li>Five additional interpersonal competency items, not currently</li> </ul>
In what ways have experienced evaluators developed the interpersonal competencies identified as essential to the practice of evaluation?	<ul> <li>Experienced evaluators reported four ways in which they developed their interpersonal competencies for practice: (a) through evaluation practice itself, (b) formal education experiences, (c) professional development opportunities, and (d) life experiences.</li> <li>Individual interpersonal competency item development by experienced evaluators often occurred through a combination of these ways.</li> </ul>

Research	Summary of Findings
Question	
What interpersonal competency development needs exist for new evaluators?	to hire an evaluator, and experienced evaluators reported looking for the following interpersonal competencies in candidates: (a) build relationships; (b) use appropriate social skills; (c) listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives; (d) communicate effectively; (e) facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions; (f) collaborate with others; and (g) resolve conflict.
What are the potential ways to structure or present the interpersonal competencies to promote use?	<ul> <li>Four competency structures emerged from the review:</li> <li>a. Categorized competencies, where competency items were grouped into topical competency domains with no additional organizing within the competency set. This is how the draft AEAEC is currently structured.</li> <li>b. Job function, where competency items were organized by the different job functions an individual could have within the profession.</li> <li>c. Levels of expertise, where competency items were organized around the progressive levels of knowledge, skills, abilities, or dispositions an individual needs to practice competently within professional roles with increasing responsibility.</li> <li>d. The developmental level structure, which organizes competency items by the specific stages individuals are in during their training or education in a profession, such as a practicum, internship, or practice.</li> <li>Experienced evaluators provided additional ways the interpersonal competencies could be structured, including grouping individual competency items together within the domain to assist with processing and seeing connections within the information presented, adding more description to convey the importance of each competency item, and creating a graphic of the interpersonal competencies to show relationships between and among competency items.</li> </ul>

#### **Discussion and Implications of Findings**

#### **Essential Interpersonal Competencies**

Through the development and evolution of the evaluator competencies in the United States context, much effort has gone into determining what interpersonal competencies evaluators need for high quality practice (AEA, 2017; King et al., 2001, Stevahn et al., 2005a; Wilcox, 2012). Adding to this work, this study compared the draft AEAEC interpersonal competencies to 10 other sets of evaluator competencies developed by associations throughout the world to uncover the alignment among the interpersonal competencies identified as essential to evaluation practice. In addition, interviews with experienced evaluators who have extensive experience allowed for the inclusion of indepth practitioner perspectives on their own evaluation practice and the interpersonal competencies that have been essential. The comparative analysis and interviews resulted in the identification of 15 interpersonal competencies essential to the practice of evaluation (Table 26).

Overall, the findings from this study further support the inclusion of the current interpersonal competencies in the draft AEAEC. All of the interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC were also identified through the comparative analysis or interviews. Of the 10 interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC, only one was not included in any other competency sets: "address issues of privilege and power dynamics." Regardless, several interviewees identified it as an essential competency for practice, confirming the importance of its inclusion in the draft AEAEC. Through interviews, two of the interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC were not

identified as essential to practice, including--"collaborate with others" and "negotiate." Although these were not mentioned, no interviewees reported that these competencies did not belong in the draft AEAEC. In addition, both competencies were included in six other sets of evaluator competencies developed by professional associations suggesting there is support for including these competencies in the draft AEAEC.

In addition to finding that the current interpersonal competencies included in the draft AEAEC are appropriate, this study also resulted in less support for including the competencies uncovered that are not currently included in the draft AEAEC. Through the comparative analysis, five additional interpersonal competencies were identified, but their occurrence in the data collected was limited. These additional competencies included: (a) be an evaluation champion (n=1), (b) build evaluation capacity (n=1), (c) create a favorable working climate (n=1), (d) demonstrate professional credibility (n=1), and (e) demonstrate gender awareness (n=2). Interviewees also identified "build evaluation capacity" (n=1) and "demonstrate professional credibility" (n=3) as essential to evaluation practice. For "demonstrating professional credibility," a couple of interviewees noted that it may be an essential competency, but does not fit best within the interpersonal domain and instead might be included elsewhere in the draft AEAEC. Even though these competencies were identified through this study, findings suggest that they may not be a good fit for inclusion in the draft AEAEC based on the low occurrence with which they appeared or were mentioned. The AEA task force could take a further look at these novel competencies if they feel they may bring value to the interpersonal domain.

#### **Ways Interpersonal Competencies Have Been Developed**

Currently, there are no entry requirements for an individual to practice evaluation in the United States. Preparation of evaluators is uncontrolled when compared to other professions that require licensure, certification, or accreditation for entry into the profession (Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006). As a result, there are several ways an individual could prepare for evaluation practice, including professional development workshops, certificate programs, and university degree programs (Engle, Altschuld, & Kim, 2006). Although these opportunities exist, little is known about how they prepare individuals with the interpersonal competencies needed for practice. Research conducted on this topic focuses on evaluation degree programs and examines evaluator competencies broadly by domain (Davies & MacKay, 2014; Dewey et al., 2008; Dillman, 2013; Kaesbauer, 2012). Although these studies resulted in limited findings on interpersonal competencies, they highlight that there are gaps in our knowledge of how evaluators develop interpersonal competencies and suggest that novice evaluators may not be developing them through evaluation degree programs.

This study further explored emerging findings from previous research from the perspective of experienced evaluators and went beyond examining interpersonal competency development through university-based evaluation training programs, exploring other ways in which these competencies could be developed. Instead of focusing on formal evaluation training and the competencies developed through the experiences, this study approached the topic in the opposite direction. First, the interpersonal competencies essential to evaluation practice were discussed and then the

ways in which experienced evaluators developed them. This process allowed interviewees to attribute their development to a variety of modes. As a result, this study further contributed to the knowledge on interpersonal competencies developed through evaluation degree programs, but also showed that evaluators are developing interpersonal competencies in other ways, including through the practice of evaluation, professional development opportunities, and life experiences. Interviewees also identified that the development of the individual interpersonal competencies occurred through a combination of ways, suggesting that when thinking about how individuals develop their interpersonal competencies, attention could be paid to multiple avenues to arrive at competence.

Evaluation practice. All interviewees attributed their development of interpersonal competencies to evaluation practice. Interviewees asserted that for development to occur there is a need to apply competencies in real-world evaluation settings. This finding supports what evaluation scholars have encouraged in the literature: to use practical, hands-on experiences to intentionally teach interpersonal competencies (Alkin & Christie, 2002; Altschuld, 1995; Dillman, 2013; Gredler & Johnson, 2001; Morris, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Preskill, 1992; Trevisan, 2004; Wortman et al., 1980). Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 12 (80%) were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they primarily developed in practice (see Chapter 5, Table 25).

In speaking about development through practice, interviewees expressed that development happened over time through opportunities to learn, practice, and reflect.

Most interviewees spoke about the importance of getting feedback from others, such as supervisors, colleagues, and evaluation stakeholders. Some interviewees also mentioned having a mentor, and a couple recognized reflecting on their practice has supported their development. As a result, interviews pointed to the need for intentionality when developing interpersonal competencies through practice, suggesting that individuals may need to actively identify interpersonal competencies in need of development, seek out opportunities to practice, solicit feedback, and participate in reflective practice.

Formal education experiences. Most interviewees spoke about formal education experiences as a way they developed interpersonal competencies. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 9 (60%) were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they developed through a formal education experience (see Chapter 5, Table 25). Notably, several interviewees identified "effective communication" as an interpersonal competency developed through formal education experiences. Interviewees indicated that they had opportunities to take courses focused specifically on developing communication skills, or, through their coursework, they had many opportunities to develop these skills through team-based assignments, course papers, and presentations. For the remaining interpersonal competencies identified, each was mentioned by only one or two interviewees, indicating there was minimal overlap in interviewee experiences when developing these competencies through formal education experiences.

In addition, when developing these interpersonal competencies through formal education experiences, interviewees explained that the competencies were not explicitly

taught, but were practiced through team-based activities and assignments. Based on interviews, it appears that interpersonal competencies are often not explicitly taught in formal education settings, but rather students may be exposed to opportunities to practice interpersonal skills. It is unknown if these opportunities were intentionally constructed to develop interpersonal competence or if it was happenstance. Either way, interviewees reportedly did not receive training on interpersonal competencies prior to practice. For example, interviewees did not indicate they were taught effective communication strategies before completing team-based assignments.

Overall, findings from this study support what was discovered in previous studies that evaluators do not seem to be developing many of the essential interpersonal competencies in formal degree programs. Despite this, there seem to be opportunities within courses to develop interpersonal competencies through practice, but what is missing is the initial instruction. If interpersonal competencies were intentionally addressed within course curriculum, the opportunities for students to then practice or apply what they have learned may already exist through course activities and assignments. For example, if first given instruction on collaborating with others, students could then apply what they learned when doing a team-based activity. Based on the possibility of existing opportunities to practice and the limited instructional time available to prepare students for practice, intentionally embedding interpersonal competency development into existing courses could be a promising topic to explore further.

Professional development opportunities. Over half of the interviewees also identified professional development opportunities through trainings and self-study as a way they developed their interpersonal competencies. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, 5 (33%) were identified by at least one interviewee as a competency they developed through professional development opportunities (see Chapter 5, Table 25). Since evaluators enter the field in many ways, evaluation-specific professional development opportunities may be a good way for evaluators to address their competency development needs. This study found that few interpersonal competencies were developed through professional development opportunities, and, when they were, the opportunities were not specifically for the practice evaluation. This may point to a need to further explore the professional development opportunities that exist for evaluators to develop interpersonal competencies and who is engaging in these opportunities.

Life experiences. Life experiences were also a way a couple of interviewees reportedly developed interpersonal competencies (see Chapter 5, Table 25). These interviewees acknowledged that general interpersonal competencies could be developed through other life experiences that could then be applied to evaluation practice. Although the field cannot shape the life experiences of evaluators, it is important to acknowledge that individuals may well bring competencies to their practice that they have developed outside of evaluation-specific training and practice.

Looking across the different ways experienced evaluators have developed interpersonal competencies, evaluation practice was the most cited for the number of

competencies developed and for the number of interviewees who experienced development in each specific competency. Based on the experiences of interviewees, it appears that a good amount of development of interpersonal competencies occurs *after* an individual has started to practice evaluation.

Three competencies--"build relationships," "communicate effectively," and "facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions"--were identified as being developed in each of the four ways. In addition, "listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives" and "demonstrate gender awareness" were identified as being developed through practice, formal education, and professional development. For these competencies, there seem to be multiple ways an individual could potentially develop them. For other competencies, practice was the only way interviewees identified that they developed them, including "create a favorable working climate," "resolve conflict," and "collaborate with others." In addition, "use appropriate social skills" and "negotiate" were identified as developed through practice and life experiences. This could suggest that these competencies need more applied, hands-on opportunities to develop.

For two competencies--"demonstrate professional credibility" and "build evaluation capacity"--formal education was the only way interviewees identified developing these. This aligns with how interviewees spoke about these two competencies in relation to conveying their expertise, which they gained through their degree programs.

#### **Interpersonal Competency Development Needs**

The field's understanding of the interpersonal competency development needs of practicing evaluators is limited. Despite the importance of interpersonal competencies

and the issues that arise when these interpersonal competencies are lacking, little research has been completed on whether evaluators possess these competencies. Before this study, only one study had been completed that informed the interpersonal competency development needs of new evaluators. In their effort to understand whether graduate programs with an emphasis in evaluation are adequately preparing the next generation of evaluators, Dewey et al. (2008) found that employers indicated a need for interpersonal skills more than any other competency, but found this skill set to be lacking in entry-level evaluation candidates (Dewey et al., 2008). Because the Dewey et al. (2008) study covered all evaluator competency domains, results did not provide information on the specific interpersonal competencies employers desired or which were specifically lacking in candidates. This study built off these findings by exploring what new evaluators are being assessed on when they enter the field and what interpersonal competencies are typically lacking when new evaluators begin to practice.

Assessing interpersonal competencies for hiring decisions. This study's findings confirm those of Dewey et al. (2008) in that interviewees considered interpersonal competencies important and assessed them in the hiring process. Of the 15 interpersonal competencies for evaluators identified by professional associations, interviews pointed to 7 (47%) that they specifically assess during the hiring process to determine if a candidate is a good fit for an evaluator position (Table 26).

A reason that several interviewees gave for why interpersonal competencies were important to assess centered on how it can be challenging to help an individual develop interpersonal competencies as compared to other evaluation-related skills. As a result, a

candidate's existing interpersonal competencies may weigh more heavily in a hiring decision than other competencies and skills. Since employers judge job candidates on their interpersonal competencies, it is important that new evaluators develop them before entering practice.

Interpersonal competencies lacking. Based on their experiences working with new evaluators, interviewees identified 8 of the 15 (53%) interpersonal competencies as typically still in need of development for new evaluators when they start practicing (Table 26). Despite the identification of interpersonal competencies that needed further development, interviewees felt that individuals could develop all of the interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. This is promising since a lack of the interpersonal competencies essential for evaluation practice can have implications for an evaluation, including being unable to establish stakeholder buy-in and trust, leading to the collection of bad data, and resulting in evaluation findings that are not used.

In addition to speaking about the specific interpersonal competencies that are in need of further development, half of the interviewees spoke about how reading a situation and applying appropriate interpersonal competencies can be a challenge for new evaluators. Most of these interviewees discussed that, for new evaluators, this is the result of the tension between using rigorous research methods when coming out of an academic setting and attending to the interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. This suggests that there may be a need to address more than just the development of individual interpersonal competencies in evaluation training. Individuals may also need

support in developing the ability to identify when to draw on specific interpersonal competencies in a given situation.

When comparing the competencies assessed and in need of development, five interpersonal competencies were identified as both (Table 26). Interviewees chose the competencies they assess because they deemed them important for a new evaluator to have when they start practicing. The fact that there are several competencies assessed that are also typically in need of development is of concern because this indicates that new evaluators may not be ready for practice in terms of their interpersonal competence.

These competencies may need further attention in evaluator training to ensure that new evaluators are getting purposeful opportunities to develop these interpersonal competencies.

Supporting interpersonal competency development. Based on the finding that new evaluators typically need to develop some of their interpersonal competencies as they enter practice, it is important to explore how development could be supported. Once the AEAEC is adopted, AEA should articulate its role in ensuring that there are opportunities for individuals to develop the interpersonal competencies needed for evaluation practice. Based on AEA's commitment "to providing outstanding professional development for evaluators as well as to helping evaluators connect with other professional development opportunities," it may be an appropriate for the association to spearhead this effort (Learning, n.d.). A task force of AEA members could review AEA's current professional development offerings to determine whether the interpersonal competencies are addressed or if there is a need for additional or revised offerings. For

example, AEA has offered sessions through members on "conflict resolution" in the past. This may be an area where opportunities already exist and could be promoted. For other interpersonal competencies, there may not be existing opportunities, and this could be an area to develop further. In conjunction with this work, there could be further exploration into whether members would participate in professional development opportunities, if offered. From this study, interviewees who identified professional development opportunities as a way they developed interpersonal competences only noted that this occurred for a few competencies and that most of the time these opportunities were not evaluation-specific. What is not known is whether this is due to the lack of opportunities or their interest in participating in those opportunities.

## **Structuring Interpersonal Competencies**

The current literature on evaluator competencies does not include how to best structure or present the competencies to promote use. Instead, much effort has been given to the content of the interpersonal competency domain and the benefits of competencies (Ghere et al., 2006; King et al., 2001; Stevahn et al., 2005a; Wilcox, 2012). As the content of the draft AEAEC is getting closer to being finalized, it is a good time to examine competency structures to inform potential next steps the field could take as we move toward use of the competencies.

First, it is important to understand the use of a competency set as that should inform its structure. Overall, other professional associations cited seven uses, including the following: (a) curriculum development, (b) graduate expectations, (c) self-assessment, (d) professional development, (e) recruitment and hiring, (f) supervision and assessment

of employees, and (g) promoting and advocating for the profession. Many of the uses discovered appear to align well with the benefits the field of program evaluation would like to achieve through an established set of evaluator competencies, which include improved training, enhanced reflective practice, advanced research on evaluation, and continued professionalization of the field (Stevahn et al., 2005a).

To realize these benefits, the competencies must be structured in a way that promotes use by intended users. By exploring the structures used by other professions, this study has built a foundation for examining potential ways to structure the draft AEAEC to maximize use through the identification of four different competency structures. The competency structures that emerged included: a) categorized competencies only, (b) job function, (c) levels of expertise, and (d) developmental level.

In examining potential structures for the AEAEC, a first step might be to state who the intended users of the competencies are and what they should use them for to provide further clarity. Then, a structure that best suits these uses should be selected. The structures that were discovered through this study could be used as a starting point for this work. Structure options and considerations include:

- If it is important to tie specific competencies to different roles, duties, or responsibilities an individual could have in the evaluation field, it might make sense to structure the interpersonal competencies by job function.
- If, instead, the field wanted to differentiate and identify the interpersonal competencies an individual should have at different professional roles with increasing responsibility, the levels of expertise structure might be preferable.

Finally, if the field wants to provide direction on what interpersonal competencies
individuals should have during different stages of their evaluation training, it may
be appropriate to structure the interpersonal competencies by developmental
levels.

In determining the best way to present the interpersonal competencies, attention could also be paid to how or whether individual competency items should be grouped together to assist with processing and seeing connections, the level of description provided to ensure it the importance of each item is conveyed, and the formatting to ensure users can clearly understand the content and relationships between competency items. In addition, since the review of competency structures from other professions was conducted looking at the structure of entire competency sets, these structures could also be applied to other domains within the AEAEC or to the entire set.

Supplemental resources. Interviewees provided suggestions on what resources they felt would benefit users of the interpersonal competencies. Although these resources would be supplemental to the draft AEAEC, it is important to note that interviewees identified a need for practical resources that could guide the use of the interpersonal competencies by intended users. Among interviewees, there was concern that only having a document containing the interpersonal competencies would not be enough to foster use. Therefore, resources that support development and use were considered essential supplementary materials to the draft AEAEC. If resources are not developed, the fear was that the competencies would not be used, but instead, forgotten. A role for an AEA task force could be to develop additional resources that would help an individual use the

competencies. Further work could be undertaken to explore and develop the resources that would be most beneficial to the field.

Awareness. In addition to supplementary resources, interviewees expressed that raising awareness that the field has defined interpersonal competencies and that they are an important part of the practice was important. The first step towards use is to make intended users aware of the competencies. As the Task Force works to finalize the draft AEAEC, a next step could be to develop a communication strategy to bring awareness of the competency set to intended users. A communication strategy could focus on the various users identified through the competency structuring process. For example, the users that interviewees identified included evaluation students, current evaluators, employers of evaluators, and evaluation clients. For each user group, the task force could determine the how interpersonal competencies could be communicated to them.

## **Implications for Future Research**

This study examined the interpersonal competencies that are essential to the practice of evaluation. In doing so, the interpersonal competencies considered essential by experienced evaluators were identified, but what remains to be explored is how important each of the interpersonal competencies is to practice. A future study could focus on determining the level of importance of each interpersonal competency for practice, asking: What interpersonal competencies do evaluators consider more important and less important for evaluation practice? To further understand how each of the interpersonal competencies is important to practice, a study could be conducted using the critical incident technique to identify situations where specific interpersonal

competencies make a difference in practice through the observation of evaluators, asking:

How do evaluators use interpersonal competencies in practice? What happens when the

evaluator does not use an interpersonal competency when needed? How did the use or

lack of use of a competency impact the evaluation?

This study also uncovered the interpersonal competencies that may need further development by new evaluators and the ways in which experienced evaluators have developed their interpersonal competencies. Building from this, there are several ways additional research could add to the understanding of how individuals develop interpersonal competencies for evaluation practice and the best ways to support this development. One possibility would be to conduct a study with educators from evaluation degree programs on how to best support students' development in the interpersonal competencies, asking: In what ways can interpersonal competencies be integrated into the evaluation curriculum to support development towards competence? In what ways can interpersonal competencies be intentionally taught within evaluation courses?

A second possibility would be to complete a study following a group of students in an evaluation degree program to better understand where and when they develop interpersonal competencies, asking: What interpersonal competencies do students possess at the beginning, completion, and at intervals after their evaluation degree program? To what extent did they develop specific competencies during their degree program? To what extent did they develop specific competencies in practice after their degree program?

A third possibility would be to develop curriculum intended to address the interpersonal competencies and study the implementation and results, asking: What effects did the curriculum have on students' development of the interpersonal competencies? How do the results differ between students receiving the new curriculum (treatment) and old curriculum (comparison)? A study of this nature could be quasi-experimental following students over time to measure their interpersonal competencies before and after their evaluation training.

In completing further research, attention should also be paid to the interdisciplinary nature of evaluation, acknowledging that there are many pathways into the field. Therefore, within this research there is a need to explore ways to develop interpersonal competencies not only in evaluation degree programs, but also through other sources of evaluation training available to practitioners. The three possible studies presented above could also be completed on informal evaluation training using similar research questions.

Another possible study would be to research existing professional development opportunities to uncover what interpersonal competencies are being taught. Although professional development opportunities have become increasingly popular, little is known about the use of professional development opportunities to develop interpersonal competencies (Christie et al., 2013; Dewey et al., 2008). Questions to guide this research could include: What interpersonal competencies do existing professional development opportunities for evaluators address? What interpersonal competencies are missing from existing professional development opportunities for evaluators?

Finally, the focus of this study was on the interpersonal competency domain of the draft AEAEC. Further research could replicate this study focusing on each of the remaining competency domains. This research would further contribute to confirming the content included in each domain to ensure there are no gaps in the included competencies, identify ways experienced evaluators developed the competencies, illuminate any development needs that exist for new evaluators, and provide insight on the best ways to promote use of the competencies.

#### **Concluding Thoughts**

Due to the exploratory nature of this study, the findings are a starting point to better understanding the interpersonal competency development needs of evaluators. In beginning to explore this topic, I had many questions, including: Are interpersonal competencies considered important? Where do evaluators develop these competencies? Do evaluators know that they have been identified as a competence domain and, if so, do they refer to them in any way in their work? If not, what would get evaluators to use them? The answers I started to arrive at came from the literature, but also from my own experiences.

I quickly learned what I already suspected: interpersonal competencies are critically important for evaluators. Evaluation scholars have emphasized their importance and their importance has been demonstrated through the inclusion as a domain in the draft AEAEC (King & Stevahn, 2012; Kirkhart, 1981; Leviton, 2001; Mertens, 1994; Nadler & Cundiff, 2009; Patton & Patrizi, 2005; Perrin, 2005; Skolits, Morrow, & Burr, 2009; Zorzi, Perrin, McGuire, Long, & Lee, 2002). In my own practice, I have

experienced their importance firsthand. I interact with team members, clients, and evaluation stakeholders daily. I address conflicts and negotiate throughout an evaluation. I need to listen to multiple perspectives and identify issues of privilege. I need to effectively collaborate and facilitate constructive interactions with others throughout the evaluation process. All of this is necessary, along with other evaluator competencies, to ensure the evaluation process and resulting products are of high quality and used.

I also questioned where evaluators developed interpersonal competencies. When I first started to practice evaluation, I had an "ah-ha" moment where I realized my work requires a lot of navigation of interpersonal situations, but I was not exposed to training around the interpersonal competencies in my evaluation degree program. In reviewing the literature, I found some evidence that this might be the case for many evaluators as research conducted suggests that new evaluators may not be developing interpersonal competencies through evaluation degree programs (Davies & MacKay, 2014; Dewey et al., 2008; Dillman, 2013; Kaesbauer, 2012). Most of my interpersonal competency development was on the job through addressing interpersonal issues when they came up. Fortunately, I had colleagues who had strong interpersonal competencies and were able to help me navigate these interpersonal issues.

As for awareness of and using the interpersonal competencies, many of the evaluators I work with seem relatively unaware or unconcerned that there are interpersonal competencies that can be used to guide evaluation practice. Many of my colleagues were not formally trained as evaluators and have had limited exposure to what the evaluation field identifies as important competencies for practice. As a supervisor of

several evaluators, I noticed this can make it difficult for them reflect on their practice and identify areas where further development would be beneficial. From networking with other evaluators, I suspect this may be the same for other evaluation settings, and, as a result, many evaluators may face the same challenges in reflective practice and further development of their interpersonal competencies.

One comment that an interviewee made really resonated with me:

Interpersonal competencies can kind of be looked at as an afterthought, like the sixth competency area, instead of the first. I worry that without really tying it to the quality of their evaluation work and the depth of utilization they can get from it, people won't attend to the interpersonal competencies.

This, too, is my worry, i.e., that interpersonal competencies will always be an afterthought or a "nice to have" when the reality is that they are an important component of what makes a competent evaluator. Based on their importance, it may be worth having further discussions around whether interpersonal competencies should be a gateway skill set required for entrance into practice. With the impending formal adoption of the AEAEC, I am hopeful that there will be further discussion of and interest in the interpersonal competency domain and that the exploration into this topic will continue.

#### References

- Alkin, M. C, & Christie, C. A. (2002). The use of role-play in teaching evaluation.

  American Journal of Evaluation, 23(2), 209-218.
- Altschuld, J. W. (1995). Developing an evaluation program: Challenges in the teaching of evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 18(3), 259-265.
- Altschuld, J. W. (1999a). The case for a voluntary system for credentialing evaluators. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(3), 507-517.
- Altschuld, J. W. (1999b). The certification of evaluators: Highlights from a report submitted to the Board of Directors of the American Evaluation Association. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(3), 481-493.
- Altschuld, J. W. (2005). Certification, credentialing, licensure, competencies, and the like: Issues confronting the field of evaluation. *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 20(2), 157–168.
- Altschuld, J. W., Engle, M., Cullen, C., Kim, I., & Macce, B. R. (1994). The 1994 directory of evaluation training programs. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 62, 71-94.
- American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers [AACRAO].

  (2015). AACRAO core professional competencies. Retrieved from

  http://www.aacrao.org/ docs/default-source/pro\_development/download-here.pdf?sfvrsn=0

- American Camp Association [ACA]. (n.d.). *ACA core competencies*. Retrieved from http://www.acacamps.org/sites/default/files/resource\_library/Core-Competency-Chart.pdf
- American Dental Education Association [ADEA]. (2008). Competencies for the new general dentist. Retrieved from http://www.adea.org/about\_adea/governance/Pages /Competencies-for-the-New-General-Dentist.aspx
- American Evaluation Association [AEA]. (2017). American Evaluation Association

  Evaluator Competencies. Retrieved from http://www.eval.org/p/cm/ld/fid=472
- American Evaluation Association Cultural Competence in Evaluation Task Force.

  (2011). Statement on cultural competence in evaluation. Retrieved from http://www.eval.org/p/cm/ld/fid=92
- American Evaluation Association Member Survey Working Group. (2016). *AEA 2015*member survey results. Retrieved from

  http://www.eval.org/p/do/sd/topic=549&sid=8310
- American Evaluation Association, Task Force on Guiding Principles for Evaluators (1995). Guiding principles for evaluators. *New Directions for Program*Evaluation, 66, 19-16.
- American Library Association [ALA]. (2009). *ALA's core competences of librarianship*. Retrieved from:
  - http://www.ala.org/educationcareers/sites/ala.org.educationcareers/files/content/careers/corecomp/corecompetences/finalcorecompstat09.pdf

- American Music Therapy Association [AMTA]. (2013). *American music therapy*association professional competencies. Retrieved from

  http://www.musictherapy.org/about/ competencies/
- American Psychological Association [APA]. (2011). Competency benchmarks in professional psychology. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/ed/graduate/benchmarks-evaluation-system.aspx
- American School Counselor Association [ASCA]. (n.d.). ASCA school counselor competencies. Retrieved from
  - https://www.schoolcounselor.org/asca/media/asca/home/ SCCompetencies.pdf
- Aotearoa New Zealand Evaluation Association [anzea]. (2011). *Evaluator competencies*.

  Retrieved from http://www.anzea.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/

  110801\_anzea\_evaluator\_competencies\_final.pdf
- ACPA-College Student Educators International and NASPA-Student Affairs

  Administrators in Higher Education [ACPA NASPA]. (2015). *Professional competency areas for student affairs educators*. Retrieved from https://www.naspa.org/images/uploads/main/

  ACPA\_NASPA\_Professional\_Competencies\_FINAL.pdf
- Association for Child and Youth Care Practice [ACYCP]. (2010). Competencies for professional child & youth work practitioners. Retrieved from: http://www.cycnet.org/pdf/
  - 2010\_Competencies\_for\_Professional\_CYW\_Practitioners%20(1).pdf

- Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges [AANMC]. (2007).
  - Professional competency profile. Retrieved from
  - http://www.naturopathic.org/Files/
  - About\_Naturopathic\_Medicine/AANMC%20Competency%20Profile%203-31-08.pdf
- Association of Accredited Naturopathic Medical Colleges [AANMC]. (2014). AANMC

  professional competencies of the graduating naturopathic physicians. Retrieved from https://aanmc.org/wp
  content/uploads/2016/04/11CCACO\_Competency\_Doc\_

  ADOPTED\_and\_FINAL\_11\_4\_14.pdf
- Association of Fraternity/Sorority Advisors. (n.d.). *Core competencies*. Retrieved from http://www.afa1976.org/?page=CoreCompetencies
- Australasian Evaluation Society [AES]. (2013). Evaluators' professional learning competency framework. Retrieved from https://www.aes.asn.au/images/stories/files/
  - Professional%20Learning/AES\_Evaluators\_Competency\_Framework.pdf
- Barker, C., Pistrang, N., & Elliot, R. (2002). Research methods in clinical psychology: An introduction for students and practitioners (2nd ed.). England: Wiley.
- Buchanan, H. (2015). A made-in-Canada credential: Developing and evaluation professional designation. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 29(3), 33-53.
- Buchanan, H., & Kuji-Shikatani, K. (2014). Evaluator competencies: The Canadian experience. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 28(3), 29-47.

- Canadian Evaluation Society [CES]. (1999). *Essential skills series in evaluation*.

  Retrieved from https://evaluationcanada.ca/essential-skills-series-evaluation
- Canadian Evaluation Society [CES]. (2010). Competencies for Canadian evaluation practice. Retrieved from http://www.evaluationcanada.ca/txt/2\_competencies\_cdn\_evaluation\_practice.pdf
- Canadian Evaluation Society [CES]. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://evaluationcanadaca/candidates
- Christie, C. A. (2003). What guides evaluation? A study of how evaluation practice maps onto evaluation theory. *New Directions for Evaluation*, *97*, 7-36.
- Christie, N. V. (2012). An interpersonal skills learning taxonomy for program evaluation instructors. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 18(4), 739-756.
- Christie, C. A., Quinones, P., & Fierro, L. (2013). Informing the discussion on evaluator training: A look at evaluators' course taking and professional practice. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 35(2), 274-290.
- Conner, R. F. (1986). The teaching of evaluation in interdisciplinary programs: UC Irvine. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 29, 61-69.
- Cooksy, L. J., & Mark, M. M. (2012). Influences on evaluation quality. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 33(1), 79-87.
- Coryn, C. L., Ozeki, S., Wilson, L. N., Greenman, G. D., Schröter, D. C., Hobson, K. A.,
  ... Vo, A. T. (2015). Does research on evaluation matter? Findings from a survey
  of American Evaluation Association members and prominent evaluation theorists
  and scholars. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 1-15.

- Council of Counseling Psychology Training Programs [CCPTP]. (2013). *Counseling*psychology core competencies. Retrieved from http://www.ccptp.org/assets/docs/
  copsy%20competencies%20final2.pdf
- Council on Social Work Education [CSWE]. (2015). 2015 Educational policy and accreditation standards for baccalaureate and master's social work programs.

  Retrieved from http://www.cswe.org/File.aspx?id=81660
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into Practice*, *39*(3), 124-130.
- Davies, R., & MacKay, K. (2014). Evaluator training content and topic valuation in university evaluation courses. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 35(3), 419-429.
- Deutsche Gesellschaft für Evaluation [DeGEval]. (2015). Recommendations on education and training in evaluation: Requirement profiles for evaluators. Retrieved from http://www.degeval.de/publikationen/requirement-profiles-for-evaluators/
- Dewey, J. D., Montrosse, B. E., Schroter, D. C., Sullins, C. D., & Mattox, J. R. (2008). Evaluator competencies: What's taught versus what's sought. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 29, 268–287.
- Dillman, L. M. (2013). Evaluator skill acquisition: Linking educational experiences to competencies. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *34*(2), 270-285.
- Dolmans, D., & Schmidt, H. (1996). The advantages of problem-based curricula.

  \*Postgrad Medical Journal, 72, 535-538.

- Eastmond, J. N., Saunders, W., & Merrell, D. (1989). Teaching evaluation through paid contractual arrangements. *Evaluation Practice*, *10*(2), 58-62.
- Elo, S. & Kyngas, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107-115.
- Engle, M., Altschuld, J. W., & Kim, Y. C. (2006). 2002 Survey of evaluation preparation programs in universities: An update of the 1992 American Evaluation Association sponsored study. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(3), 353-359.
- European Evaluation Society [EES]. (2011). *The EES evaluation capabilities framework*.

  Retrieved from http://www.europeanevaluation.org/sites/default/files/ees-leaflet-FINAL.pdf
- Fitzpatrick, J. (1994). Alternative models for the structuring of professional preparation programs. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 62, 41–50.
- Fitzpatrick, J., Worthen, B., & Sanders, J. (2004). *Program evaluation: Alternative* approaches and practical guidelines (3rd ed.). Boston: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- Galport, N. & Azzam, T. (2016). Evaluator training needs and competencies: A gap analysis. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 38(1), 80-100.
- Garcia, G. L. (2016). *Understanding and defining situational awareness and*interpersonal competence as essential evaluator competencies (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- Ghere, G., King, J. A., Stevahn, L., & Minnema, J. (2006). A professional development unit for reflecting on program evaluator competencies. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(1), 108-123.

- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1968). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research.* London: Aldine Transaction.
- Gredler, M. E., & Johnson, R. L. (2001). Lessons learned from the directed evaluation experience. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 22(1), 97-104.
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2004). Problem-based learning: What and how do students learn? *Educational Psychology Review*, 16(3), 235-266.
- Hoepfl, M. C. (1997). Choosing qualitative research: A primer for technology education researchers. *Journal of Technology Education*, *9*(1), 47-63.
- Hurley, C., Renger, R., & Brunk, B. (2005). Learning from a challenging fieldwork evaluation experience: Perspectives of a student and an instructor. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 26(4), 562-578.
- International Development Evaluation Association [IDEAS]. (2012). Competencies for development evaluation, evaluators, managers, and commissioners. Retrieved from https://drive.google.com/file/d/0BzggS7JkIKT6em0yYTFxU3oydTg/view
- Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (1994). *The program* evaluation standards (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Jones, S. C., & Worthen, B. R. (1999). AEA members' opinions concerning evaluator certification. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(3), 495-50.
- Kaesbauer, S. A. M. (2012). Teaching evaluator competencies: An examination of doctoral programs (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from University of Tennessee.

- Kaslow, N. J., Grus, C. L., Campbell, L. F., Fouad, N. A., Hatcher, R. L., & Rodolfa, E.
   R. (2009). Competency assessment toolkit for professional psychology. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 3(4S), S27-S45.
- Kelley, J. M., & Jones, B. J. (1992). Teaching evaluation by doing it: A multiple-utility approach. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 15(1), 55–59.
- King, J. A., & Stevahn, L. A. (2013). *Interactive evaluation practice: Mastering the interpersonal dynamics of program evaluation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- King, J. A., Stevahn, L., Ghere, G., & Minnema, J. (2001). Toward a taxonomy of essential evaluator competencies. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 22(2), 229-247.
- Kirkhart, K. (1981). Defining evaluator competencies: New light on an old issue. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 2(2), 188-192.
- LaVelle, J. M., & Donaldson, S. I. (2010). University-based evaluation training programs in the United States 1980-2008: An empirical examination. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 31(1), 9-23.
- Learning. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://www.eval.org/p/cm/ld/fid=99
- Lee, J., Wallace, T. L., & Alkin, M. (2007). Using problem-based learning to train evaluators. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 28(4), 536-545.
- Levin-Rozalis, M., & Rosenstein, B. (2003). A mentoring approach to the one-year evaluation course. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 24(2), 245–259
- Leviton, L. C. (2001). Building evaluation's collective capacity. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 22, 1–12.

- Leviton, L. C., Collins, C. B., Laird, B. L., & Kratt, P. P. (1998). Teaching evaluation using evaluability assessment. *Evaluation*, *4*(4), 389–409.
- Lewis, L. H., & Williams, C. J. (1994). Experiential learning: Past and present. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 62, 5-16.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Maicher, B., & Frank, C. (2015). The development and initial validation of competencies and descriptors for Canadian evaluation practice. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 29(3), 54-69.
- May, R. M., Fleischer, M., Scheirer, C. J., & Cox, G. B. (1986). Directory of evaluation training programs. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 29, 71-98.
- Mayring, P. (2014). Qualitative content analysis: Theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution. Retrieved from http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395173
- McGuire, M., & Zorzi, R. (2005). Evaluator competencies and performance development. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 20(2), 73.
- McKillip, J. (1986). Applied research consultants (ARC): The consulting firm as a model for applied research training. *Evaluation Practice*, 7(4), 37-40.
- Medical Library Association [MLA]. (n.d.). *MLA's competencies for lifelong learning* and professional success. Retrieved from http://www.mlanet.org/p/cm/ld/fid=39
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Mertens, D. M. (1994). Training evaluators: Unique skills and knowledge. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 62, 17-27.
- Morris, M. (1992). Field experiences in evaluation courses: Increasing their value to students and sponsors. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *15*(1), 61-66.
- Morris, M. (1994). The role of single evaluation courses in evaluation training. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 62, 51-59.
- Morris, M. (2011). The good, the bad, and the evaluator: 25 years of AJE ethics. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 32(1), 134-151.
- Moxley, D. P., & Visingardi, R. J. (1989). Teaching evaluation through the practicum experience. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 10, 54-58.
- Nadler, J. T., & Cundiff, N. L. (2009). Applied research consultants (ARC): A vertical practicum model of training applied research. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 30(4), 592-602.
- National Alliance for Direct Support Professionals [NADSP]. (n.d.). *NADSP competency areas*. Retrieved from:
  - $https://www.nadsp.org/images/NADSP\_Competency\_Areas.pdf$
- National Association for College Admission Counseling [NACAC]. (2000). *Counselor competencies*. Retrieved from
  - http://www.nacacnet.org/about/governance/policies/documents/counselorcompetencies.pdf

- National Association of Chronic Disease Directors [NACDD]. (n.d.). *Competencies for chronic disease practice*. Retrieved from http://www.chronicdisease.org/?page=DomainsCompetencies
- National Association of Colleges and Employers [NACE]. (2013). NACE's professional competencies for college and university career services practitioners. Retrieved from http://www.naceweb.org/career-services/professional-competencies.aspx
- National Coalition for Health Professional Education in Genetics [NCHPEG]. (2007).

  \*Core competencies in genetics for health professionals. Retrieved from http://www.nchpeg.org/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=237
- National Association for the Education of Young Children [NAEYC]. (2015).

  \*\*NAEYC standards for initial and advanced early childhood professional preparation programs. Retrieved from https://www.naeyc.org/caep/standards
- NIRSA: Leaders in Collegiate Recreation [NIRSA]. (2009). *Professional competencies*for leaders in collegiate recreation. Retrieved from http://nirsa.net/nirsa/wpcontent/uploads/Core\_Competencies-Levels\_Framework.pdf
- Patton, M. Q. (1987). How to use qualitative methods in evaluation. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). The challenge of being a profession. *Evaluation Practice*, 11(1), 45-51.
- Patton, M. Q. (1997). *Utilization-focused evaluation* (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Patton, M. Q. (2008). *Utilization-focused evaluation* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Patton, M. Q., & Patrizi, P. (2005). Case teaching and evaluation. *New Directions for Evaluation*, 2005(105), 5-14.
- Paulhus, D. L., & Vazire, S. (2007). The self-report method. In R. W. Robins, R. C. Fraley, & R. F. Krueger (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in personality psychology* (pp. 224-239). New York: Guilford.
- Peacock, J. R. (2001). Program evaluation: Meeting the applied research educational needs of master's level students in gerontology. *Educational Gerontology*, 27, 583–596.
- Perrin, B. (2005). How can information about the competencies required for evaluation be useful? *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 20(2), 169-188.
- Physician Assistant Education Association [PAEA]. (2012). Competencies for the physician assistant profession. Retrieved from http://www2.paeaonline.org/index.php?ht=a/ GetDocumentAction/i/161748
- Preskill, H. (1992). Students, client, and teacher: Observations from a practicum in evaluation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *13*(1), 39-46.
- Qualitative Research Consultants Association [QRCA]. (2003). *Professional*competencies for qualitative research professionals. Retrieved from

  http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/ www.qrca.org/resource/resmgr/Docs/Prof-comp.pdf
- Reference and User Services Association [RUSA]. (2003). *Professional competencies for reference and user services librarians*. Retrieved from http://www.ala.org/rusa/resources/ guidelines/professional

- Savery, J. R., & Duffy, T. M. (2001). Problem based learning: An instructional model and its constructivist framework (CRLT Technical Report No. 16-01).

  Bloomington, IN: Center for Research on Learning and Technology.
- Savery, J. R. (2006). Overview of problem-based learning: Definitions and distinctions.

  Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-based Learning, 1(1), 9-20.
- Scriven, M. (1996). Types of evaluation and types of evaluator. *Evaluation Practice*, 17(2), 151-161.
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75.
- Skolits, G. J., Morrow, J. A., & Burr, E. M. (2009). Re-conceptualizing evaluator roles.

  American Journal of Evaluation, 30(3), 275-295.
- Skolits, G. J., Woodward, T., Morrow, J., & Kaesbauer, S. (2012). Focusing, situating, and grounding micro-level evaluation field experiences: An instructional tool.

  American Journal of Evaluation, 33(1), 124-136.
- Smith, M. F. (1999). Should AEA begin a process for restricting membership in the profession of evaluation? *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(3), 521–531.
- Society for Human Resource Management [SHRM]. (2014). *The SHRM body of competency and knowledge*. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org/Documents/SHRM-BoCK-FINAL.pdf
- Special Libraries Association [SLA]. (2016). Competencies for information professionals. Retrieved from https://www.sla.org/about-sla/competencies/

- Stevahn, L., King, J. A., Ghere, G., & Minnema, J. (2005a). Establishing essential competencies for program evaluators. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 26(1), 43-59.
- Stevahn, L., King, J. A., Ghere, G., Minnema, J. (2005b). Evaluator competencies in university-based evaluation training programs. *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 20(2), 101–123.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Stufflebeam, D. L. (2001). Interdisciplinary Ph. D. programming in evaluation. *The American Journal of Evaluation*, 22(3), 445-455.
- Swiss Evaluation Society [SEVAL]. (2014). Evaluation managers competencies framework: Tasks, challenges and competencies. Retrieved from http://www.seval.ch/documents/ Competences/ Brochure\_SEVAL-Kompetenzen%20Evaluationsmanag-e\_final.pdf
- Taut, S. M., & Alkin, M. C. (2003). Program staff perceptions of barriers to evaluation implementation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 24(2), 213-226.
- Trevisan, M. (2002). Enhancing practical evaluation through long-term evaluation projects. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 23(1), 81-92.
- Trevisan, M. S. (2004). Practical training in evaluation: A review of the literature. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 25(2), 255-272.

- United Kingdom Evaluation Society [UKES]. (2012). *UKES evaluation capabilities*framework. Retrieved from https://www.evaluation.org.uk/images/ukesdocs

  /UKES\_Evaluation\_Capabilities\_Framework\_January\_2013.pdf
- United Nations Evaluation Group (2007). *Core competencies for evaluator of the UN system*. Retrieved from http://www.uneval.org/document/detail/81
- United Nations Evaluation Group (2015). Final report to the UNEG working group on professionalization of evaluation. New York: UNEG.
- United Nations Evaluation Group [UNEG]. (2016). Evaluation competency framework.

  New York: UNEG. Retrieved from www.unevaluation.org/2016-EvaluationCompetency-Framework
- Visitor Studies Association [VSA]. (2008). Evaluator competencies for professional development. Retrieved from https://visa.memberclicks.net/assets/docs/historical/eval\_comp/evaluator-competencies.pdf
- Yarbrough, D. B., Shulha, L. M., Hopson, R. K., & Caruthers, F. A. (2010). *The program evaluation standards: A guide for evaluation users* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Weeks, E. C. (1982). The value of experiential approaches to evaluation training. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 5, 21-30.
- Wilcox, Y. (2012). An initial study to develop instruments and validate the Essential Competencies for Program Evaluators (ECPE). (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN.

- Willer, B. S., Bartlett, D. P., & Northman, J. E. (1978). Simulation as a method for teaching program evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 1(3), 221-228.
- Worthen, B. R. (1999). Critical challenges confronting certification of evaluators. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 20(3), 533–555.
- Wortman, P. M., Cordray, D. S., & Reis, J. (1980). Training for evaluation research:

  Some issues. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 8, 19-37.
- Zorzi, R., McGuire, M., & Perrin, B. (2002, October). Canadian Evaluation Society project in support of advocacy and professional development: Evaluation benefits, outputs, and knowledge elements. Retrieved from http://consultation.evaluationcanada.ca/pdf/ ZorziCESReport.pdf
- Zorzi, R., Perrin, B., McGuire, M., Long, B., & Lee, L. (2002). Defining the benefits, outputs, and knowledge elements of program evaluation. *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, *17*(3), 143-150.

## Appendix A – Verbal Consent Form

#### **VERBAL CONSENT FORM**

The Development and Use of Interpersonal Competencies by Evaluators

You are invited to be in a research study of the development and use of interpersonal competencies by evaluators. You were selected as a possible participant because you have been identified as an experienced evaluator who is currently practicing evaluation and has been working in the field for at least 10 years, which will allow you to draw on your experiences using interpersonal competencies in your evaluation practice. I ask that you read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to be in the study.

## **Background Information**

This study is part of a Doctoral thesis project. The purpose of this study is to explore the interpersonal competencies evaluators use in their evaluation practice, how you developed these competencies, and the ways in which new evaluators could develop these competencies.

**Procedures:** If you agree to be in this study, I would ask you to participate in a one-hour in-person interview. If you agree, the interview will be audio recorded. Recordings will be transcribed for analysis purposes only and will be destroyed at the conclusion of this study.

## Risks and Benefits of being in the Study

There are no known risks associated with being in the study.

I do not expect you to personally benefit from this research. However, participation in the study will provide an opportunity to reflect on your experiences developing and using interpersonal competencies and, thus, contribute to important knowledge to the field of evaluation.

**Compensation:** No compensation will be provided for participating in the survey.

**Confidentiality:** The records of this study will be kept private. In any sort of report I might publish, I will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely and only the researcher will have access to the records. If you agree, I would like to audio record the interview. Recordings will be

transcribed for analysis purposes and only I will have access to the recordings and transcriptions.

**Voluntary Nature of the Study:** Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with the University of Minnesota. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting the relationships.

**Contacts and Questions:** The researcher conducting this study is: Stacy Johnson. You may ask any questions you have now or during the interview. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her at 651-206-2953, joh04296@umn.edu. You may also contact her doctoral advisor, Jean King, at kingx004@umn.edu or 612-626-1614.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher(s), **you are encouraged** to contact the Research Subjects' Advocate Line, D528 Mayo, 420 Delaware St. Southeast, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55455; (612) 625-1650.

If you agree to participate in this study, you will be asked to verbally consent before the interview begins by stating the following: I consent to participate in this study and agree to the audio recording of the interview.

# **Appendix B – Interview Protocol**

Thank you for taking the time to participate in an interview with me today. As you know, I am conducting this interview as part of a research project for my dissertation at the University of Minnesota.

The purpose of this interview is to gain a better understanding of the interpersonal competencies that you use in practice and how you developed those competencies, where you see new evaluators needing development in their interpersonal competencies, and the ways in which interpersonal competencies could be structured to promote their use.

Before we begin the interview, I would like to reiterate that this interview is voluntary and you can skip any question you do not want to answer or end the interview at any time. Also, I would like to audio record the interview to accurately capture your responses. The interview recording will be transcribed for analysis purposes and after the audio recording will be deleted. In reporting, all identifiable information will be removed.

Before we start, do you have any questions about the study or interview? Now, I will start recording. Please verbally consent to participating in this study by stating: I consent to participate in this study and agree to the audio recording of the interview.

First, I would like to talk a little bit about your practice of evaluation to help me better understand you as an evaluator.

1. Describe a recent evaluation you conducted.

#### [Probes:]

- What methodological approaches and data collection methods did you use?
- Who did you work with?
- How did you interact with evaluation stakeholders (such as clients, participants)?
- 2. Describe another recent evaluation you have conducted using a different approach or methods.

#### [Probes:]

- What methodological approaches and data collection methods did you use?
- Who did you work with?
- How did you interact with evaluation stakeholders (such as clients, participants)?
- 3. As you know, the topic of my research is on the interpersonal competencies that evaluators need and use. How do you define interpersonal competencies?

The draft American Evaluation Association competencies defines interpersonal competencies as the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness. We will use this definition in our discussion today.

4. Can you describe a time when interpersonal skills affected an evaluation you conducted in either a positive or negative way?

# [Probes:]

- How was the evaluation affected?
- What, if anything, did you do to address the situation?

Now, I would like to talk about the interpersonal competencies that you use in your evaluation practice. I'm going to ask you to think of as many interpersonal competencies as you can.

- 5. What interpersonal competencies are essential to your practice of evaluation?
- 6. Using the interpersonal competencies you just listed, I would like to talk about why each one is essential for practice. What makes this [insert interpersonal competency] essential for practice? [Repeat item 6 until they have no additional interpersonal competencies].

## [Probes:]

- How do you use this interpersonal competency in your evaluation practice?
- What are the implications when an evaluator does not have this competency?

Next, I want to show you a list of interpersonal competency themes that are included in evaluator competency sets that have been developed by several professional associations. [Give interviewee a copy of handout with the competencies they just mentioned added and give them time to read.]

7. Looking at this list of interpersonal competencies, including the one's you added, which three do you feel are the most important?

#### [Probes:]

- What makes each of these interpersonal competencies important for practice?
- 8. What interpersonal competencies on this list do you feel should not be included in a set of evaluator competencies?

#### [Probes:]

• What are your reasons for not including these competencies?

My next set of questions is about how you developed the interpersonal competencies you use in your evaluation practice. [Keep handout out for reference].

9. Let's start with [*insert interpersonal competency*]. What are some ways in which you developed this competency for evaluation practice?

## [Probes:]

- What formal or informal training, if any, did you experience that addressed the development of interpersonal competencies?
- Are there other competencies on this list that you developed in a similar way?

[Repeat item 7 until all interpersonal competencies are addressed from the list and those added through item 4].

- 10. From the list of interpersonal competencies, which ones do you recall feeling most prepared in when starting to practice evaluation?
- 11. Which interpersonal competencies did you feel least prepared in when starting to practice evaluation?

Now, I would like to discuss where you see new evaluators needing development in their interpersonal competencies. [Keep handout out.]

12. From your experience working with new evaluators, what interpersonal competencies are typically still in need of development when they start practicing evaluation?

### [Probes:]

- What effect does this have on their practice of evaluation?
- What effect does this have on the quality of their evaluation studies?
- 13. Which interpersonal competencies, if any, do you feel an individual cannot purposefully develop?

#### [Probes:]

- What is the reason these competencies cannot be developed?
- 14. Imagine that you are looking to hire an evaluator. To what extent would you consider their interpersonal competencies to determine if you would hire them or not?

### [Prompts:]

- If you would consider their interpersonal competencies when hiring, how would you assess this (e.g., interview, resume)?
- What specific interpersonal competencies would you look for? How would you know applicants had these?

The last set of questions I have are about the ways in which the AEA interpersonal competencies could be structured, or presented, to promote use.

15. What ideas do you have for presenting the interpersonal competencies in a way that would be useful to users? This could include things such as the level of detail, organization, categorization, practice examples, further explanation, description of how it would look in practice, and so on.

# [Prompts:]

- How could presenting interpersonal competencies in this way be useful to evaluators? Educators? Employers? Students?
- What would be some challenges in presenting the interpersonal competencies in this way to evaluators? Educators? Employers? Students? Well you might do it differently for each group.
- 16. Is there anything else you would like to share about the topics we discussed today?

Thank you for your time!

#### **Handout Content**

Definition: Interpersonal competencies are the human relations and social interactions that ground evaluator effectiveness.

The evaluator is able to:

- 1. Interact ethically
- 2. Build relationships
- 3. Use appropriate social skills
- 4. Listen to understand and engage diverse perspectives
- 5. Addresses issues of privilege and power dynamics
- 6. Communicate effectively
- 7. Facilitate constructive and culturally responsive interactions
- 8. Collaborate with others
- 9. Negotiate
- 10. Resolve conflict

- 11. Be an evaluation champion12. Build evaluation capacity13. Create a favorable working climate14. Demonstrate professional credibility15. Demonstrate gender awareness

# Appendix C – IRB Determination Correspondence

#### University of Minnesota

Twin Cities Campus

Human Research Protection Program Office of the Vice President for Research

D528 Mayo Memorial Building 420 Delaware Street S.E. MMC 820 Minneapolis, MN 55455 Phone: 612-626-5654 Fax: 612-626-6661 Email: irib[amm.edu.htm].

#### NOT HUMAN RESEARCH

May 9, 2017

Jean King

612-626-1614 kingx004@umn.edu

Dear Jean King:

On 5/9/2017, the IRB reviewed the following submission:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title of Study:	The Development and Use of Interpersonal
_	Competencies by Evaluators
Investigator:	Jean King
IRB ID:	STUDY00000367
Funding:	None
Grant ID:	None
IND, IDE, or HDE:	None
Documents Reviewed:	Recruitment email language, Category: Recruitment
	Materials;
	Verbal Consent Form, Category: Consent Form;
	Interview Protocol, Category: Other;
	HRP-503 Human Research Determination Form,
	Category: IRB Protocol;
	" '

The IRB determined that the proposed activity is not research involving human subjects. IRB review and approval is not required.

The IRB determined your planned activities described in this application do not meet the regulatory definition of research with human subjects and do not fall under the IRB's purview for the following reason:

Interviews focus on process not the individual participants themselves personally.

## Driven to Discover™

This determination applies only to the activities described in the IRB submission and does not apply should any changes be made. If changes are being considered and there are questions about whether IRB review is needed, please submit a study modification to the IRB for a determination. You can create a modification by clicking **Create Modification / CR** within the study.

Sincerely,

Jeffery Perkey, CIP, MLS IRB Analyst